CHRONIC MORPHINE TREATMENT INDUCES HETEROLOGOUS ALTERATIONS IN ACUTE KINASE-DEPENDENT DESENSITIZATION

By:

Emily R. Leff

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Neuroscience Graduate Program

Vollum Institute

Oregon Health and Science University

School of Medicine

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

July 23, 2020

School of Medicine

Oregon Health and Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Ph.D. dissertation of

Emily R. Leff

has been approved

John T. Williams, Ph.D., Advisor

Susan Ingram, Ph.D., Chair

Laurence Trussell, Ph.D.

Eric Schnell, M.D./Ph.D.

Braden Lobingier, Ph.D.

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations:i	
Acknowledgements:	iv
Abstract:	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
The Opioid Crisis and Tolerance	1
The μ-Opioid Receptor	
Measuring Tolerance	
Phosphorylation, Acute Desensitization, and Tolerance C-terminal Phosphorylation Sites Phosphorylation by GRKs Phosphorylation by PKC Phosphorylation by JNK Phosphorylation by Other Kinases	
Acute Desensitization, Internalization, and Tolerance	
Heterologous Effects	
Summary	
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	
Animals:	
Microinjections:	
Chronic Morphine Treatment:	
Pharmacology:	
<i>Electrophysiology:</i> Tissue Preparation: Whole-cell Recording: Drug Perfusions and Incubations:	29 29 29 30
Measuring Desensitization and Cellular Tolerance: MOR Desensitization and Tolerance: SSTR Desensitization:	30 30 30 33
Concentration-response Curves:	
Internalization and Imaging:	
Data Computation and Analysis:	

Chapter 3: Separation of Acute Desensitization and Long-term Tolerance of μ-Opioid Receptors is Determined by the Degree of C-terminal Phosphorylation		
Chapter 4: Chronic Treatment with Morphine Disrupts Acute Kinase- Dependent Desensitization of GPCRs	62	
Chapter 5: Additional Experiments	97	
Naïve Animals	97	
Morphine Treated Animals	99	
Chapter 6: Discussion	102	
Phosphorylation, Acute Desensitization, and Tolerance Kinase Regulation of Acute Desensitization Kinase Regulation of Cellular Tolerance Involvement of Phosphorylation Sites in Acute Desensitization and Tolerance Conclusions and Future Directions	102 102 105 111 114	
Acute Desensitization, Internalization, and Tolerance Conclusions and Future Directions	<i>117</i> 119	
Heterologous Effects Conclusions and Future Directions	<i>120</i> 121	
Conclusion	122	
References	124	

List of Abbreviations:

AAV	adeno-associated virus	JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
ACSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid	KO	knock out
ANOVA	analysis of variance	KOR	к-opioid receptor
BAPTA	1,2-Bis(2-	LC	locus coeruleus
	aminophenoxy)ethane- N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid	ME	[Met ⁵]enkephalin
βCNA	β -chlornaltrexamine	MOR	µ-opioid receptor
CMP101	compound 101	MTA	morphine treated animal
DOR	∂-opioid receptor	NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartic acid
exWT	expressed wild type	DKC	receptor
GIRK	G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channel	SST	somatostatin
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor	SSTR	somatostatin receptor
GRK	G protein-coupled receptor	TPD	total phosphorylation-deficient
СТР	kinase WT		wild type
UIĽ	guanosine 5 -tripnosphate		

Acknowledgements:

First, I would like to thank my mentor, John Williams, for his invaluable guidance and support. This work would not have been possible without him. He answered countless questions and taught me how to be rigorous and thoughtful in my research in order to design and conduct clear experiments. He has also shown me how to be successful while still enjoying the work.

I would also like to thank the other members of the Williams lab and those who have come through the lab for their unrelenting support. Everyone in the lab has helped me so much, from helping me learn to patch, to helping fix my rig when I have no idea what is wrong with it, to helping conduct experiments, to hashing out results and ideas, to providing moral support through the struggles of research, to grabbing a Mirror Pond down at Deschutes. I am truly so grateful. Thank you Alec Condon, Sweta Adhikary, Omar Koita, Seksiri Arttamangkul, Joe Lebowitz, Jim Bunzow, Will Birdsong, Brooks Robinson, Stephanie Gantz, Maria, Kim Engeln, and Makayla Freitas.

I also want to thank my committee members, Susan Ingram, Eric Schnell, Larry Trussell, and Braden Lobingier for their technical and academic guidance in DAC meetings and beyond.

I would also like to thank the Neuroscience Graduate Program and specifically Kelly Monk, Jessica Parks, and Gary Westbrook for their continuous and unwavering support. Furthermore, I would like to thank the ARCS Portland Chapter and my donors Becky and Patti Warner for their financial support that has provided comfort in focusing on my studies.

Thank you so much to my friends and classmates for their support and for all of the fun times we shared. An incredible thank you to my boyfriend Will Hendricks for his unconditional and undying encouragement and support, I am so lucky to have you. Last but certainly not least, I would like to thank my family. Thank you to my parents, my sister, and Lisa. I want to thank them for supporting me in everything I do, for providing much needed moral support, and for helping me reach my goals. I am truly grateful and would not be here without them.

Abstract:

Opioids such as morphine are still the most effective analgesics for many types of pain. However, clinical utility of opioids is limited because long-term use leads to analgesic tolerance, such that higher concentrations of opioids are needed to achieve the same analgesic effect. This is problematic since tolerance to the life-threatening respiratory depressive effects of opioids develops slower than to the analgesic effects of opioids. Thus, opioid tolerance increases risk for overdose and death. An enormous amount of work has therefore been devoted to understanding opioid tolerance. The mu-opioid receptor (MOR) is the primary receptor involved in the analgesic effects of opioids and there is increasing evidence that agonist-mediated regulation of MOR in single neurons contributes to analgesic tolerance. Work done in the locus coeruleus (LC) has shown that acute desensitization, or the rapid loss of MOR-effector coupling during sustained agonist exposure, may contribute to long-term analgesic opioid tolerance. In addition, phosphorylation of amino acid residues on the C-terminus of MOR is a necessary step in acute desensitization. Although mutation of all 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminal tail of MOR to alanine blocks acute desensitization and cellular tolerance, the kinases involved in both of these processes remained uncertain. Therefore, the aim of this dissertation project was to determine the kinases involved in MOR acute desensitization and cellular tolerance with the ultimate goal of identifying cellular mechanisms that may contribute to analgesic tolerance. To do this, a combination of pharmacological inhibition of specific kinase activity and whole-cell electrophysiology to measure potassium conductance in single LC neurons was used. Acute desensitization was measured in acute brain slices from naïve and morphine treated rats. Based on established measures, an increase in desensitization and/or reduced recovery from desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals was considered indicative of cellular

vi

tolerance. Results showed that the GRK2/3 inhibitor, CMP101, significantly blocked acute desensitization of MOR in LC neurons in slices from naïve animals. Interestingly, CMP101 was not sufficient to block acute desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals. In addition, while PKC or JNK inhibitors (Go6976 and SP600125 respectively) did not block acute desensitization in slices from naïve animals, all three inhibitors in combination nearly abolished acute desensitization in slices from animals treated chronically with morphine. These results indicate that chronic morphine treatment induced an adaptation in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization such that additional kinases, including PKC and JNK, contributed to desensitization. This altered regulation of acute desensitization by PKC and JNK may be one mechanism underlying the augmentation of desensitization and reduced recovery from desensitization seen in animals chronically treated with morphine. Similar results were found when looking at desensitization of the somatostatin receptor in LC neurons, indicating that chronic morphine treatment induces heterologous adaptations in the kinase regulation of desensitization that affect more than just opioid receptors. If this same adaptation occurs in other brain areas involved in analgesia then this may be one mechanism involved in analgesic tolerance. In addition, that chronic morphine treatment affected somatostatin receptor signaling may also have important functional consequences for how chronic morphine treatment affects non-opioid receptors in opioid-sensitive neurons. Future work should investigate the mechanism underlying this PKC- and JNK-dependent cellular tolerance and if it is conserved across cell types, brain regions, effector systems, and for other commonly used opioid agonists such as fentanyl.

vii

Chapter 1: Introduction

The Opioid Crisis and Tolerance

Opioids, such as morphine, have been used to treat pain since the mid 1800s and are still the most effective analgesics for many types of pain. However, long-term use of opioids is complicated by the development of analgesic tolerance, such that higher doses of opioids are needed to achieve the same analgesic effect. This requirement for escalating doses of opioids is problematic for multiple reasons. Opioids not only exert pain-relieving effects, but also cause debilitating side effects such as constipation, nausea, and respiratory depression, making longterm opioid use difficult. In spite of these side effects, many opioid users also find it difficult to stop opioid use, due to the rewarding effects of opioids, the withdrawal symptoms that occur upon cessation of opioid treatment, or a combination thereof. Of patients prescribed an opioid, many misuse them and nearly 1 in 10 develop an opioid use disorder (Vowles et al., 2015).

Increasing doses of opioids are also problematic as this increases the risk for overdose. In late 2017, the opioid crisis was declared a public health emergency due to the rapid rise in deaths from opioid overdose (Jalal et al., 2018). The mortality rate has nearly doubled since 2010 despite there being greater public awareness along with measures implemented to combat the opioid epidemic. The CDC reported that more than 47,000 Americans died from opioid overdose in 2017, with 128 people dying every day. Every 13 minutes an American dies from opioid overdose (Hagemeier, 2018).

The main reason that patients die from opioid overdose is not due to general neurological depression as is seen with barbiturate overdose, but instead is due to opioids acting on respiratory neurons to cause respiratory depression. In addition, the development of tolerance to the respiratory depressive effects of opioids is slower than to the analgesic effects of opioids (Levitt

and Williams, 2018; Ling et al., 1989; Paronis and Woods, 1997). Thus, higher doses of opioids increase the risk for overdose and death. Because of this, a major goal of opioid research has been to understand the mechanisms underlying tolerance at both the cellular and behavioral level. A better understanding of opioid tolerance will facilitate the development of safer opioid drugs that reduce side effects such as the development of tolerance.

The µ-Opioid Receptor

Opioids exert both their therapeutic and deleterious effects by binding to opioid receptors, which are expressed abundantly throughout the central nervous system. There are several types of opioid receptors, each encoded by distinct structural genes, including μ -, κ -, δ opioid receptors (MOR, KOR, and DOR respectively), as well as the nociceptin receptor. MOR, encoded by OPRM1, is the primary opioid receptor involved in the analgesic action of opioids (Williams et al., 2013). Morphine-induced actions, including analgesia and tolerance, are absent in MOR KO mice (Le Merrer et al., 2009; Matthes et al., 1996). Therefore, in order to elucidate mechanisms underlying opioid tolerance, it is critical that we understand how MOR is regulated under drug naïve and chronic treatment conditions.

MOR, like all opioid receptors, is a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR). GPCRs are 7 transmembrane receptors that have their N-terminus in the extracellular space and the C-terminus in the intracellular compartment. GPCRs are activated following agonist-binding, which causes a conformational change in the receptor allowing heterotrimeric G-proteins to bind and become activated. G-proteins consist of three components, including the α , β , and γ subunits. Prior to activation, all three G-protein subunits are bound together with a GDP bound to the α subunit. Upon GPCR activation, inactive G-proteins bind to the receptor, allowing a GDP to be replaced by a GTP on the α subunit. This then causes the α subunit, bound to a GTP, and the β and γ

subunits, remaining bound to each other, to dissociate from the receptor to go on to activate downstream effectors (**Figure 1.1, 1.2**). Numerous G-proteins can be activated per agonist-binding event, allowing for amplification of signaling (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019).

There are several types of α subunits including, Gαi, Gαo, Gαs, Gαq, etc., distinguished by the downstream signaling they transduce. Opioid receptors couple to Gαi and Gαo Gproteins, which are "inhibitory" G-proteins. Activation of Gαi/o G-proteins leads to a decrease in cAMP production due to inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (**Figure 1.1**). This is in opposition to Gαs G-proteins which stimulate cAMP production by activating adenylyl cyclase (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019).

Gai/o proteins also go on to initiate mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades, including extracellular regulated kinase (ERK), Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 pathways, all of which have many targets including nuclear transcription factors. Gai/o proteins can also lead to the activation of Src kinases, a family of non-receptor tyrosine kinases (**Figure 1.1**). G $\beta\gamma$ subunits, upon dissociation from the α subunits, go on to affect other downstream effectors,



Figure 1.1: Activation of MOR leads to activation or inhibition of different effectors by activated G α and/or G $\beta\gamma$ subunits. Agonist-induced MOR activation leads to activation of G-proteins by replacement of the GDP for a GDTP. Activated G α i/o G-proteins lead to inhibition of cAMP production and activation of MAPK and Src pathways. Dissociated G $\beta\gamma$ subunits go on to inhibit voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCCs), activate G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channels (GIRKs), and initiate MAPK, PI3K, and PLC signaling pathways.

including activation of G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channels (GIRKs), which hyperpolarizes the cell, and inhibition of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCCs), which leads to inhibition of transmitter release in presynaptic axon terminals. G $\beta\gamma$ subunits can also initiate signaling pathways that include MAPK, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), and phospholipase C (PLC) pathways (**Figure 1.1**; Bailey et al., 2006; Goldsmith et al., 2013; Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019; Narita et al., 2004; Pena et al., 2018; Takeda et al., 1999; Williams et al., 2013; Zhu and Birnbaumer, 1996).

In addition to the agonist-induced activation of G-proteins, agonist-induced MOR activation also leads to phosphorylation of the intracellular region of MOR by G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs, Figure 1.2). Phosphorylation by GRKs is thought to require agonistinduced activation of MOR since maximal GRK2/3 recruitment requires free GBy and because inactive G-protein binding to receptors may block access to phosphorylation sites (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019; Stoeber et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2013). Phosphorylation of MOR by GRKs consequently increases the receptor's affinity for arrestins (non-visual β -arrestin1 or β -arrestin2). Arrestins are scaffolding proteins involved in receptor trafficking, by which receptors are internalized via clathrin-coated pits and transported to the endosome, where they are either sent to the lysosome for degradation or recycled back to the plasma membrane (Figure 1.2). Although arrestin binding and internalization could presumably turn off certain types of signaling through steric hinderance (e.g. arrestins sterically occluding G-protein activation by MOR) or removal from the membrane (e.g. blocking membrane delimited $G\beta\gamma$ -activation of GIRKs), arrestins can also act as scaffolds to initiate other signaling pathways, including MAPK (Figure 1.2), and we now know that GPCRs are capable of signaling from endosomes (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019; Lobingier and von Zastrow, 2019; Williams et al., 2013).



Figure 1.2: Agonist-induced regulation of MOR. Agonist-induced activation of MOR leads to phosphorylation of the intracellular region by kinases such as G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) and protein kinase C (PKC), which increases the receptors affinity for arrestins. Arrestins regulate receptor internalization and act as a scaffold for the initiation of signaling pathways including MAPK cascades. Internalized receptors are either degraded are recycled back to the plasma membrane.

Another early event following activation and phosphorylation of MOR is acute desensitization, or the rapid (seconds to minutes) loss of MOR-effector coupling that occurs during sustained exposure to agonist. Recovery from desensitization occurs in about 40-60 min and is thought to involve dephosphorylation and recycling of functional receptors back to the cell surface (Dang and Williams, 2004; Harris and Williams, 1991; Virk and Williams, 2008; Williams et al., 2013). Acute MOR desensitization may be a critical step in the development of tolerance and has therefore been a major focus of opioid research. However, while considerable study has been devoted to understanding acute MOR desensitization and tolerance, a clear understanding of the mechanisms underlying these processes is incomplete. In addition, it is likely that opioid tolerance is a complex process that involves various regulatory mechanisms that occur at both the level of individual opioid-responsive neurons as well as at the level of neural circuits (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013).

It is thought that many mechanisms that contribute to tolerance occur by homeostasis, such that opioid-responsive neurons and circuits adapt to the prolonged opioid receptor activation in order to normalize net activity. These homeostatic adaptations may include regulatory processes that directly reduce opioid response/sensitivity, as well as processes that indirectly reduce opioid responses by engaging opposing or compensatory mechanisms and signaling pathways. Upon cessation of opioid use, these adaptations are unmasked and result in many of the withdrawal symptoms experienced by opioid users (e.g. dysphoria, hyperalgesia, and gut hypermotility), underscoring the importance of a complete understanding of these processes (Christie, 2008; Williams et al., 2001; Williams et al., 2013). Examples of potential adaptations identified in the literature that could contribute to opioid tolerance include: increased desensitization, reduced recovery from desensitization, reduced recycling after endocytosis, changes in agonist affinity and potency, and an upregulation of adenylyl cyclase activity after chronic opioids (Birdsong et al., 2015; Birdsong et al., 2013; Dang et al., 2011; Dang and Williams, 2004; Ingram et al., 2008; Ingram et al., 1998; Quillinan et al., 2011; Williams, 2014; Williams et al., 2001; Williams et al., 2013). However, the mechanisms underlying these adaptations are unclear. Other possible adaptations, such as downregulation of MORs or changes in internalization after chronic treatment, have been discounted due to lack of evidence (Quillinan et al., 2011; Trafton and Basbaum, 2004).

Measuring Tolerance

While an immense amount of study at the behavioral, cellular, and molecular levels has been devoted to understanding opioid tolerance, a complete picture of how receptor-activation leads to tolerance is lacking. Many potential mechanisms that may contribute to tolerance have been identified. However, differences between studies often make comparisons between results problematic, making it difficult to resolve a clear, mechanistic understanding of opioid tolerance. Thus, when measuring opioid tolerance, it is important to consider the level of analysis (e.g. behavioral vs. cellular), brain region, cellular compartment (e.g. soma vs axon terminals), agonist, and the technique that is used (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013).

Several approaches have been applied in order to better understand opioid tolerance, including measuring analgesic tolerance *in vivo* (e.g. rodent models of opioid tolerance) and measuring cellular tolerance in cell lines, primary neuronal cultures, or native neurons in tissue preparations. Each level of analysis offers different advantages and disadvantages and can answer different types of questions.

Analgesic tolerance can be studied in rodent models using two different noxious stimuli, including the hot-plate test (supraspinal nociception) and the warm-water tail-withdrawal test (spinal nociception). For both measures, a decrease in the latency of removal from the respective stimulus after chronic versus acute opioid treatment is indicative of analgesic tolerance (Heinricher and Ingram, 2008). These behavioral studies can provide valuable information on the extent of tolerance that develops as a result of treatment with various opioid agonists as well as how different genetic or pharmacological manipulations can affect analgesic tolerance in whole animals. However, results from these *in* vivo experiments can be hard to interpret since they involve a complex circuit response that could be affected at many sites between activation of

MOR and the motor response. Observed effects could involve mechanisms in opioid-sensitive neurons themselves or indirect effects onto opioid-sensitive neurons, making it impossible to separate circuit-level adaptations from adaptations in single cells. Thus, the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms occurring in single neurons are difficult to resolve (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013).

While it is clear that analgesic tolerance is a problem at the systems level, studies that showed reduced opioid sensitivity in cultured cells along with studies that identified reduced opioid responsiveness in *ex vivo* preparations from tolerant animals make it clear that opioid tolerance occurs at the cellular level as well (Bailey and Connor, 2005; Christie et al., 1987; Williams et al., 2013). Thus, cellular tolerance refers to cellular-level adaptations that result in decreased MOR-effector coupling after chronic opioid treatment. In contrast to acute desensitization, cellular tolerance occurs over a longer time period of several hours to days or weeks and can last well after drug removal. While it is not clear how cellular tolerance relates to analgesic tolerance, it is evident that cellular level processes contribute to opioid tolerance (Williams et al., 2013). Thus, it is critical to understand mechanisms at the cellular level in order to have a full understanding of opioid tolerance.

To better understand MOR regulatory processes that contribute to tolerance, a lot of work has been done using expression studies in cell lines (i.e. HEK293, AtT20) and primary neuronal cultures. These studies have provided valuable information about how MOR is regulated (i.e. phosphorylation sites, etc.). However, while cultured cells offer some advantages (i.e. agonists readily wash from the preparation), how these results translate to native neurons is still being established since receptor number and concentrations of signaling or regulatory components may differ across cell types. Studies have shown that altering receptor number or amounts of

signaling and regulatory components present in cells can affect opioid signaling, efficacy, and potency (Williams et al., 2013). For example, the phosphorylation and internalization induced by morphine can be enhanced by overexpression of GRKs and arrestins, showing that concentrations of proteins can affect regulatory processes that may contribute to tolerance (Miess et al., 2018; Whistler and von Zastrow, 1998; Zhang et al., 1998).

One main way that MOR signaling, desensitization, and cellular tolerance are measured in native neurons is with whole-cell electrophysiology in intact brain slices from rodents. Three common electrophysiological measures used include activation of potassium current (GIRKs), inhibition of Ca²⁺ current (VGCCs), and inhibition of transmitter release, with activation of potassium current being the most common. Like mentioned above, MORs couple to GIRK channels. When MOR is activated, this activates G-proteins, causing the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit to dissociate and bind to GIRK channels, causing an outward potassium current that can be measured using whole-cell electrophysiology (**Figure 1.1, 2.1A-B**). Therefore, measuring GIRK currents allows for a real-time readout of MOR activation and desensitization in response to agonist. Established measures of cellular tolerance using this technique include: an increase in desensitization, reduced recovery from desensitization, reduced sensitivity to morphine, and a rightward shift in opioid concentration-response curves in acute brain slices from rodents treated chronically with opioids (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013).

In addition, it is also important to consider cell type and brain region when measuring cellular opioid tolerance. Studies have shown that MOR regulatory processes, including internalization and desensitization, can vary across cell types and brain regions. For example, while there is robust desensitization in LC neurons, there is very little desensitization in neurons of the Kölliker-Fuse (KF), a brainstem region that regulates aspects of respiration (Levitt and

Williams, 2018). Therefore, it is possible that different brain regions contribute differentially to opioid tolerance and that mechanisms that contribute to tolerance could differ across cell type and brain region. As mentioned above, one reason mechanisms of MOR regulation may differ depending on cell type/brain region is because of differences in signaling components present in cells (Williams et al., 2013). This highlights the importance of studying processes that could contribute to opioid tolerance in native neurons across various opioid-sensitive brain regions.

In addition to evidence for cell-type and brain-region specific receptor regulation, there is also evidence that regulatory mechanisms can even differ between cellular compartments. MORs that are localized in different parts of the cell (e.g. soma, dendrites, axon terminals) have distinct functional actions. MORs located in the somatodendritic compartment decrease excitability, while those located in the axon terminals inhibit transmitter release (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). In addition, although desensitization can be readily observed in the postsynaptic compartment, acute MOR desensitization to the inhibition of transmitter release is lacking in the presynaptic axon terminals (Blanchet and Luscher, 2002; Fox and Hentges, 2017; Fyfe et al., 2010; Pennock et al., 2012; Pennock and Hentges, 2011; Pennock and Hentges, 2016). However, even though desensitization is not observed in the presynaptic compartment, long-term tolerance to the inhibition of transmitter release does occur (Fyfe et al., 2010; Hack et al., 2003; North and Vitek, 1980; Schulz et al., 1980; Williams et al., 2001). Recent evidence indicates that the lack of apparent presynaptic desensitization results from the fast diffusion of active receptors along the cell surface to release sites, effectively mitigating presynaptic inhibition from loss of functional receptors (Jullie et al., 2020).

Furthermore, in addition to activating signaling at the plasma membrane, GPCRs can also signal from intracellular compartments (e.g. Golgi, nucleus, endosomes). Receptors localized in

the nucleus or Golgi are activated by membrane-permeable agonists or agonists transported inside the cell. Intracellular signaling may also occur at endosomes after agonist-induced internalization. Importantly, activation of intracellular receptors can initiate distinct signaling pathways compared to that of receptors at the cell surface. Various agonists may preferentially activate these different types of signaling depending on their ability to permeate the membrane or induce internalization (Fernandez et al., 2020; Lobingier and von Zastrow, 2019).

Thus, another major consideration when measuring tolerance is the agonist used. Many agonists are used to measure MOR activity, including partial-agonists such as morphine, as well as full agonists such as: the highly potent synthetic opioid fentanyl, the high specificity synthetic opioid peptide [D-Ala², N-MePhe⁴,Gly-ol]enkephalin (DAMGO), and the more promiscuous endogenous opioid peptide [Met]⁵enkephalin (ME). Agonists can differ in their pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic properties as well as their efficacy, or ability to induce a response. Within a system, full agonists cause a maximal response with partial agonists only producing a submaximal response (Fernandez et al., 2020, Williams et al., 2013). Evidence suggests that lowefficacy agonists (e.g. morphine) produce more pronounced analgesic tolerance, as well as larger rightward shifts in concentration-response curves, than high-efficacy agonists (e.g. fentanyl, Christie et al., 1987; Duttaroy and Yoburn, 1995; Grecksch et al., 2006; Sosnowski and Yaksh, 1990; Walker and Young, 2001). However, another important consideration is that full agonists only need to activate a small portion of the total receptor population in order to produce a maximal response, while partial agonists must occupy a larger fraction of the total receptor population to exert their maximal response. This phenomenon of receptor reserve (or spare receptors) can vary between cell types and for different signaling pathways and thus can also affect measures of opioid signaling (Fernandez et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2013).

There is also a lot of evidence for biased agonism in the sense that various agonists differentially activate signaling cascades and regulatory mechanisms, possibly through differential coupling to signaling proteins (e.g. G-proteins, arrestins, GRKs). For example, morphine induces less phosphorylation and internalization than full agonists, such as DAMGO or ME (Miess et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2013). There is also evidence that different MOR agonists preferentially activate $G\alpha$ i versus $G\alpha$ o G-proteins (McPherson et al., 2018). Numerous studies have also indicated that different agonists result in differential regulation by kinases (Chu et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2006; Kliewer et al., 2019; Kuhar et al., 2015; Melief et al., 2010; Yousuf et al., 2015). Therefore, mechanisms underlying tolerance may differ between agonists. Although it has been difficult in some cases to determine whether agonists differ in their efficacy for signaling generally or if different agonists induce different types of signaling (Gillis et al., 2020), it is clear that the agonist used can affect measures of MOR regulation and tolerance.

Given the differences highlighted above, the technique used to measure opioid tolerance is also very important since various techniques will allow you to measure at distinct levels (e.g. behavioral vs cellular assays) and in different cellular compartments (e.g. postsynaptic vs presynaptic terminal). In addition, assay conditions, such as model used (e.g. rat vs mouse vs cell line), cell type examined, response measured (e.g. GIRK currents vs inhibition of cAMP production), chosen dosing paradigm, and agonist used (e.g. partial vs full agonist) may also affect observed results. Measures of tolerance may differ depending on the effector examined. In addition, the time course of the response measured can affect interpretation of results. While activation of GIRK currents is fast and allows for reliable measures of desensitization in isolation from some regulatory processes, other measures, such as phosphorylation of MAPK endpoints or inhibition of adenylyl cyclase, are slower and may include multiple processes that could include

desensitization, internalization, recovery from desensitization, and even recycling, confounding results (Williams et al., 2013).

Thus, in order to determine cellular-based mechanisms that contribute to opioid tolerance, experiments in this study were conducted at the cellular level by using whole-cell electrophysiology to measure real-time ME-induced activation of potassium conductance in the soma of single locus coeruleus (LC) neurons in acute brain slices from naïve and morphine treated rats. This technique allows for measurement of acute desensitization separate from other processes. In addition, animals were treated with morphine using a protocol known to induce robust tolerance (80 mg/kg/day for 6-7 days using osmotic pumps; Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Lastly, a bulk of the studies looking at acute MOR desensitization have been conducted in the LC. Although the LC is likely not involved in analgesia, it contains homogenous MOR expression without expression of most other opioid receptors (i.e. DORs, KORs), making it an ideal area to study MOR regulation (Williams et al., 2013).

Phosphorylation, Acute Desensitization, and Tolerance

C-terminal Phosphorylation Sites

As mentioned above, there is increasing evidence that acute MOR desensitization is an early step leading to long-term tolerance to opioids. In addition, it is widely accepted that phosphorylation of residues in the intracellular region of MOR by kinases such as GRKs is a necessary step in acute desensitization (Williams et al., 2013). There are about 20 potential phosphorylation sites on the intracellular loops and C-terminal tail of MOR that could contribute to MOR desensitization (**Figure 1.3**; Connor et al., 2004; Koch and Hollt, 2008). Site-directed mutagenesis of residues, phosphosite-specific antibodies, and quantitative mass spectrometric analysis of phosphorylated residues were used to determine the relative importance of these



Figure 1.3: Potential and Identified Phosphorylation Sites on the C-terminus of MOR. Agonist-induced activation of the μ -opioid receptor (MOR) results in phosphorylation of sites on the C-terminus. Potential phosphorylation sites are shaded gray, phosphorylation sites identified to be phosphorylated by GRK2/3 are shown in red, phosphorylation sites identified to be phosphorylated by PKC are shown in light blue, and phosphorylation sites identified to be phosphorylated by either GRK2/3 or PKC are shown in navy (Williams et al., 2013; Just et al., 2013).

residues in MOR regulation. These studies have shown that high-efficacy agonists, such as DAMGO and fentanyl, very efficiently and rapidly (less than 2 min at 37°C) phosphorylate residues on the C-terminal region of MOR (Thr370 through Thr379), while low-efficacy agonists, such as morphine, phosphorylate the same residues less efficiently (Doll et al., 2011; Lau et al., 2011; Miess et al., 2018; Mouledous et al., 2015; Schulz et al., 2004). However, morphine-induced phosphorylation could be enhanced by overexpression of

GRK2/3 (Doll et al., 2011; Miess et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 1998).

These studies, along with studies measuring pan-phosphorylation induced by highefficacy agonists, have established two main clusters, amino acid residues 354 to 357 (TSST) and 375 to 379 (STANT), that are phosphorylated by GRK2/3 following agonist application (**Figure 1.3**; Chen et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Just et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2011; Miess et al., 2018; Wang, 2000; Wang et al., 2002). In addition, mutation of the STANT cluster, or even Ser375 alone, prevented or reduced the rate and extent of phosphorylation at other C-terminal residues (Doll et al., 2011; Just et al., 2013; Miess et al., 2018). This indicates a hierarchical pattern of phosphorylation where phosphorylation of Ser375 facilitates further phosphorylation at other residues. Mutation of the TSST cluster also slightly reduced the rate of phosphorylation at other residues, further demonstrating the interconnectivity of the C-terminal phosphorylation sites (Miess et al., 2018).

In addition to the two main clusters mentioned above, there are four additional phosphorylation sites (Ser363, Thr370, Thr383, and Thr394), constituting 11 total phosphorylation sites on the C-terminal tail of MOR (**Figure 1.3**; Williams et al., 2013). Mutational studies have implicated Thr394 in agonist-induced phosphorylation of MOR (Deng et al., 2000; Wolf et al., 1999). In transfected HEK293 cells, Ser363 was constitutively phosphorylated with no significant increase by opioid agonists (Doll et al., 2011). In addition, Ser363 could be phosphorylated by PKC (**Figure 1.3**; Chen et al., 2013; Feng et al., 2011) and constitutive Ser363 phosphorylation required ongoing PKC activity (Illing et al., 2014). Thr370 could also be phosphorylated by stimulation of PKC activity in addition to DAMGO-induced phosphorylation and GRK2/3 activity (**Figure 1.3**; Doll et al., 2011; Doll et al., 2012; Illing et al., 2014; Just et al., 2013).

More recently, studies using phosphorylation-deficient mutant MORs have established that phosphorylation at all 11 sites contributes to acute desensitization and long-term tolerance. Acute desensitization was reduced for phosphorylation-deficient STANT mutants expressed in rat LC neurons, AtT20 cells, and HEK293 cells (Arttamangkul et al., 2019; Birdsong et al., 2015; Miess et al., 2018; Yousuf et al., 2015). Phosphorylation-deficient MORs in which all 11 phosphorylation sites are mutated to alanine nearly abolish acute desensitization in ATt20 cells and LC neurons in tissue from both naïve and morphine treated animals (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Kliewer et al., 2019; Yousuf et al., 2015). In addition, analgesic tolerance was greatly

reduced for knockin mice expressing phosphorylation-deficient MORs (10S/T-A and 11S/T-A, Kliewer et al., 2019). Thus, measures of acute desensitization, cellular tolerance, and analgesic tolerance are all reduced by mutation of MOR C-terminal phosphorylation sites, indicating that phosphorylation of the C-terminus of MOR is critical for acute MOR desensitization and long-term tolerance. However, how each of the two main phosphorylation site clusters, TSST and STANT, as well as the 4 additional phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus differentially contribute to acute desensitization and tolerance is unclear. Thus, this study examined acute desensitization and two separate measures of cellular tolerance for mutant MORs, with alanine or glutamate mutation of different C-terminal phosphorylation sites, virally expressed in the LC of MOR KO rats.

Phosphorylation by GRKs

In addition, the kinase(s) underlying phosphorylation-dependent acute desensitization and tolerance remain poorly understood. Phosphorylation of C-termini by kinases like GRKs has profound effects on MOR function, regulating receptor internalization, desensitization, and agonist affinity (Birdsong et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2013). Indeed, the canonical mechanism for acute MOR desensitization is through GRK activity (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019). Consistent with this, many studies have shown that acute MOR desensitization is attenuated when GRK function is disrupted. Nonvisual GRKs consist of two subfamilies, GRK2/3 and GRK4/5/6 (Gurevich et al., 2012). Phosphorylation by mostly GRK2 and GRK3 has been implicated in acute MOR desensitization *in vitro* (Johnson et al., 2006; Kovoor et al., 1998; Li and Wang, 2001; Zhang et al., 1998), with some evidence for the involvement of GRK5 (Doll et al., 2012; Just et al., 2013). In addition, viral expression of a dominant negative GRK2 in LC neurons reduced DAMGO-induced acute desensitization (Bailey et al., 2009b; but see Quillinan

et al., 2011). More recently, acute MOR desensitization by multiple opioid agonists was blocked in LC neurons by the GRK2/3 inhibitor, CMP101 (Lowe et al., 2015). In addition, one measure of chronic morphine-induced cellular tolerance to the activation of GIRK conductance in mouse LC neurons (i.e. reduced recovery from desensitization) was reduced by GRK2 inhibition (Dang et al., 2011; Quillinan et al., 2011). Analgesic tolerance was also reduced for some opioid agonists in GRK3 knockout mice (Melief et al., 2010; Terman et al., 2004). Resolving the relative contributions of GRK2 and GRK3 to desensitization and tolerance have been difficult, however, since the GRK2 knockout mouse is embryonic lethal (Peppel et al., 1997).

Phosphorylation by PKC

In addition to phosphorylation by GRKs, there is also evidence that MORs, or MOR signaling components, are also phosphorylated by non-GRK kinases, including PKC, JNK, CAMKII, and MAPK (Chen et al., 2013; Koch and Hollt, 2008; Liu and Anand, 2001; Schmidt et al., 2000), which may contribute to both desensitization and tolerance. As mentioned above, studies using phosphosite-specifc antibodies and mass spectrometry showed that MOR can be directly phosphorylated by PKC at Ser363 and Thr370 *in* vitro (Chen et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2011). In addition, inhibition of PKC in HEK293 cells decreased the basal level of MOR phosphorylation, indicating that MOR is pre-phosphorylated by PKC instead of in response to agonist activation (Johnson et al., 2006). However, while MOR may be phosphorylated directly by PKC, it is unknown if other kinases act directly on MOR or whether they act sequentially. It is possible that kinases phosphorylate other non-kinase proteins involved in MOR desensitization (Williams et al., 2013).

There is a lot of evidence for the involvement of PKC in mechanisms of acute desensitization and tolerance that may be agonist-dependent. Morphine- but not DAMGO- or

ME-induced MOR desensitization was reduced by inhibition of PKC in HEK293 and ATt20 cells (Johnson et al., 2006; Yousuf et al., 2015). In addition, PKC activation was necessary for morphine-induced (but not DAMGO) MOR desensitization in HEK293 cells (Chu et al., 2010). Activation of PKC activity also enhanced acute desensitization induced by ME and morphine as well as short- and long-term cellular tolerance to morphine in LC neurons (Arttamangkul et al., 2015; Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Bailey et al., 2004; Bailey et al., 2009a; Bailey et al., 2006). Another study in the LC showed that following chronic morphine treatment, one component of acute desensitization involved PKC, but another was insensitive to inhibition of PKC or JNK (Levitt and Williams, 2012). In vivo studies showed that morphine-induced tolerance can be reduced with administration of PKC inhibitors or elimination of PKC through mutagenesis (Bohn et al., 2002; Granados-Soto et al., 2000; Hua et al., 2002; Hull et al., 2010; Inoue and Ueda, 2000; Newton et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2003; Smith et al., 1999). In addition, it appears that ongoing PKC activity is necessary to maintain morphine tolerance since PKC inhibition reversed morphine-induced analgesic tolerance even after it developed and cellular tolerance was reversed with a PKC inhibitor in LC neurons (Bailey et al., 2009a; Granados-Soto et al., 2000; Smith et al., 1999).

Phosphorylation by JNK

Other studies have indicated that JNK activity may be involved in MOR regulation. Morphine-induced acute MOR desensitization in the dorsal root ganglion was mediated by JNK (Mittal et al., 2012). In addition, while short-term analgesic tolerance induced by fentanyl administration was GRK3/arrestin-dependent, short-term analgesic tolerance following morphine administration involved JNK2 (Kuhar et al., 2015; Melief et al., 2010). Intrathecal injections of a

JNK inhibitor throughout chronic morphine treatment also reduced long-term analgesic tolerance to morphine (Chen et al., 2008).

Phosphorylation by Other Kinases

There is also some evidence for alternative mechanisms of acute desensitization involving other kinases, including CaMKII and ERK1/2. In X. laevis oocytes expressing mutants of a putative CaMKII phosphorylation site in the third intracellular loop of MOR (S261A/S266A), the rate of DAMGO-induced desensitization was slowed (Koch et al., 1997). In heterologous expression systems, MAPK inhibition reduced agonist-induced activation of MAPK as well as agonist-induced phosphorylation and desensitization of MOR (Polakiewicz et al., 1998; Schmidt et al., 2000). In LC neurons, ME-induced desensitization could be mediated by at least two separate mechanisms, one involving GRK2-β-arrestin2 and the other involving ERK1/2 activity (Dang et al., 2009). However, there are conflicting reports on whether ERK1/2 contributes to measures of morphine tolerance. Inhibition of ERK activity in vivo did not alter short- or long-term analgesic tolerance to morphine (Mouledous, et al., 2007; Melief et al., 2010; but see Chen et al., 2008). One study even showed enhanced morphine tolerance after disruption of ERK1/2 signaling in the PAG (Macey et al., 2009). Therefore, how ERK activity contributes to acute desensitization and tolerance is still undefined. Little is known about the involvement of other sites on the intracellular loops of MOR or other kinases in acute desensitization and tolerance as well (Williams et al., 2013).

Together, these studies suggest that GRKs, along with non-GRK kinases, may contribute to mechanisms of acute desensitization and tolerance. Indeed, chronic morphine induced increases in the phosphorylation of MAPKs, including p38-, ERK-, and JNK-IR in L4 DRG neurons (Chen et al., 2008). Acute desensitization in LC neurons is augmented and the recovery

from desensitization is prolonged in slices taken from morphine treated animals (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Dang and Christie, 2012; Dang and Williams, 2004; Dang and Williams, 2005; Levitt and Williams, 2012; Quillinan et al., 2011). The mechanism that underlies this augmentation is not understood but regulation of MOR by additional kinases may be one mechanism underlying this measure of cellular tolerance. The present study sought to determine the kinases involved in acute desensitization and tolerance using a combination of whole-cell electrophysiology and pharmacological inhibition of select kinase activity.

Acute Desensitization, Internalization, and Tolerance

As mentioned above, phosphorylation of the C-terminal tail of MOR by GRKs increases the receptors affinity for arrestins, leading to receptor internalization. Studies looking at disruption of arrestin translocation and internalization in cultured cells have further indicated that phosphorylation of Ser375 is a crucial residue for arrestin recruitment and internalization (El Kouhen et al., 2001; Williams et al., 2013). Similar results were reported using a S375A mutant (Schulz et al., 2004). Additional studies found that mutations of Thr376 and Ser379 GRK phosphorylation sites also blocked arrestin recruitment and internalization, suggesting that multisite phosphorylation of the ³⁷⁵STANT³⁷⁹ cluster is required for efficient receptor internalization (Just et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2011). Recent studies validated this result, showing that arrestin recruitment and internalization measured with a BRET assay in HEK293 cells was blocked for a phosphorylation-deficient STANT mutant (Miess et al., 2018). In addition, arrestin recruitment and internalization is reduced or eliminated with inhibition of GRK2/3 activity by either siRNA or CMP101 in HEK293 cells (Doll et al., 2012; Lowe et al., 2015; Miess et al., 2018). Inhibition of MAPK activity has also been shown to reduce internalization (Polakiewicz et al., 1998; Schmidt et al., 2000). However, although it is clear that phosphorylation of the STANT cluster

by GRK2/3 is necessary for efficient arrestin recruitment and internalization, it should be noted that there is evidence that some GPCRs can recruit arrestins in the absence of phosphorylation (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019).

Although receptor phosphorylation is known to be a key initial step for both acute desensitization and internalization, making it tempting to link the two processes, it has been established that they are separate processes. Robust acute desensitization precedes internalization, with acute desensitization saturating in about 3-5 min and internalization reaching a steady state in about 30 minutes (Arttamangkul et al., 2008; Arttamangkul et al., 2006; Borgland et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2006; Law et al., 2000; Tanowitz et al., 2008; Tanowitz and von Zastrow, 2003). Acute desensitization also proceeds when internalization is blocked (Arttamangkul et al., 2006; Dang et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2005). In addition, it was also thought that receptor internalization is necessary for resensitization of MORs. However, we now know that dephosphorylation and recovery from desensitization of MOR do not require receptor internalization (Dang and Christie, 2012). Upon agonist removal, dephosphorylation of Ser375 and Thr370 and recovery from desensitization was rapid at the cell surface when internalization was blocked regardless of the agonist used (Arttamangkul et al., 2006; Dang et al., 2011; Doll et al., 2011; Doll et al., 2012; Quillinan et al., 2011).

Although desensitization and internalization are not mechanistically or functionally equivalent, it is still unclear for MOR whether phosphorylation itself desensitizes receptor signaling or whether it causes desensitization by initiating arrestin binding. Arrestin binding presumably blocks G-protein binding through steric hinderance and has a similar time course to acute desensitization (saturating in about 3-5 minutes; McPherson et al., 2010; Molinari et al., 2010; Oakley et al., 2000). However, it is also possible that phosphorylation induces a receptor

conformation that is inaccessible to G-proteins. A clear understanding has been difficult due to an inability to measure arrestin-dependent processes electrophysiologically and contradictions between studies. Some of the studies looking at phosphorylation and involvement of GRK2/3 mentioned above have also reported that acute desensitization is attenuated under conditions where arrestin binding is disrupted or absent (Williams et al., 2013). For example, in gene expression studies in *X. laevis* oocytes, acute MOR desensitization required coexpression of both GRK3 and β -arrestin2 (Kovoor et al., 1997). Desensitization was also blocked in mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells from β -arrestin2 or β -arrestin1 and 2 knockout mice (Chu et al., 2008). However, there are other studies opposing these findings that show desensitization persists when arrestin activity is reduced or eliminated. Acute desensitization of MOR coupling to VGCCs in sensory neurons and GIRKs in LC neurons was unaffected in the β -arrestin2 knockout (Arttamangkul et al., 2008; Walwyn et al., 2007).

In addition, it is also unclear how or if arrestin binding and internalization contribute to cellular or analgesic tolerance. One measure of cellular tolerance (shift in concentration response curve) to the inhibition of Ca^{2+} currents in PAG neurons was not observed in tissue from β -arrestin2 KO mice treated chronically with morphine (Connor et al., 2015). Another measure of cellular tolerance (reduced recovery from desensitization) was absent in LC neurons in slices from β -arrestin2 KO mice treated chronically with morphine (Dang et al., 2011, Quillinan et al., 2011). However, interpretation of recovery rates in the β -arrestin2 KO is complicated since β -arrestin2 could contribute to both desensitization and receptor recycling. It is possible that blocking internalization allows receptors to resensitize faster at the membrane. Indeed, dephosphorylation at the plasma membrane is rapid when internalization is blocked (Doll et al., 2011). Analgesic tolerance, as well as tolerance to DAMGO-induced GTP γ S binding, was

reduced in β-arrestin2 KO mice (Bohn et al., 2000; Bohn et al., 2002). However, morphineinduced tolerance has also been shown to be attenuated under conditions where internalization is enhanced (Kim et al., 2008). It is unknown how enhancing internalization may lessen tolerance. It is possible that removal from the membrane turns off certain types of signaling, limiting induction of adaptations that lead to tolerance. It is unclear whether agonists that robustly induce arrestin binding and internalization produce less tolerance than agonists that weakly recruit arrestin and induce internalization when matched for intrinsic efficacy. Further complicating interpretation, while arrestin could contribute to MOR-uncoupling through steric hinderance or removal of MORs from the membrane through internalization, it could also contribute to longterm tolerance through induction of signaling via its scaffolding function or through MOR signaling from the endosome (Lobingier and von Zastrow, 2019; Williams et al., 2013).

Thus, more work is required to determine the role of arrestins in acute desensitization and/or tolerance. Many recent studies where acute desensitization or cellular tolerance was blocked used phosphorylation-deficient and therefore G-protein biased receptors incapable of efficiently binding arrestin, making it impossible to separate effects due to phosphorylation versus arrestin binding and internalization (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Kliewer et al., 2019). Determining the kinases involved in arrestin binding/internalization versus desensitization may offer some mechanistic insights. In order to gain a clearer picture of events leading to the development of opioid tolerance, this study aimed to investigate the kinases involved in both MOR internalization and acute desensitization before and after chronic morphine treatment.

Heterologous Effects

Acute desensitization and tolerance can be homologous, being restricted to MOR or MOR signaling itself, as has been described above. However, acute desensitization and tolerance

can also be heterologous, affecting other receptors/signaling cascade components. Other GPCRs, such as G α i-coupled α 2-adrenergic or somatostatin receptors, share signaling cascade components with MOR (Williams et al., 2013). Therefore, it is of great interest whether acute or chronic application of opioids can affect the signaling of such GPCRs. It is still unclear whether mechanisms that contribute to opioid tolerance affect not only MOR regulation but also the regulation of other receptors in opioid-sensitive neurons.

Opioid-induced acute desensitization has been observed to be homologous (Bailey et al., 2004; Bailey et al., 2009b; Dang et al., 2011; Dang et al., 2009; Harris and Williams, 1991). Loss of function after chronic opioid treatment was also restricted to MOR with no decrease at other GPCRs that couple to the same effectors (Bailey et al., 2009a; Christie et al., 1987; Connor et al., 1999), indicating that desensitization and tolerance mechanisms occur independently of GIRKs. However, heterologous desensitization of α 2-adrenergic receptor-dependent currents after MOR activation has been reported in LC neurons (Blanchet and Luscher, 2002; Blanchet et al., 2003; Dang et al., 2012; Llorente et al., 2012). There is also evidence that acute desensitization of MOR results in heterologous desensitization of the somatostatin receptor (SSTR, Fiorillo and Williams, 1996; Yousuf et al., 2015). Heterologous short-term tolerance has also been reported in some cell types (Tan et al., 2003; Tan et al., 2009; Walwyn et al., 2006). However, mechanisms underlying possible heterologous desensitization and tolerance are unknown. Some evidence implicates PKC in mechanisms of heterologous desensitization (Chu et al., 2010; Yousuf et al. 2015). Mechanisms involving β -arrestin2, ERK1/2, and Src have also been implicated in heterologous desensitization (Dang et al., 2012). Thus, it is still unclear if and how acute MOR desensitization and tolerance heterologously desensitize other GPCR signaling.

In addition to MORs, LC neurons also contain somatostatin receptors (SSTRs, SSTR2) that couple to the same population of GIRK channels (Fiorillo and Williams, 1996). Similar to MOR, agonist-induced activation of SSTRs leads to phosphorylation of the intracellular region of the receptor by kinases including GRKs and PKC (**Figure 1.4**). In addition, truncation experiments indicated that phosphorylation of sites



Figure 1.4: Potential and Identified Phosphorylation Sites on the C-terminus of the Somatostatin Receptor. Agonist-induced activation of the somatostatin receptor (SSTR) results in phosphorylation of sites on the Cterminus. Potential phosphorylation sites are shaded gray, phosphorylation sites identified to be phosphorylated by GRK2/3 are shown in navy, and phosphorylation sites identified to be phosphorylated by either GRK2/3 or PKC are shown in red (Günther et al., 2018).

on the C-terminus of SSTR contributes to acute homologous SSTR desensitization (Cole and Schindler, 2000; Gunther et al., 2018). Therefore, this study also sought to determine whether acute or chronic activation of MOR reduced somatostatin-induced activation of SSTRs.

Summary

In order to gain a clearer picture of cellular events leading to the development of opioid tolerance, this dissertation aimed to investigate the kinases involved in MOR internalization and acute desensitization of MORs and SSTRs before and after chronic morphine treatment. Chapter 3 first describes how MOR C-terminal phosphorylation sites might contribute differentially to acute desensitization versus cellular tolerance. Chapter 4 describes evidence for a heterologous adaptation in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization such that, in addition to GRK2/3, PKC and JNK activity contribute to acute desensitization following chronic morphine treatment.

Chapter 5 presents additional experiments conducted in order to begin to tease apart mechanisms underlying phosphorylation-dependent desensitization. Chapter 6 closes with a discussion of the interpretation of these results within the context of opioid tolerance and GPCR signaling more generally. The work presented in this dissertation demonstrates one heterologous adaptation induced by chronic morphine treatment that may contribute to cellular tolerance and provides a new appreciation for how chronic morphine treatment may affect non-opioid receptors.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Animals:

Adult male and female rats with ages between 5 - 8 weeks were used for the following experiments. Both wildtype Sprague-Dawley and μ -opioid receptor knockout (MOR KO) rats on a Sprague-Dawley background were used. Wildtype Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). MOR KO Sprague-Dawley rats were used as described in Arttamangkul et al. (2019). All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health guidelines and with approval from the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Oregon Health & Science University (Portland, OR).

Microinjections:

MOR KO rats (P24-30) were anesthetized with isoflurane and placed in a stereotaxic frame for microinjection of adeno associated virus type 2 (AAV2) encoding either wildtype MORs (exWT, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-WT-WPRE-SV40pA) or total phosphorylation-deficient (TPD, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TPD-WPRE-SV40pA), STANT 3A (AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-STANTWPRE-SV40pA), STANT 7A (STANT-7A, AAV2-CAG-SSGFP-MOR-STANT-7A - WPRE-SV40pA), TSST 4A (AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TSST-4A-WPRE-SV40pA), or TSST 4E (AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TSST-4EWPRE-SV40pA) mutant MORs in the locus coeruleus (LC). A GTP was fused to the N-terminus of each construct with a human prolactin hormone signal sequence. 200 nL of virus ($2.06 \times 10^{13} \text{ vg/ml}$) was injected at 0.1 µl/min, bilaterally in the LC (AP: -9.72 mm, ML: ± 1.25 mm, DV: -6.95 mm, from bregma) using a computer controlled stereotaxic frame (Neurostar, Tubingen, Germany). Viruses were obtained from Virovek (Hayward, CA). Electrophysiology experiments were carried out 2-4 weeks following injection.
Chronic Morphine Treatment:

Both drug naïve and morphine treated animals (MTA) were used. Rats (5-6 weeks) were treated with morphine sulfate (National Institute on Drug Abuse, Bethesda, MD) continuously released from osmotic pumps. Osmotic pumps (2ML1, Alzet, Cupertino, CA) were filled with the required concentration of morphine sulfate in water to deliver 80 mg/kg/day for 6-7 days. This dose was used in order to maintain a circulating concentration of at least 1 μ M. Osmotic pumps were implanted subcutaneously in the mid-scapular region of rats maintained on isoflurane anesthesia and remained in the animals until they were used for experiments 6 or 7 days later.

Pharmacology:

Drug:	Abbr:	Acts on:	Purchased from:	
[Met] ⁵ enkephalin	ME	MOR/DOR agonist	Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO)	
Somatostatin	SST	SSTR agonist	ProSpec (ProSpec-Tany	
			TechnoGene Ltd., Rehovot, Israel	
UK14304 tartate	UK	α 2-adrenergic receptor	Tocris (Bio-Techne Corp.,	
		agonist	Minneapolis, MN)	
Idazoxan	Ida	α 2-adrenergic receptor	Sigma-Aldrich	
		antagonist		
β-chlornaltrexamine	β-CNA	MOR/KOR/DOR	Sigma-Aldrich	
		irreversible antagonist		
(+)MK-801	-	NMDAR blocker	Hello Bio (Princeton, NJ)	
Compound 101	CMP101	Inhibits GRK2/3	Hello Bio	
Go6976	-	Inhibits PKCa and	Tocris	
		РКСβ		
SP600125	-	Inhibits JNK	Tocris	
Staurosporine	Stp	Inhibits kinases	LC Laboratories (Woburn, MA)	
		besides GRKs		

Somatostatin and ME (10 mM) were dissolved in water, diluted to the appropriate concentration in ACSF and applied by superfusion. Go6976, SP600125, and staurosporine (all 10 mM) were dissolved in DMSO. CMP101 was first dissolved in a small amount of DMSO (10% of final volume), sonicated, and then brought to its final volume with 20% (2-Hydroxypropyl)- β -cyclodextrin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and sonicated again to create a 10 mM solution. β -CNA (10 mM) was dissolved in methanol and used in ACSF.

Electrophysiology:

Tissue Preparation:

Rats were deeply anesthetized and euthanized by cardiac percussion. Brains were extracted and blocked, removing the posterior half of the brain. The brain was then fixed onto the vibratome stage (Krazy Glue) and placed in the vibratome chamber with warm (34°C) ACSF containing (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 MgCl₂, 2.6 CaCl₂, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 21.4 NAHCO₃, and 11 D-glucose with +MK-801 (10 μ M). Horizontal brain slices (260 μ m) containing the locus coeruleus (LC) were then made using a vibratome (VT 1200S; Leica, Nussloch, Germany). The LC is a brainstem area with homogenous MOR expression, making it a good area to study MORs. The LC was identified based on its proximity to the fourth ventricle. Slices were allowed to recover in warm ACSF containing +MK-801 (10 μ M) for at least 30 minutes and then hemisected and stored in glass vials with warm (34°C), oxygenated (95% O₂/5% CO₂) ACSF until used.

Whole-cell Recording:

Whole-cell recordings from LC neurons were obtained with an Axopatch 200B amplifier (Axon Instruments) in voltage-clamp mode ($V_{hold} = -60$ mV). Recording pipettes (World Precision Instruments, Saratosa, FL) with a resistance of 1.5-2 M Ω were filled with a potassium-based

internal solution containing BAPTA (in mM): 115 potassium methanesulfonate or potassium methyl sulfate (Alfa Aesar, Ward Hill, MA), 20 KCl, 1.5 MgCl₂, 5 HEPES(K), 10 BAPTA, 2 Mg-ATP, 0.2 Na-GTP, pH 7.4, and 275–280 mOsM. Immediately after gaining access to the cell, membrane capacitance, series resistance, and input resistance were measured with the application of square test pulses (+2 mV for 50 ms) averaged before computation using Axograph X (Axon Instruments, version 1.5.4). Only recordings where the series resistance remained <15 M Ω were included. Data were collected at 400 Hz with PowerLab (Chart Version 8.1.8; AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

Drug Perfusions and Incubations:

Agonists, including ME, somatostatin, and UK14304, and antagonists, including idazoxan, were applied via bath perfusion at a rate of about 2 mL/minute. For experiments using kinase inhibitor(s), slices were incubated in a higher concentration of inhibitor(s) diluted in ACSF for at least 1 hour prior to recording. Inhibitors were also included in the bath and drug perfusion solutions at lower concentrations. For experiments with partial removal of receptors with the irreversible antagonist, β -CNA, slices were incubated in ACSF containing β -CNA (30 – 100 nM) for 5 minutes before placement on the rig for recording.

Measuring Desensitization and Cellular Tolerance:

MOR Desensitization and Tolerance:

Agonist-induced activation of MORs results in activation of G protein-coupled inwardlyrectifying potassium channels (GIRKs) through binding of dissociated Gβγ subunits (**Figure 2.1A**). Activation of GIRKs results in an outward potassium current that can be measured using whole-cell recording (**Figure 2.1B**, Birdsong and Williams, 2020). Therefore, GIRK currents



Figure 2.1: Potassium channel currents as a readout for μ -opioid receptor activation and desensitization. (A) Schematic for how activation of μ -opioid receptors (MORs) leads to activation of G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels. (B) Example trace from a whole-cell recording of a locus coeruleus (LC) neuron showing the GIRK current induced by the endogenous opioid peptide [Met]⁵enkephalin (ME, 1 μ M). (C) Stick diagram showing the protocol used to measure acute desensitization in naïve animals via (1) acute decline and (2) recovery from desensitization using EC₅₀ concentrations of agonist. (D) Stick diagram showing the protocol used to measure acute desensitization in morphine treated animals. Measures of cellular tolerance are indicated by the differences between (C) and (D): increase in desensitization for both (1) and (2, left arrow) and reduced recovery from desensitization (2, right arrow).

were used as a readout for MOR activation. Recording of GIRK currents allows for a real-time

readout of receptor signaling and therefore was also used to measure desensitization. The

endogenous opioid peptide, [Met]⁵ enkephalin, which activates both μ - and ∂ -opioid receptors,

was used because of its ability to easily wash from the slice and because the LC does not contain ∂ -opioid receptors. Morphine does not wash from the slice and therefore could not be used for these experiments.

Acute desensitization was measured in two commonly used ways that are not necessarily reflective of the same process (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). The first measure is the decline in the peak current during the continuous application of a supersaturating concentration of agonist (30 μ M ME, 10 min) and is referred to as acute decline (**Figure 2.1C, (1**)). The second measure is the decrease in the peak current evoked by an EC₅₀ concentration of agonist (300 nM ME) 5 min after desensitization (1) relative to the current induced by the EC₅₀ concentration before desensitization (**Figure 2.1C, (2**)). The EC₅₀ concentration was also applied at 10, 20, and 30 minute timepoints in order to measure the recovery from desensitization over time. The saturating concentration of ME was also applied at the end of each experiment in order to confirm that there had not been rundown during the experiment.

Acute desensitization was also measured in morphine treated animals in order to determine measures of tolerance (**Figure 2.1D**). For all experiments using tissue from tolerant animals, brain slices were prepared in morphine-free solutions such that they were in a state of acute withdrawal. It has been established that after chronic morphine treatment, there is an increase in acute desensitization (as measured by acute decline (1) and recovery from desensitization (2), **Figure 2.1D**) and reduced recovery from desensitization (2). Both of these are considered measures of cellular tolerance. Another measure of tolerance was also used that takes advantage of the partial agonist, morphine, which is more sensitive to changes in coupling efficacy (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). For this measure, morphine (1 µM) was bath applied until the current reached a steady state, after which a supersaturating concentration of ME (30 μ M) was immediately applied. Then the ratio of the morphine-induced current relative to the current induced by ME was determined in both naïve and morphine treated animals. A decrease in this ratio in morphine treated animals was considered indicative of cellular tolerance.

SSTR Desensitization:

In order to determine the heterologous effects of chronic morphine treatment, the somatostatin receptor (SSTR) was examined. LC neurons express MORs and SSTRs in the same neurons and SSTRs activate the same population of GIRK channels (Fiorillo and Williams, 1996). The endogenous peptide agonist, somatostatin (SST), was used. While SST does not wash well from the slice, limiting the ability to measure the second measure of desensitization for this receptor, there were no known alternative agonists that wash well from the slice. Therefore, acute desensitization of SSTR could only be measured using the decline in the peak current during the application of a saturating concentration of SST (20 μ M). To obtain a baseline at the end of each experiment, BaCl₂ (100 μ M) was used to reverse the current by blocking potassium conductance.

Concentration-response Curves:

For construction of concentration-response curves, ME-induced currents were normalized to the peak current induced by a saturating concentration of the α 2-adrenergic receptor agonist, UK14304 (UK, 3 μ M) followed by the antagonist idazoxan (ida, 1 μ M) since α 2-adrenergic receptors couple to the same population of GIRK channels (Williams et al., 2013). A range of concentrations of ME was used (100 nM – 30 μ M) in order to create a logarithmic scale of ME-induced MOR activation in LC neurons.

Internalization and Imaging:

To visualize trafficking of virally expressed wildtype MORs, acute brain slices (260 μ m) were prepared and then incubated with an anti-GFP nanobody conjugated to Alexa594 (Nb-A594, 10 mg/ml, 30-45 min). Images were captured before and after application of a saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) using a 2-photon microscope. A z-series of 10 sections was acquired at 1- μ m intervals so the whole neuron could be qualitatively compared.

Data Computation and Analysis:

Analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, version 6.0d, San Diego, CA) based on number of technical replicates (number of slices). Values are presented as average \pm S.D. Statistical comparisons were made using one-way or two-way ANOVA, along with multiple comparison adjusted Tukey's post hoc tests, as appropriate. For all experiments P < 0.05 is considered significant.

Chapter 3: Separation of Acute Desensitization and Long-term Tolerance of μ -Opioid Receptors is Determined by the Degree of C-terminal Phosphorylation

Seksiri Arttamangkul, Emily R Leff, Omar Koita, William T Birdsong*, John T Williams

Vollum Institute, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239

*Current Address: Department of Pharmacology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109

Published in Molecular Pharmacology, October 2019

(https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.119.117358)

Abstract

Phosphorylation of sites on the C-terminus of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) result in the induction of acute desensitization that is thought to be a precursor for the development of longterm tolerance. Alanine mutations of all 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus of MORs almost completely abolished desensitization and one measure of tolerance in locus coeruleus neurons when these phosphorylation deficient MORs were virally expressed in MOR knockout rats. The present work identifies specific residues that underlie acute desensitization, receptor internalization and tolerance. Four MORs variants with different alanine or glutamate mutations in the C-terminus were examined. Alanine mutations in the sequence between amino acids 375 and 379 (STANT-3A) and the sequence between amino acids 363 and 394 having 4 additional alanine substitutions (STANT+7A), reduced desensitization and two measures of long term tolerance. Following chronic morphine treatment, alanine mutations in the sequence between 354 and 357 (TSST-4A) blocked one measure of long-term tolerance (increased acute desensitization and slowed recovery from desensitization) but did not change a second (decreased sensitivity to morphine). With the expression of receptors having glutamate substitutions in the TSST sequence (TSST-4E), an increase in acute desensitization was present after chronic morphine treatment but the sensitivity to morphine was not changed. The results show that all 11 phosphorylation sites contribute, in varying degrees, to acute desensitization and long-term tolerance. That acute desensitization and tolerance are not necessarily linked illustrates the complexity of events that are triggered by chronic treatment with morphine.

Significance

This work shows that the degree of the phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus of the mu opioid receptor alters acute desensitization, internalization and measures of long term tolerance to morphine. The primary conclusion is that the degree of phosphorylation on the 11 possible sites of the C-terminus has different roles for expression of the multiple adaptive mechanisms that follow acute and long term agonist activation. Although the idea that acute desensitization and tolerance are intimately linked is generally supported, these results indicate that disruption of one phosphorylation cassette of the C-terminus, TSST (354-357) distinguishes the two processes.

Introduction

The C-terminus of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) has multiple phosphorylation sites that are implicated in the mechanisms of receptor desensitization and trafficking. Two cassettes on the MOR C-terminus were efficiently phosphorylated after treatment with a potent agonist (Wang et al., 2002; Lau et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2013; Just et al., 2013; Miess et al., 2018; Doll et al., 2011). When the residues from 375 to 379 (STANT) were mutated to alanine, arrestin recruitment and internalization were blocked (Lau et al., 2011). Residues in the second cassette ranging from 354 to 357 (TSST) were also efficiently phosphorylated, but internalization was unaffected. The electrophysiological consequences of alanine mutations in each cassette, was examined using viral expression in neurons of the thalamus and locus coeruleus (LC) in MOR knockout mice (Birdsong et al., 2015). The results indicated that mutations of all serine and threonine residues in both cassettes acute desensitization was reduced (Birdsong et al., 2015; Yousuf et el., 2015). The functional consequences of mutations in other potential

phosphorylation sites (S-363, T-370, -383 and -394) have not been examined. Phosphorylation of S-363 is thought to be constitutive or PKC dependent while phosphorylation of T-370 can be induced by agonists (reviewed in Williams et al, 2013). There is no evidence showing phosphorylated forms at T-383 and T-394 by mass spectrometry (Lau et al., 2011). Acute desensitization measured in locus coeruleus neurons was almost completely eliminated in a knock in mouse where all 11 C-terminus phosphorylation sites or the 10 sites minus T-394 mutated to alanine (Kliewer et al., 2019). Likewise acute desensitization and the development of long term tolerance were blocked following viral expression of phosphorylation deficient MORs in locus coeruleus neurons of MOR knockout rats (Arttamangkul et al., 2018).

The present study examined acute desensitization in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals in each of four mutant MORs—STANT-3A (S375-T379 to AAANA), STANT-7A (S363A, T370A, 375-379 – AAANA, T383A, T394A), TSST-4A (354-375 to AAAA) and TSST-4E (354-357 to EEEE). Each receptor contained an N-terminus GFP tag that, when coupled with a fluorescent nanobody, was used to assess trafficking (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Internalization of the STANT-3A and STANT-7A mutant receptors was blocked as was previously found in HEK cells (Birdsong et al., 2015). Acute desensitization was maintained in the STANT-3A and TSST mutant receptors and blocked in the STANT-7A receptors. Two measures of tolerance were examined following chronic treatment. First, the current induced by morphine was reduced in experiments with wild type and TSST-4A receptors whereas there was no change in slices expressing the STANT-3A and TSST-4E receptors. The second assay used the time course of recovery from acute desensitization as a measure of the development of tolerance. The recovery from acute desensitization was decreased in slices expressing wild type receptors following chronic morphine treatment (Dang & Williams, 2004; Quillinan et al., 2011;

Arttamangkul et al., 2018) but in slices expressing each of the mutant MORs recovery was not different between untreated and morphine treated animals. The results suggest that phosphorylation of the C-terminus of the MOR contribute to the prolongation of the recovery from desensitization that is a hallmark of tolerance found in experiments from wild type animals.

Materials and Methods

Drugs - Morphine sulfate and morphine alkaloid were obtained from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), Neuroscience Center (Bethesda, MD). Naloxone was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA), MK-801, from Hello Bio (Princeton, NJ), UK14304 tartrate, from Tocris (Bio-Techne Corp. Minneapolis, MN). Potassium methanesulfonate was from Alfa Aesar (Ward Hill, MA). [Met⁵] enkephalin (ME) was from Sigma (St. Louis, MO).

Morphine alkaloid was converted to salt form with 0.1 M HCl and made up a stock solution in water. The working solution was diluted in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) and applied by superfusion. Naloxone (1 mM) was dissolved in water, diluted to 1 μ M in ACSF and applied by superfusion. Bestatin (10 μ M) and thiorphan (1 μ M) was included in solutions containing ME to limit peptidase induced breakdown.

Animals– All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health guidelines and with approval from the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Oregon Health & Science University (Portland, OR). Adult (180 – 300 g or 5-6 weeks) male and female Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). MOR-knockout Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Horizon (St. Louis, MO). Homozygous animals were bred in house.

Microinjection protocol- Microinjections of virus into the locus coeruleus was carried out as previously described (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). MOR-knockout animals (24-30 days) were anesthetized with isofluorane (Terrell[®], Piramal Clinical Care, Inc., Bethlehem, PA) and placed in a stereotaxic frame. Viral particles containing adeno associated virus type 2 for the expression of mutant MORs (STANT-3A, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-STANT-WPRE-SV40pA, 2.06x10¹³ vg/ml), (STANT-7A, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR- STANT-7A -WPRE-SV40pA, 2.06x10¹³ vg/ml), (TSST-4A AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TSST-4A-WPRE-SV40pA, 2.06x10¹³ vg/ml) and (TSST-4E, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TSST-4E-WPRE-SV40pA, 2.06x10¹³ vg/ml). The N-terminus of each construct was fused to GFP with a human prolactin hormone signal sequence. All viruses were obtained from Virovek (Hayward, CA). Injections of 200 nl at the rate of 0.1 µl/min were done bilaterally at ± 1.25 mm lateral from the midline and -9.72 mm from the bregma at a depth of 6.95 mm from the top of the skull using computer controlled stereotaxic Neurostar (Kähnerweg, Germany). Experiments were carried out 2-4 weeks following the injection.

Animal treatment protocols-Rats (5-6 weeks) were treated with morphine sulfate using osmotic pumps (2ML1, Alzet, Cupertino, CA) as described previously (Quillinan et al., 2011). Rats were anesthetized and the pumps were implanted subcutaneously.

Tissue preparation – Horizontal slices containing locus coeruleus (LC) neurons were prepared as described previously (Williams and North, 1984). Briefly, rats were killed and the brain was removed, blocked and mounted in a vibratome chamber (VT 1200S, Leica, Nussloch, Germany). Horizontal slices (250-300 μm) were prepared in warm (34°C) artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF, in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 MgCl₂, 2.6 CaCl₂, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 11 D-glucose and 21.4 NaHCO₃ and 0.01 (+) MK-801 (equilibrated with 95% O2/ 5% CO2, Matheson, Basking Ridge,

NJ). Slices were kept in solution with (+)MK-801 for at least 30 min and then stored in glass vials with oxygenated (95% O2/ 5% CO2) ACSF at 34°C until used.

Electrophysiology –Slices were hemisected and transferred to the recording chamber which was superfused with 34°C ACSF at a rate of 1.5 - 2 ml/min. Whole-cell recordings were made from LC neurons with an Axopatch-1D amplifier in voltage-clamp mode ($V_{hold} = -60$ mV). Recording pipettes (1.7 – 2.1 M Ω , World Precision Instruments, Saratosa, FL) used an internal solution of (in mM): 115 potassium methanesulfonate or potassium methyl sulfate, 20 KCl, 1.5 MgCl₂, 5 HEPES(K), 10 BAPTA, 2 Mg-ATP, 0.2 Na-GTP, pH 7.4, 275-280 mOsM. Recordings where the series resistance was <15 M Ω were terminated. Data were collected at 400 Hz with PowerLab (Chart version 5.4.2; AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

*MOR-GFP Trafficking-*Brain slices (240 µm) from the virally injected rats were prepared as previously described. Slices were visualized with an Olympus Macroview fluorescent microscope for GFP expression in the LC area and to visualize plasma membrane associated receptors slices were incubated in a solution of anti-GFP nanobody Alexa594 (Nb-A594, 10 µg/mL, 30-45 min, Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Images were captured with an upright microscope (Olympus, Center Valley, PA.) equipped with a custom-built two-photon apparatus and a 60x water immersion lens (Olympus LUMFI, NA1.1, Center Valley, PA). The dye was excited at 810 nm. Data were acquired and collected using Scan Image Software (Pologruto et al., 2003). Images were taken at a magnification where a single neuron filled the field of view. A z-series of 10 sections was collected at 1 µm intervals. With this protocol, the whole neuron was qualitatively compared. Drugs were applied by perfusion at the rate of 1.5 ml/min. All experiments were done at 35°C.

Data Analysis - Analysis was performed using KaleidaGraph (Synergy software). Values are presented as mean±SD. Statistical comparisons were made using unpaired t-tests or a two-way ANOVA, as appropriate. Comparisons with p<0.05 were considered significant.

Results

As in previous work, $[Met]^5$ enkephalin (ME, 0.3 µM and 30 µM) was applied in each experiment. In slices from wild type animals, the initial current amplitude induced by ME (0.3 µM) was about 60% of that induced by the saturating concentration of ME (30 µM). The initial amplitude of the currents induced by ME (0.3/30 µM) measured in slices from virally expressed receptors varied but were similar in amplitude to the currents (in pA) measured in wild type animals (TABLE 1, ANOVA, Dunnett post hoc)

Trafficking

Previous results showed that virally expressed wild type receptors were efficiently internalized during the application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) whereas internalization of receptor where all phorphorylation sites on the C terminus were mutated to alanine was not observed (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). In the present study internalization of the receptors with specific mutations was examined using 2-photon microscopy. Each mutant receptor had an extracellular GFP-tag such that plasma membrane associated receptors were labeled with an anti-GFP nanobody conjugated with alexa594 (Figure 1). A z-stack of images of single cells was collected before and after treatment of slices with ME (30 μ M, 10 min). There was a distinct qualitative change in the receptor distribution in slices with neurons expressing the TSST-4A (S/T354-357A) and TSST-4E (S/T354-357E) receptors. Before treatment with ME the receptors lined the

plasma membrane and following treatment with ME receptors were internalized and the pattern became punctate (Figure 1). The distribution of STANT-3A (S/T375-377A, T379A) receptors was relatively unchanged. To quantify the increase in intracellular fluorescence the z-stack was compressed with a z-projection and a region of interest just inside of the plasma membrane of the soma was drawn (Supplemental Figure 1). The increase in fluorescence measured in arbitrary fluorescence units (AFU) in that region of interest following treatment with ME was taken as the internalized receptors. By this rough measure there was an increase in fluorescence with the TSST-4A (95% confidence level = 255 ± 168 AFU, n-8) and TSST-4E (95% confidence level = 166 ± 117 AFU, n=7) receptors and little change in the STANT-3A receptors (95% confidence level = 31 ± 33 AFU, n=14). Internalization was statistically different between the STANT-3A and both TSST-4A and TSST-4E receptors (ANOVA, Student-Newman-Keuls post hoc). Given that the alanine mutations of the STANT sequence (375-379) largely blocks arrestin recruitment it was not surprising that the application of ME did not induce detectable internalization (Lau et al., 2011).

Acute Desensitization

The current induced by ME (0.3μ M) was measured before and following a 10 min application of ME (30μ M). The degree of desensitization was determined by the relative amplitude of the current induced by ME (0.3μ M) following a 5 min wash of the saturating concentration of ME compared to the amplitude of the initial current induced by ME (0.3μ M). Recovery from desensitization was determined by measuring the current amplitude induced by ME (0.3μ M) over time (Figure 2). As reported previously, recovery from desensitization in slices from wild type animals occurred over a period of 20-35 min.

Coupling efficiency using a partial agonist, morphine, to measure tolerance

The relative amplitudes of the currents induced by morphine and ME were compared (Figure 2D). Morphine (1 μ M) was applied until the current reached a steady state. The solution was then switched immediately to a saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M). The ratio of the morphine/ME current was determined in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals (Figure 2E). This protocol takes advantage of the fact that morphine is a partial agonist and therefore is more sensitive to changes in coupling efficiency and thus was used as a second measure of the tolerance induced by treatment of animals with morphine (Christie et al., 1987; Levitt, Williams, 2012).

Animals were treated with morphine (80 mg/kg/day) for 6-7 days. Brain slices were prepared and maintained in morphine free solutions such that the preparations were in a state of acute withdrawal. First, the degree of tolerance was examined using the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) measured before and following the application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min, Table 1). The recovery of the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) was examined over 20-35 min. As reported previously the recovery from desensitization was slowed in slices from morphine treated animals (Figure 2, Dang, Williams, 2004; Quillinan et al., 2011; Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Second, the current induced by morphine (1 μ M) relative to the peak ME current was reduced in slices from morphine treated animals (Figure 2, p<0.05 Mann-Whitney U test). This simple assay is therefore a reasonable measure of tolerance and is particularly valuable for experiments where the viral expression of receptors in the knockout animals can be variable. A summary of the results with this measure is illustrated in the plots of the amplitude of the current induced by morphine (1 μ M) against the current induced by ME (30 μ M, wild type, Figure 3A). The current

induced by morphine was smaller than that induced by ME in slices from morphine treated animals over a wide range of current amplitudes.

The same protocols were used to measure tolerance, desensitization and the recovery from desensitization in slices taken from animals expressing each of the mutant receptors.

STANT-3A

Application of a saturating concentration of ME resulted in desensitization of the STANT-3A receptor. The decline in current during the application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) was not different from that in slices from wild type animals (p>0.05, ANOVA, Dunnett post hoc). The decrease in the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) following the saturating concentration was reduced compared to the wild type (Figure 4, p<0.05 ANOVA Dunnett post hoc). This result was expected based on previous work in the mouse (Birdsong et al., 2015). The phosphorylation of S375 is thought to be an initial step leading to sequential phosphorylation events on the C-terminus. The observation that desensitization persisted indicates that this sequence is not the sole area that underlies acute desensitization.

In slices from morphine treated animals the decline from the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M, 10 min) was not different from that in slices from untreated animals (Table 1, p>0.05, unpaired T-test). Likewise the recovery from desensitization was the same in slices from morphine treated and untreated animals (Figure 4C). Thus, in spite of the acute desensitization seen with this receptor, there was no apparent induction of tolerance as measured by an increase in desensitization or a prolongation of the time it takes to recover from desensitization. The ratio of the morphine/ME current was also not different between experiments carried out in untreated and morphine treated animals (Figure 4E). The current amplitudes (morphine/ME) for individual

cells in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals overlapped over a range of current amplitudes. Thus by two measures, mutation of the STANT sequence in the MOR blocked the development of tolerance.

Finally, given that treatment of the slices with ME (30 μ M, 10 min) did not induce detectable internalization, one conclusion from these experiments could be that trafficking and/or arrestin recruitment is a necessary step in the development of long-term tolerance.

STANT-7A

There was little or no decline in the current induced by ME (30 μ M), or the ME (0.3 μ M) current following washout of the saturating concentration in slices expressing the STANT-7A receptor (Table 1, Figure 5). Thus by the inclusion of 4 additional alanine mutations, the STANT-7A resulted in a near complete block of desensitization, as was found in STANT-3A receptors. In slices from morphine treated animals there was a substantial increase in desensitization as determined by the decrease in the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) 5 min following the wash of the saturating concentration (Table 1, Figure 5). The recovery from desensitization in slices from animals treated with morphine was near complete after washing for 10 min (Figure 5). The decline from the peak current induced by ME (30 µM, 10 min) was slightly smaller than in slices from morphine treated animals (Table 1, MTA=0.83±0.09, n=14, Untreated= 0.73±0.10, n=9, p=0.03, unpaired T-test). Chronic morphine treatment therefore resulted in a facilitation of acute desensitization measured by the decrease in current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) that was short lasting and not present prior to the morphine treatment. Thus mutation of the 4 additional residues blocked acute desensitization in slices from untreated animals but did not eliminate at least one adaptive mechanism induced by chronic morphine. The results suggest that the 4

remaining phosphorylation sites play a role in the mechanisms induced by chronic morphine treatment.

TSST-4A

Acute desensitization and trafficking of this receptor closely resembled that measured in slices from wild type animals and experiments with wild type receptors expressed in the knockout animals (Figure 1 and 6). Following chronic morphine treatment, the decline from the peak current induced by ME (30μ M, $10 \min$) was not different from slices from untreated animals (untreated 0.53 ± 0.13 of the peak n=7, MTA 0.60 ± 0.05 of the peak n=5). There was also no difference in the decrease in the ME (0.3μ M) current or the time course or extent of recovery from desensitization following washout of the saturating concentration of ME (Figure 6B&C). Thus by one measure (acute desensitization) chronic morphine had no effect. However the current induced by morphine (morphine/ME) was reduced in slices taken from morphine treated animals (Figure 6D&E). Thus the second measure of tolerance was the same as that measured in slices taken from morphine treated wild type animals (compare Figures 2E and 6E) suggesting that the link between acute desensitization and the reduced sensitivity to morphine was broken.

TSST-4E

Previous work suggested that by mimicking phosphorylation of the TSST sequence with glutamic acid residues (TSST-4E), a desensitized state of the receptor was induced (Birdsong et al., 2015). The initial current amplitude induced by ME (0.3 μ M) was not different from cells expressing TSST-4A or wild type receptors (TSST-4E=286±102 pA, n=7, WT=279±96, n=7, Table 1, p>0.05, ANOVA, Dunnett post hoc). Likewise the current induced by a saturating

concentration of ME (30 μ M) was not different (TSST-4E=400±123 pA, n=10: WT 451±95 pA, n=7, Table 1, p>0.05, ANOVA, Dunnett post hoc). The decline from the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M) was greater in slices from morphine treated animals than in untreated controls (Figure 7D, Table 1 p<0.05, unpaired T test). The current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) following the wash of the saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M) was also smaller in slices from morphine treated animals than in untreated controls (Figure 7D, Table 1 p<0.05, unpaired T test). The current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) following the reated animals than in untreated controls (Figure 7D, Table 1, p<0.05, unpaired T test). Finally, receptor internalization induced by ME (30 μ M, 10 min) was similar to measured in wild type and TSST-4A receptors (Figure 1).

The results indicate that acute desensitization of the TSST-4E receptors in slices from morphine treated animals is facilitated but the recovery from desensitization is complete (Figure 7C, Table 1). Finally the plot of morphine versus ME current amplitudes illustrates the overlap in experiments in slices between untreated and morphine treated animals (Figure 3E, p>0.05, unpaired T test). Although acute desensitization was increased in slices taken from morphine treated animals, the recovery was complete and there was no change in the current induced by morphine suggesting that one measure of tolerance of these receptors was blocked but acute desensitization was facilitated. As with the results obtained with the TSST-4A receptors acute desensitization and tolerance appear to be dependent on separate processes.

Discussion

The present study measured the opioid induced outward current mediated by GIRKs to examine the functional regulation of MORs by phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus. Alanine mutation of all phosphorylation sites (11S/T-A) on the C-terminus results in a dramatic decrease in acute desensitization and long-term tolerance to opioids (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Kliewer et al.,

2019). The present study used a series of MORs having selective alanine mutations in different areas of the C-terminus in order to determine the role of acute desensitization in the development of long term tolerance. The results show that each of the mutated receptors affected one or another aspect of MOR signaling. With one exception (STANT-7A), some degree of acute desensitization was present on all receptors and following chronic morphine treatment there was an acute, although transient, desensitization of even that receptor. The unexpected observation was that by using three measures of opioid action to determine the level of tolerance there were distinct differences between the mutant opioid receptors. Thus different phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus have functionally distinct actions following chronic morphine treatment.

Acute desensitization as a measure of tolerance.

Following chronic treatment of animals with morphine acute desensitization was augmented and recovery from desensitization was prolonged (Dang, Williams, 2004; Quillinan et al., 2011; Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Acute desensitization was facilitated in slices expressing TSST-4E as in wild type animals but not in STANT-3A, TSST-4A MOR variants. There was a transient facilitation in the STANT-7A variants but that is because there was no desensitization in slices from untreated animals, and the increase in desensitization was small, transient and to the same level as in the STANT-3A variants. Unlike the observation made in wild type animals, the delayed time course of recovery following chronic morphine treatment was not present in any of the mutated receptors. It therefore appears that each of the phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus are necessary for the both the augmented acute desensitization and slowed recovery from desensitization that is induced following chronic morphine treatment. Thus the full complement of phosphorylation sites appears necessary for the development of long term tolerance.

Uncoupling of signaling as a measure of long-term tolerance.

As a partial agonist morphine offers a sensitive assay for functional coupling (Christie et al., 1987; Dang, Williams, 2004; Levitt, Williams, 2012; Williams et al., 2014). In slices taken from animals treated chronically with morphine, the morphine-induced current was reduced (Christie et al., 1987; Quillinan et al., 2011). This measure of long-term tolerance was present in some but not all of the mutant MORs tested. With the notable exception of TSST-4E, the MOR mutations that blocked desensitization and internalization (STANT-3A, STANT-7A and Total Phosphorylation Deficient (TPD, Arttamangkul et al., 2018)) also blocked the decrease in the morphine induced current.

Phosphorylation cassettes

It is well established that alanine mutations in the STANT-3A sequence decreases arrestin recruitment and receptor internalization (Lau et al., 2011; Just et al., 2013). Measures of tolerance following chronic morphine were also blocked in receptors with the STANT-3A and STANT-7A mutations (this study).

Much less in known about how alanine mutations of the TSST sequence affect MOR function particularly following chronic morphine treatment. The TSST-4A receptors desensitize and internalize 'normally' with agonist application. A receptor binding assay that used a fluorescently labeled agonist, DERM-A594, in HEK cells was used to measure the change in agonist affinity following incubation with potent agonists, such as ME (Birdsong et al., 2013). There was a significant long term (1-2 hours) increase in agonist affinity that followed incubation for 20-120 min. The increased affinity was not affected after treatment with pertussis toxin, was present in arrestin2/3 knock cells and there was no change in antagonist affinity. The increase in agonist affinity was blunted in the TSST-4A receptors particularly with longer agonist incubation times. The results suggested that phosphorylation of the TSST sequence largely blocked one consequence of acute agonist desensitization. Glutamate substitutions in the TSST sequence (TSST-4E) increased agonist affinity in the absence of pre-incubation suggesting that the glutamate substitution largely mimicked the effect of phosphorylation of this sequence (Birdsong et al., 2013).

Previous work reported that there were two components of tolerance induced by chronic morphine treatment, one that was transient (60-90 min) and a second that was long term (>3 hours, Levitt, Williams, 2012). The striking difference between the TSST-4A and TSST-4E receptor function following chronic morphine treatment suggests an important role for these phosphorylation sites in the adaptive changes induced by chronic morphine treatment. Although the idea that acute desensitization and tolerance are intimately linked is generally supported, the results indicate that disruption of the normal role of this (TSST) sequence distinguishes the two processes. Following chronic morphine treatment, long term tolerance as measured by the decrease in the current induced by morphine was maintained with the TSST-4A mutants. There was however no decrease in the current induced by morphine in the TSST-4E mutants in slices taken from morphine treated animals. Thus this measure of long term tolerance to morphine was blocked. The adaptive changes in acute desensitization were different in that acute desensitization following chronic morphine treatment was increased in the TSST-4E receptors, as in wild type receptors. On the other hand, acute desensitization of the TSST-4A receptors was unchanged by chronic morphine treatment. The present results could result from two separate mechanisms that underlie acute desensitization as previously indicated (Dang et al., 2009).

Summary

Alanine mutations of different phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus were used to identify receptor dependent signaling by measuring acute desensitization, recovery from desensitization and internalization. Mutations of the STANT sequence blocked all three measures as well as measures of tolerance. Mutations in the TSST sequence had little effect on acute actions but had a modulatory effect on the expression of tolerance.

Acknowledgments:

We would like to thank Drs Brooks Robinson and Erica Levitt for helpful discussion and feedback during manuscript preparation.

Author Contributions:

Participated in Research Design: Williams, Arttamangkul, Birdsong Conducted Experiments: Williams, Arttamangkul, Leff, Koita Contributed new reagents: Arttamangkul Performed data analysis: Williams

Wrote or contributed to writing of the manuscript: Williams, Arttamangkul, Birdsong

	I- ME (pA)		Decline (10 min/Peak)		ME (0.3 μM), Post/Pre	
	0.3 μΜ	30 µM	Untreated	MTA	Untreated	MTA
WT	279±96	451±95	0.60±0.16	0.51±0.07	0.23±0.06	0.13±0.08
	(7)	(7)	(7)	(9)	(7)	(9)
STANT-	259±137	439±134	$0.79{\pm}0.07$	0.78 ± 0.08	0.62±0.14	0.56±0.15
3A	(9)	(9)	(7)	(7)	(10)	(9)
STANT-	290±138	435±143	0.73±0.10	0.83±0.09	0.82±0.15	0.61±0.13
7A	(8)	(8)	(9)	(14)	(9)	(13)
TSST-4A	231±82	425±123	0.53±0.13	0.60 ± 0.05	0.25±0.14	0.33±0.11
	(8)	(8)	(7)	(10)	(6)	(5)
TSST-4E	286±102	400±123	0.65±0.10	0.49±0.13	0.41±0.12	0.18±0.13
	(7)	(10)	(7)	(10)	(7)	(10)

Table 1. Summary of results. **I-ME (pA)** - The mean amplitude of the currents induced by ME (0.3 and 30 μ M) in slices from wild type animals (WT) and each of the mutant MORs. There was no statistical difference from wild type (ANOVA, Dunnett post hoc) indicating that the sensitivity to ME in slices from wild type animals was similar to slices taken from animals expressing each of the mutant receptors. **Decline (10 min/peak)** – Paired comparison between experiments from untreated and morphine treated animals (MTA) showing the decrease in current induced by ME (30 μ M) during a 10 min application for each of the mutant receptors. In slices from animals expressing the TSST-4E receptors the decline was increased in morphine treated animals (MTA, p<0.05, unpaired T-test). **ME (0.3, post/pre)** – Paired comparison between slices from untreated and morphine treated animals. The ratio of the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) following desensitization normalized to the initial current for each of the mutant receptors. This ratio decreased in wild type, STANT-7A and TSST-4E (p<0.05, unpaired T-test).



Figure 1. Receptor imaging before and after treatment with ME (30 μ M, 10 min). An anti-GFP nanobody conjugated with alexa594 was to image the (A) STANT, (B) TSST-4A and (C) TSST-4E receptors expressed in locus coeruleus before (top) and following ME (30 μ M, 10 min, bottom).



Figure 2. Protocols used to measure two forms of tolerance using experiments were carried out in wild type animals. (A) Snake plot illustrates the phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus (yellow,T354, S355, S356, T357, S363, T370, S375,T376, T379, T383, T394). (B) Protocol used to determine acute desensitization and the recovery from desensitization. (C) Summary of results showing the time course of recovery from desensitization slices from untreated (black) and in morphine treated (red) animals (MTA), blue dote indicate the results from the trace in B. (D) Trace shows the current induced by morphine (1 μ M, 1) relative to that induced by ME (30 μ M, 2). (E) Summary of the results measuring the relative current induced by morphine (1/2) in slices

from untreated animals (95% confidence interval 0.518 \pm 0.047) and morphine treated animal (95% confidence level 0.37 \pm 0.045) indicating that the morphine induced current is smaller in slices from morphine treated animals. Mann-Whitney U test P<0.001. Blue dot indicates the results from the experiment in D.



Figure 3. Summary of results comparing the current induced by morphine $(1 \ \mu M)$ plotted against the current induced by ME (30 μ M) in individual cells in slices from untreated (black) and morphine treated (red) animals. A) Cells in slices taken from wild type animals. The current induced by morphine after treatment with morphine is smaller than that in untreated animals. B) Cells taken from animals following expression of the STANT mutant. C) Cells taken from animals following the expression of the TSST-4A mutant. D) Cells in slices taken from animals expressing the TSST-4E mutant.



Figure 4. Desensitization is decreased and tolerance is blocked in cells expressing the STANT mutant receptor. (A) Snake plot illustrates the sites in the STANT mutant having alanine mutations (red, S375. T376, T379). (B) An experiment taken from a morphine treated animal illustrating the desensitization and recover from desensitization of ME (0.3 μ M). (C) Summary of results showing the recovery from desensitization in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals (MTA). Blue dot indicates the results taken from the trace in B. (D) Trace illustrating the morphine (1 μ M) current relative to the ME (30 μ M) current. Blue dot indicates the result from the experiment illustrated in D. (E) Summary of experiments plotting the current induced by morphine (1 μ M) divided by that induced by ME (30 μ M, I-morphine/I-ME) indicating that the relative morphine current was unchanged in slices from morphine treated animals. Untreated 0.55±0.23, MTA 0.59±0.12 (95% confidence level).



Figure 5. Transient desensitization is induced following chronic morphine treatment in the STANT-7A mutant receptors. (A) Snake plot indicates the site (red, S363, T370, S375, T376, T379, T383, T394) with alanine mutations. (B) Illustrates the lack of ME induced desensitization in a slice from an untreated animal (left) and a morphine treated (right) animal.
(C) Summary of results showing the transient desensitization that is induced by chronic morphine treatment (MTA, red). (D) Left, shows the decline from the peak current during ME (30 μM, 10 min) in slices from untreated (black) and morphine treated (red) animals. Right shows the ME (0.3 μM) current relative to the peak ME (30 μM) current in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals.



Figure 6. The TSST-4A mutant receptors distinguish tolerance measured by two assays, the increase in acute desensitization (blocked) and the decrease in sensitivity to morphine (present). (A) Snake plot illustrating the sites that were mutated to alanine (red, T354, S355, S356. T357). (B) An experiment illustrating the acute desensitization and recovery from desensitization. (C) Summarized results from showing the recovery from desensitization in untreated (black) and morphine treated (red) animals (MTA). Acute desensitization is insensitive to chronic morphine treatment. (D) An experiment in a slice taken from a morphine treated animal illustrating the decreased amplitude of the current induced by morphine. (E) Dot plot shows the relative current induced by morphine (I-morphine/I-ME) in slices from untreated (black) and morphine treated

(red) animals indicating that the relative morphine current was less in slices taken from morphine treated animals. Untreated 0.55 ± 0.14 , MTA 0.30 ± 0.13 (95% confidence level).



Figure 7. Following chronic treatment with morphine, the TSST-4E mutant MOR separates induction of changes in acute desensitization (present) from the decrease in the sensitivity to morphine (blocked). (A) Snake plot shows the sites with glutamate substitutions (blue, T354, S355, S356. T357). (B) An example of acute ME induced desensitization and the recovery from desensitization in a slice from a morphine treated animal. (C) Summary of experiments showing the recovery from desensitization in slices from untreated (black) and morphine treated (red) animals (MTA). (D) Summarized results showing the decline from the peak current induced by

ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and the amplitude of the ME (0.3 μ M) current relative to the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M) in slices from untreated and morphine treated animals. (E) Dot plot of the relative current induced by morphine (1 μ M) relative to the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M, I-morphine/I-ME) showing that there was no change in the relative morphine current between slices from untreated and morphine treated animals. (Untreated 0.48±0.18, MTA 0.47±0.16, 95% confidence level)



Supplemental Figure 1. Illustration of the method used to determine the extent of receptor internalization. A line (blue) was drawn around the inside of the plasma membrane of a single neuron. The fluorescent in raw numbers was measured in fiji. That outline was then pasted on the same cell following treatment with MR (30μ M, $10 \min$). The fluorescence was once again determined. The increase in fluorescence was taken as a measure of internalization induced by ME.

Chapter 4: Chronic Treatment with Morphine Disrupts Acute Kinase-Dependent Desensitization of GPCRs

Emily R Leff, Seksiri Arttamangkul, John T Williams

Vollum Institute, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR 97239

Published in Molecular Pharmacology, May 2020

Abstract:

Based on studies using mutations of the μ -opioid receptor (MOR), phosphorylation of multiple sites on the C-terminus has been recognized as a critical step underlying acute desensitization and the development of cellular tolerance. The aim of this study is to explore which kinase(s) mediate desensitization of MOR in brain slices from drug naïve and morphine treated animals. Whole-cell recordings from locus coeruleus neurons were made and the agonist-induced increase in potassium conductance was measured. In slices from naïve animals, pharmacological inhibition of G-protein receptor kinase (GRK2/3) with compound 101 blocked acute desensitization. Following chronic treatment with morphine, compound 101 was less effective at blocking acute desensitization. Compound 101 blocked receptor internalization in tissue from both naïve and morphine treated animals suggesting that GRK2/3 remained active. Kinase inhibitors aimed at blocking PKC and JNK had no effect on desensitization in tissue taken from naïve animals. However, in slices taken from morphine treated animals, the combination of these blockers along with compound 101 was required to block acute desensitization. Acute desensitization of the potassium conductance induced by the somatostatin receptor was also blocked by compound 101 in slices from naïve but not morphine treated animals. As was observed with MOR, it was necessary to use the combination of kinase inhibitors to block desensitization of the somatostatin receptor in slices from morphine treated animals. The results show that chronic treatment with morphine results in a surprising and heterologous adaptation in kinase-dependent desensitization.

Significance:

The results show that chronic treatment with morphine induced heterologous adaptations in kinase regulation of GPCR desensitization. Although the canonical mechanism for acute
desensitization through phosphorylation by GRKs is supported in tissue taken from naïve animals, following chronic treatment with morphine, the acute kinase-dependent desensitization of GPCRs is disrupted such that additional kinases, including PKC and JNK, contribute to desensitization.

Introduction:

Acute desensitization of many GPCRs is initiated by G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK)-dependent phosphorylation (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019). Most work to date on the μ opioid receptor (MOR) has focused on phosphospecific antibodies and mutant receptors where phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus have been substituted with alanine (Williams et al., 2013). Two clusters of amino acid residues, 354 to 357 (TSST) and 375 to 379 (STANT), are phosphorylated following application of high efficacy agonists (Chen et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Just et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2011; Miess et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2002). Four additional phosphorylation sites, constituting 11 total phosphorylation sites on the C-terminal tail of MOR, are either phosphorylated constitutively or by activity-dependent kinases, such as PKC (Williams et al., 2013). All 11 sites contribute to acute desensitization and long-term tolerance in varying degrees. Partially phosphorylation-deficient mutant MORs virally expressed in the rat locus coeruleus (LC) blocked internalization and reduced acute desensitization (Arttamangkul et al., 2019; Birdsong et al., 2015; Yousuf et al., 2015). In addition, total phosphorylation-deficient (TPD) MORs, in which all 11 phosphorylation sites are mutated to alanine, nearly abolished acute desensitization in the LC of both naïve and morphine treated animals (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Kliewer et al., 2019), indicating that C-terminal phosphorylation is critical for MOR desensitization.

Acute desensitization in LC neurons is augmented and the recovery from desensitization is prolonged in slices taken from morphine treated animals (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Dang and Williams, 2004; Levitt and Williams, 2012; Quillinan et al., 2011). The mechanism that underlies this augmentation is not understood. In slices from naïve animals, inhibition of GRK2/3 with compound 101 blocked one measure of acute desensitization in LC neurons (Lowe et al., 2015). Following chronic morphine treatment, a second component of desensitization that was dependent on PKC was observed (Bailey et al., 2009a; Levitt and Williams, 2012). In addition, spinally-mediated acute analgesic tolerance induced by morphine administration involved JNK2 (Melief et al., 2010). Morphine-induced acute MOR desensitization in the dorsal root ganglion was also mediated by JNK (Mittal et al., 2012). Taken together, these results suggest that chronic treatment with morphine induced the involvement of additional kinase(s) that augment desensitization.

In the present study, the activation of potassium conductance in rat brain slices induced by opioids and somatostatin on LC neurons was used to examine how kinase inhibitors affect acute desensitization before and following chronic treatment with morphine. Although the GRK2/3 inhibitor, compound 101 (CMP101), blocked acute desensitization of MORs and somatostatin receptors in slices from untreated animals, CMP101 did not block desensitization of either receptor in slices from morphine treated animals. While inhibitors of PKC or JNK (Go6976 and SP600125 respectively) did not block acute desensitization in naïve animals, these inhibitors in combination with CMP101 nearly abolished acute desensitization in chronically treated animals. The results indicate that kinase regulation of GPCR desensitization fundamentally changed following chronic morphine treatment.

Materials and methods:

<u>Drugs:</u> Morphine sulfate was obtained from the National Institute on Drug Abuse, Neuroscience Center (Bethesda, MD). [Met]⁵enkephalin (ME), idazoxan, and β-chlornaltrexamine (β-CNA) were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Somatostatin was from ProSpec (ProSpec-Tany TechnoGene Ltd., Rehovot, Israel). MK-801 ((*5S*,10*R*)-(+)-5-Methyl-10,11-dihydro-5*H*dibenzo[*a,d*]cyclohepten-5,10-imine maleate) and compound 101 (CMP101, 3-[(4-methyl-5pyridin-4-yl-1,2,4-triazol-3-yl)methylamino]-N-[[2-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]methyl]benzamide hydrochloride) were purchased from Hello Bio (Princeton, NJ); Go6976 (3-(13-methyl-5-oxo-6,7-dihydro-5H-indolo[2,3-a]pyrrolo[3,4-c]carbazol-12(13H)-yl)propanenitrile), SP600125 (1,9-Pyrazoloanthrone), and UK14304 tartate (5-Bromo-6-(2-imidazolin-2-ylamino)quinoxaline) from Tocris (Bio-Techne Corp., Minneapolis, MN); and staurosporine from LC Laboratories (Woburn, MA). Potassium methanesulfonate was acquired from Alfa Aesar (Ward Hill, MA).

Somatostatin and ME (10 mM) were dissolved in water, diluted to the appropriate concentration in ACSF and applied by superfusion. Go6976, SP600125, and staurosporine (all 10 mM) were dissolved in DMSO. CMP101 was first dissolved in a small amount of DMSO (10% of final volume), sonicated, and then brought to its final volume with 20% (2-Hydroxypropyl)- β -cyclodextrin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and sonicated again to create a 10 mM solution. Slices were incubated in inhibitor(s) diluted in ACSF for at least 1 hour prior to recording and inhibitors were included in the bath and drug solutions at lower concentrations. β -CNA (10 mM) was dissolved in methanol and used at 30-100 nM in ACSF.

<u>Animals:</u> Adult rats of both sexes were used with ages between 5 – 8 weeks. Wildtype Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). MOR-knockout Sprague-Dawley rats were also used as described in Arttamangkul et al. (2019). All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health guidelines and with approval from the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Oregon Health & Science University (Portland, OR).

<u>Microinjections</u>: Animals (P24-30) were anesthetized with isoflurane and placed in a stereotaxic frame for microinjection of adeno associated virus type 2 (AAV2) encoding either wildtype MORs (exWT, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-WT-WPRE-SV40pA) or total phosphorylation-deficient MORs (TPD, AAV2-CAG-SS-GFP-MOR-TPD-WPRE-SV40pA) in the locus coeruleus (LC) of MOR knockout rats. 200 nL of virus was injected at 0.1 µl/min, bilaterally in the LC (AP: -9.72 mm, ML: ±1.25 mm, DV: -6.95 mm, from bregma) using a computer controlled stereotaxic frame (Neurostar, Tubingen, Germany). Both viruses were obtained from Virovek (Hayward, CA). Electrophysiology experiments were carried out 2-4 weeks following injection.

<u>Chronic Opioid Treatment:</u> Rats (5-6 weeks) were treated with morphine sulfate continuously released from osmotic pumps as described in Quillinan et al. (2011). Osmotic pumps (2ML1, Alzet, Cupertino, CA) were filled with the required concentration of morphine sulfate in water to deliver 80 mg/kg/day. Osmotic pumps were implanted subcutaneously in the mid-scapular region of rats maintained on isoflurane anesthesia and remained in the animals until they were used for experiments 6 or 7 days later.

<u>Tissue Preparation</u>: Horizontal slices (260 µm) containing LC neurons were prepared as previously described (Williams and North, 1984). Rats were deeply anesthetized and euthanized by cardiac percussion. Brains were removed, blocked, and placed in warm (34°C) ACSF

containing (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 MgCl₂, 2.6 CaCl₂, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 21.4 NAHCO₃, and 11 D-glucose with +MK-801 (10 μM), and cut horizontally (260 μm) using a vibratome (VT 1200S; Leica, Nussloch, Germany). Slices were allowed to recover in warm ACSF containing +MK-801 (10 μM) for at least 30 minutes and then stored in glass vials with warm (34°C), oxygenated (95% O₂/5% CO₂) ACSF until used.

<u>Electrophysiology</u>: Slices were hemisected and then transferred to the recording chamber, which was continuously superfused with 34°C carbogenated ACSF at 1.5-2 ml/min. Whole-cell recordings from LC neurons were obtained with an Axopatch 200B amplifier (Axon Instruments) in voltage-clamp mode ($V_{hold} = -60$ mV). Recording pipettes (World Precision Instruments, Saratosa, FL) with a resistance of 1.5-2 MΩ were filled with an internal solution of (in mM): 115 potassium methanesulfonate or potassium methyl sulfate, 20 KCl, 1.5 MgCl₂, 5 HEPES(K), 10 BAPTA, 2 Mg-ATP, 0.2 Na-GTP, pH 7.4, and 275–280 mOsM. Only recordings where the series resistance remained <15 MΩ were included. Data were collected at 400 Hz with PowerLab (Chart Version 8.1.8; AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

Internalization and imaging: Trafficking of virally expressed wildtype MORs was visualized as previously described (Arttamangkul et al., 2019). Briefly, acute brain slices (260 μ m) were prepared and then incubated with an anti-GFP nanobody conjugated to Alexa594 (Nb-A594, 10 mg/ml, 30-45 min). Images were captured before and after application of a saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) using a 2-photon microscope. A z-series of 10 sections was acquired at 1- μ m intervals so the whole neuron could be qualitatively compared.

<u>Data Analysis:</u> For all conditions, animals were used in order to obtain at least 6 technical replicates per group; if more than 6 could be analyzed, all were included. Analysis was

performed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, version 6.0d, San Diego, CA) based on number of technical replicates (number of slices). Values are presented as average \pm S.D. Statistical comparisons were made using one-way or two-way ANOVA, along with multiple comparison adjusted Tukey's post hoc tests, as appropriate. For all experiments P < 0.05 was used to describe significance.

Results:

Naïve Animals

GRK2/3 is necessary for acute desensitization of MOR in naïve animals

The selective, membrane-permeable, small-molecule GRK2/3 inhibitor, compound 101 (CMP101, Ikeda et al., 2007; Thal et al., 2011) was used to test the canonical mechanism of MOR desensitization by GRKs. Slices were incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour), perfused throughout the recording at a lower concentration (CMP101, 1 μ M) and CMP101 (10 μ M) was included in drug containing solutions. Recordings were made in brain slices containing the locus coeruleus (LC) to measure the outward current induced by activation of G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channels (GIRKs) by [Met]⁵enkephalin (ME).

Two measures of desensitization that have been examined in the past were also used in the present study. First, the current induced by an EC₅₀ concentration of ME (0.3 μ M) was measured before and after application of a saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M, 10 min). The degree of desensitization was taken as the relative current amplitude induced by ME (0.3 μ M) 5 min after washing the saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M) compared to the initial current amplitude induced by ME (0.3 μ M). Recovery from desensitization was measured with repeated applications of ME (0.3 μ M) for 20-40 min following the washout of the saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M, 10 min). The decline in the peak current during the application of the saturating

concentration of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) was used as a second measure of desensitization, henceforth referred to as acute decline.

ME induced desensitization (30 μ M, 10 min) as measured by both acute decline (58.8 ± 6.8% of peak, n = 15, Fig. 1A, E) and the decrease in the current induced by the EC₅₀ concentration of ME (0.3 μ M) 5 min after washing ME (30 μ M, 31.4 \pm 9.1%, n = 12, Fig. 1A, D). As reported previously, recovery from desensitization occurred over a period of 20-35 min. However, in the presence of CMP101 (10 µM), both measures of acute desensitization were substantially reduced (Fig. 1C-E). The inhibition of desensitization induced by CMP101 in WT rats, measured by both acute decline and recovery from desensitization, was indistinguishable from that found using mutant receptors having alanine mutations in all 11 C-terminus phosphorylation sites (total phosphorylation-deficient MORs, TPD MORs) expressed in MOR knockout rats (decline: WT CMP101: $83.5 \pm 2.4\%$ of peak, n = 6; TPD: $80.2 \pm 6.0\%$ of peak, n = 7; P = 0.591; relative current at 5 min: WT CMP101: $78.8 \pm 12.1\%$ of initial, n = 6; TPD: $76.9 \pm 9.5\%$ of initial, n = 7; P = 0.931; Fig. 1B-E; Arttamangkul et al., 2018). This block was not due to an increased sensitivity to agonist induced by CMP101 as the concentration-response curve for ME was not changed in the presence of CMP101 (Supplemental Fig. 1A, B). These results indicate that GRK2/3 is necessary for acute desensitization in naïve rats. To test whether GRK primarily acted on the phosphorylation sites on the C-terminal tail of MOR, we measured the effect of CMP101 on MOR desensitization in rats expressing TPD MORs. Notably, there was no additional effect of CMP101 on desensitization in slices from rats expressing TPD MORs (Supplemental Fig. 2A-C). Thus, the 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus are the main sites involved in GRK2/3mediated acute MOR desensitization.

GRK2/3 is necessary for MOR internalization

The internalization of MORs induced by efficacious agonists is also known to be dependent on phosphorylation of the C-terminus. Wildtype MORs (exWT MORs), but not TPD MORs, that were virally expressed in the LC of MOR knockout rats were efficiently internalized during application of a saturating concentration of ME (30 µM, 10 min, Arttamangkul et al., 2018). The internalization of virally expressed wildtype MORs was examined in slices from naïve animals in the absence and presence of CMP101. Expressed receptors had an N-terminus GFP-tag such that plasma membrane-associated receptors were immuno-labeled with an anti-GFP nanobody conjugated to Alexa594 and imaged using 2-photon microscopy (Fig. 2). Labeled receptors were visualized before and after application of a saturating concentration of ME (30 µM, 10 min). As in previous studies, MORs were internalized following the application of ME (Fig. 2A, Arttamangkul et al., 2018). When slices were incubated in CMP101 (30 µM, 1 hour) along with the nanobody, internalization of exWT receptors was blocked (Fig. 2B). Thus, phosphorylation of MOR by GRK2/3 is a critical step in the process of internalization as well as desensitization.

Other kinase inhibitors

In addition to GRK2/3, other kinases have been shown to play a role in acute MOR desensitization that include PKC and JNK. The acute decline, the decrease in the EC₅₀-induced current, and the recovery from ME-induced desensitization were measured in the presence of selective kinase inhibitors for PKC and JNK (Go6976 and SP600125, respectively). Brain slices from wildtype rats were incubated in Go6976 (1 μ M) or SP600125 (20 μ M) for at least one hour prior to the experiment. Acute desensitization, as measured by acute decline and recovery from desensitization, in the presence of Go6976 did not differ from that in control slices (Fig. 3B-D). Likewise, the JNK inhibitor, SP600125, had no effect on acute desensitization; there was,

however, an unexpected decrease in the recovery from desensitization at 10 min (Fig. 3A, C, D). Experiments were also performed in the presence of the non-selective kinase inhibitor, staurosporine, that does not act on GRKs. Slices were incubated in staurosporine (1 μ M) for at least an hour and staurosporine (100 nM) was included in the superfusion solution. As in experiments containing PKC or JNK inhibitors, staurosporine had no effect on acute MOR desensitization or acute decline in naïve animals (relative current at 5 min: 31.6 ± 5.4% of initial, n = 6, P > 0.999; decline: 59.3 ± 8.3% of peak, n = 6, P = 0.999). Thus, GRK2/3 is the major kinase(s) involved in acute MOR desensitization in the LC in slices from naïve animals and PKC or JNK alone are not sufficient to mediate acute desensitization of MOR under naïve conditions.

Morphine Treated Animals

In experiments with virally expressed TPD MORs, acute desensitization and signs of tolerance were blocked in morphine treated animals, indicating that phosphorylation of the receptor is necessary for the development of cellular tolerance (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Previous work indicated that chronic morphine treatment induced a component of desensitization that was PKC-dependent in LC neurons, suggesting chronic morphine treatment altered the kinase regulation of MOR (Levitt and Williams, 2012). In the present study, the change in kinase-dependent modulation of MOR signaling following chronic morphine treatment was examined using kinase inhibitors. Wildtype rats were treated with morphine (80 mg/kg per day) for 6-7 days with osmotic mini pumps. Brain slices were maintained in morphine-free solutions such that they were in a state of acute withdrawal. Acute desensitization was examined in slices from morphine treated animals in the absence and presence of the GRK2/3 inhibitor, CMP101. In slices not treated with CMP101, the recovery from desensitization was slowed as previously reported (Fig. 4A, C; Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Arttamangkul et al., 2019; Dang and Williams, 2004;

Quillinan et al., 2011). In slices that were incubated with CMP101, the acute decline in the peak ME current was blocked, but CMP101 had no effect on the decrease in the current induced by the EC₅₀ concentration (ME, 0.3 μ M) and the incomplete recovery from desensitization (Fig. 4B-D). Finally, the relative current induced by an EC₅₀ concentration of ME (0.3 μ M) compared to that induced by a saturating concentration of ME (30 μ M) was the same in the absence and presence of CMP101, suggesting that CMP101 did not change the sensitivity to ME (Fig. 4E). Thus, although CMP101 blocked two measures of desensitization in slices from naïve animals, following chronic treatment with morphine it had differing effects on the two forms of desensitization.

This observation could result from a difference in sensitivity of the two measures. A rightward shift in the concentration response curve could decrease the current induced by an EC₅₀ but not affect the peak outward current in slices from morphine treated animals. This possibility was examined by measuring the acute decline after partial irreversible block of receptors with the irreversible opioid receptor antagonist, β -chlornaltrexamine (β -CNA, 30-100 nM, 5 min) to reduce receptor reserve. Slices were incubated in β -CNA (100 nM, 5 min) after treatment with CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hr). The block of MORs was normalized to the current induced by the α 2-adrenergic receptor agonist, UK14304 (3 μ M). The peak current induced by ME (30 μ M) decreased from 124.1 ± 10.9% in control (n = 4) to 48.6 ± 16.2% after treatment with β -CNA (n = 12). There was no correlation between the ratio of the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M) relative to the peak current induced by UK14304 (3 μ M) and the extent of acute decline in the presence of β -CNA (Fig. 5F). In slices from naïve animals treated with β -CNA, CMP101 still blocked acute decline (Fig. 5B, E). However, in slices from morphine treated animals treated with β -CNA, CMP101 no longer blocked the acute decline (Fig. 5D, E). Although CMP101

blocked acute decline in slices from morphine treated animals, it was no longer effective following partial irreversible removal of receptors with β -CNA. Thus, inhibition of GRK2/3 no longer blocked this measure of desensitization.

The internalization of MOR induced by ME was also examined in slices from morphine treated animals incubated with and without CMP101. Slices from MOR knockout animals that expressed wildtype N-terminus linked GFP-MORs (exWT MORs) were incubated in a solution containing anti-GFP nanobodies conjugated with alexa594 (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Receptor trafficking was visualized with 2-photon microscopy in slices taken from morphine treated animals. Treatment with ME (30 µM, 10 min) induced internalization of the exWT MORs in slices from MTAs but internalization was blocked in slices that were incubated with CMP101 (Fig. 2C, D). Thus, GRK2/3 is necessary for internalization of MOR in both naïve and MTAs. The observation that internalization was blocked by CMP101 but desensitization measured by the recovery from desensitization was not affected further suggests that desensitization and internalization are separate processes (Arttamangkul et al., 2006). The results also indicate that GRK2/3 activity was not eliminated following chronic morphine treatment, suggesting that something other than, or in addition to, GRK2/3 must mediate desensitization in MTAs.

PKC and JNK contribute to acute desensitization after chronic morphine treatment

Given that the decrease in the recovery from desensitization following chronic morphine treatment was insensitive to CMP101, the action of PKC and JNK inhibitors on this measure was examined in slices from morphine treated animals. There was no change in the extent or rate of recovery of the current induced by ME (0.3 μ M) in slices that were incubated with the JNK inhibitor alone (Fig. 6A, E). In contrast, this measure of desensitization was significantly attenuated when slices were incubated with both the JNK inhibitor and CMP101 (Fig. 6B, E). When the combination of CMP101 and the PKC inhibitor, Go6976, were examined, there was a small reduction in acute desensitization following chronic morphine treatment (Fig. 6C, E). Finally, when all three kinase inhibitors were applied, a near complete inhibition of desensitization was observed (Fig. 6D, E). In these experiments, the desensitization was the same as that observed in experiments using expression of the GFP-TPD MORs in MOR knockout animals (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). It is interesting to note that neither the PKC nor JNK inhibitor had an additional effect on the acute decline of the current induced by a saturating concentration of ME (30μ M, Fig. 6F).

The non-selective kinase blocker, staurosporine, was used to determine if additional kinase activity contributed to the induction of desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals. Staurosporine alone had no effect on acute desensitization measured by the acute decline (decline: $58.7 \pm 5.7\%$ of peak, n = 7, P = 0.264, Fig. 7A, D) or the recovery from desensitization at 5 min (relative current at 5 min: $31.1 \pm 5.6\%$ of initial, n = 7, P = 0.173, Fig. 7A, C). Experiments with staurosporine in combination with CMP101 were not significantly different from those using all three specific inhibitors (CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125; relative current at 5 min: $75.2 \pm 9.0\%$ of initial, n = 6; P = 0.502; Fig. 6D, E; Fig. 7B-D). This further supports the idea that while kinases other than GRK2/3 are upregulated following chronic treatment, GRK2/3 activity is not downregulated as the block of desensitization still required treatment with CMP101. In addition, although CMP101 no longer blocked the acute decline in slices from morphine treated animals after treatment with β -CNA, the acute decline was blocked in slices from morphine treated animals treated with β -CNA in the presence of CMP101 and staurosporine (30 μ M, 1 μ M respectively; MTA β CNA CMP101: $50.9 \pm 8.7\%$ of peak, n = 8;

MTA β CNA CMP101 staurosporine: 76.4 ± 6.2% of peak, n = 8, P < 0.0001). Taken together, the results indicate that chronic morphine treatment induced an adaptive response in the kinase regulation of MORs that involves GRK2/3, JNK, and PKC.

Chronic morphine treatment and heterologous desensitization of somatostatin receptors

Somatostatin activates the same potassium conductance as opioids as determined by occlusion experiments (Fiorillo and Williams, 1996) and is known to be phosphorylated by GRK2/3 (Gunther et al., 2018). Desensitization of the somatostatin receptor was induced by somatostatin (SST, 20 μ M, 10 min) and the decline in the peak current during the application was measured. The recovery from desensitization could not be tested because of the extended time it took to wash from the slice preparation. In order to obtain a baseline at the end of the application of SST, BaCl₂ (100 μ M) was used to reverse current by blocking the potassium conductance.

The inhibition of desensitization induced by the kinase inhibitors was tested in slices from naïve and morphine treated animals. Treatment with SST (20 μ M, 10 min) resulted in robust desensitization that was significantly reduced in slices incubated with CMP101 (Fig. 8A, B, F). The desensitization induced by SST was larger in slices taken from morphine treated animals (Fig. 8C, F). The acute decline in the current induced by somatostatin measured in slices from morphine treated animals was insensitive to CMP101 (Fig. 8D, F). The insensitivity to CMP101 was similar to that found with MORs with measures of recovery from desensitization and the acute decline (following treatment with β -CNA). When the desensitization of the somatostatin receptor was examined in the presence of the kinase inhibitors, CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125, desensitization was significantly reduced (Fig. 8E, F). Thus, chronic morphine treatment induced a heterologous adaptive response on the kinase regulation of both MOR and the somatostatin receptor.

Discussion:

The present study examined kinase regulation of MORs and somatostatin (SST) receptors in LC neurons before and following chronic treatment with morphine. Inhibition of GRK2/3 with the selective inhibitor, CMP101, blocked acute MOR and SST desensitization in slices from naïve animals. Following chronic treatment with morphine, the kinase regulation of both MORs and SST receptors changed. Internalization of MORs induced by ME remained sensitive to CMP101, however the slowed recovery from desensitization was insensitive to CMP101. In addition, following the partial irreversible block of MORs in slices from morphine treated animals, CMP101 no longer blocked the acute decline. Thus, measures of acute desensitization and cellular tolerance to ME were insensitive to inhibition of GRK2/3. Although inhibitors of PKC and JNK had no effect on acute MOR desensitization in slices from naïve animals, in combination with CMP101, these inhibitors resulted in a near complete block of desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals. Taken together, the results show that chronic morphine treatment induced a heterologous adaptation in the kinase regulation of two GPCRs.

Naïve Animals

Canonically, phosphorylation by GRKs initiates acute homologous desensitization of GPCRs (Gurevich & Gurevich, 2019). As previously reported, inhibition of GRK2/3 with CMP101 blocked both measures of desensitization in slices taken from naïve animals (Lowe et al., 2015). Multiple sites on the C-terminus of MOR are directly phosphorylated by GRK2/3, suggesting that GRK2/3-dependent desensitization is likely through direct phosphorylation of MOR (Chen

et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Just et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2011). The effect of CMP101 on MOR desensitization in WT rats, as measured by both acute decline and recovery from desensitization, was indistinguishable from that of desensitization of expressed TPD MORs, where all 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus of MOR were mutated to alanine. In addition, CMP101 did not alter the small amount of desensitization in slices from rats expressing TPD MORs. The results suggest that the 11 phosphorylation sites on the C terminus underlie GRK2/3-dependent desensitization with little role of additional phosphorylation sites on the intracellular loops.

Morphine Treated Animals

While CMP101 blocked two measures of acute MOR desensitization and internalization in slices from naïve animals, it had mixed actions in slices taken from morphine treated animals. The acute decline and internalization of MORs remained sensitive to CMP101 in slices from morphine treated animals. However, the slowed recovery from desensitization measured using the EC₅₀ concentration was no longer sensitive to CMP101. It is possible that the two different measures of desensitization are dependent on separate processes (Arttamangkul et al., 2015; Birdsong et al., 2015), although following partial irreversible block of receptors with β -CNA, the acute decline was also insensitive to CMP101. Therefore, while inhibiting the activity of GRK2/3 blocked desensitization in naïve animals, it was not sufficient to block desensitization following chronic morphine treatment. Given CMP101 blocked internalization and the acute decline of the current induced by ME (without preincubation with β -CNA) in morphine treated animals, this suggests GRK2/3 remained active following chronic morphine treatment. There was also no indication that the sensitivity to ME was changed by CMP101 given that there was no change in the ratio of the current induced by ME ($0.3/30 \mu$ M) in slices taken from both naïve and morphine treated animals.

The results support the idea that following chronic morphine treatment, additional kinases contribute to desensitization. One component of acute desensitization was dependent on PKC following chronic morphine treatment (Bailey et al., 2009a; Levitt and Williams, 2012). In addition, morphine-induced acute MOR desensitization in the dorsal root ganglion (Mittal et al., 2012), spinally-mediated acute analgesic tolerance induced by morphine administration (Melief et al., 2010) and centrally-mediated tolerance to morphine all involved JNK (Kuhar et al., 2015). In the present study, when the combination of staurosporine and CMP101 was used, the results were indistinguishable from those using the combination of selective inhibitors of GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK. Thus, GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK all contribute to desensitization following chronic treatment with morphine.

While inhibitors of GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK blocked the majority of acute desensitization (~80% of initial), a small amount of desensitization remained. This incomplete block could be either incomplete inhibition of kinases due to incomplete penetration or an as yet unknown phosphorylation-independent mechanism of acute desensitization. It is also possible that phosphorylation by kinases not affected by the inhibitors at sites other than the C-terminal tail could be responsible.

It is unclear how PKC and JNK are contributing to desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals. Although GRK2/3 has been shown to directly phosphorylate MOR, there is no evidence for direct phosphorylation of MOR by JNK. Arrestin can act as a scaffold for JNK (Kook et al., 2013; Zhan et al., 2013); however, morphine-induced JNK activation was arrestin-independent and PKC- and Src-dependent (Kuhar et al., 2015). Phosphorylation of MOR by PKC is known but the mechanism that underlies the morphine-induced activation of PKC has not

been characterized (Chen et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2011; Illing et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2002). The activation of PKC induced by muscarine enhanced desensitization of wildtype and also TPD MORs, indicating that PKC could increase desensitization through a mechanism that is independent of phosphorylation of the C-terminal tail (Arttamangkul et al., 2018). Thus, PKC and JNK could contribute to desensitization indirectly through phosphorylation of a component of the receptor signaling complex, preventing G-protein activation through an alternative process to GRK2/3-mediated desensitization. Heterologous desensitization in HEK293 cells through PKC-dependent phosphorylation of $G\alpha_{i2}$ has been reported (Chu et al., 2010). An alternative possibility is that PKC and/or JNK may act to mediate desensitization through phosphorylation of RGS proteins to turn off signaling, as has been reported in some cell types (Garzon et al., 2005; Ogier-Denis et al., 2000). Lastly, JNKdependent desensitization resulted from JNK-dependent activation of peroxiredoxin 6 (PRDX6) to generate reactive oxygen species via NADPH oxidase that reduced the palmitoylation of receptor G α i subunits that impacted MOR signaling (Schattauer et al., 2017).

Heterologous kinase-dependent signaling following morphine treatment

Chronic morphine treatment resulted in a heterologous modulation of GRK2/3-induced desensitization of the somatostatin receptor. Desensitization of somatostatin receptors was augmented in tissue taken from morphine treated animals and the inhibition of GRK2/3 by CMP101 was less effective. The co-application of PKC and JNK inhibitors along with CMP101 was required to substantially block somatostatin-induced desensitization in slices taken from morphine treated animals, indicating a heterologous adaptation of kinase regulation following chronic morphine treatment. The somatostatin receptor contains phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus that are phosphorylated by GRK2/3 and PKC, but not JNK (Gunther et al., 2018).

There is also evidence that acute desensitization of MOR in slices from naïve animals results in heterologous desensitization of the somatostatin receptor (Fiorillo and Williams, 1996). The present results suggest that this heterologous action is the result of the recruitment of GRK2/3 to the plasma membrane to affect not only MORs but also SST receptors.

That the desensitization induced by SST was not sensitive to the inhibition induced by CMP101 following chronic morphine treatment is unlike what was observed for the same measure of MOR desensitization. The acute decline in the current induced by ME (30 μ M) remained sensitive to inhibition by CMP101. Thus, that measure of desensitization was dependent on GRK2/3. However, following the partial irreversible block of MORs with β -CNA, the acute decline in the current was no longer sensitive to CMP101. Given that a decrease in receptor reserve in LC neurons is induced following chronic morphine (Christie et al., 1987), it seems unlikely a decrease in receptor reserve alone is responsible for the change in sensitivity to CMP101 following treatment with β -CNA. It is clear however, that as was observed with the slowed recovery from desensitization, the acute decline in the current induced by ME (30 μ M, following treatment with β -CNA) was not solely dependent on GRK2/3 in slices taken from morphine treated animals.

Conclusion

This study demonstrated that chronic morphine treatment induced heterologous adaptations in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization for two GPCRs. This may be one adaptation responsible for the augmentation of desensitization seen in animals chronically treated with morphine and therefore may contribute to behavioral tolerance. The surprising adaptive change

in kinase regulation of GPCRs may have significant functional consequences that are not directly related to opioid receptors.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank Drs. Stephanie Gantz, Brooks Robinson, and William Birdsong for helpful discussions.

Author Contributions:

Participated in Research Design: Leff, Williams Conducted Experiments: Leff, Arttamangkul Performed data analysis: Leff Wrote or contributed to writing of the manuscript: Leff, Williams



Figure 1: GRK2/3 is necessary for acute desensitization of MOR in naïve animals. Example trace showing the G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channel (GIRK) currents induced by $[Met]^5$ enkephalin (ME, 0.3 µM) before and following application of ME (30 µM, 10 min) and summary of recovery from µ-opioid receptor (MOR) desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in locus coeruleus (LC) slices from (A) wildtype (WT) controls (n = 12 slices, 8 animals), (B) MOR KO animals virally expressing total phosphorylation deficient (TPD) mutant MORs in the LC (n = 7 slices, 7 animals), and (C) WT incubated in the GRK2/3 inhibitor, compound 101 (CMP101, 30 µM, 1 hr, n = 6 slices, 4 animals). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1 µM) and drug solutions (10 µM). Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (D) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (E) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT

controls (light blue open circles), TPD controls (purple open diamonds), and WT incubated in CMP101 (salmon open squares). Data presented as average \pm S.D., ****P < 0.0001.



Figure 2: GRK2/3 inhibitor blocks internalization in both naïve and morphine treated animals. An anti-GFP nanobody conjugated to alexa594 was used to image expressed WT (exWT) receptors in the LC before (top) and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min, bottom). Receptor distribution was imaged in both (A, B) naïve and (C, D) MTAs both in the (A, C) absence and (B, D) presence of CMP101 (1 μ M). Experiments containing CMP101 were incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour) prior to imaging. The exWT receptors internalized and became punctate in slices from (A, bottom) naïve (n = 4 slices, 4 animals) and (C, bottom) MTAs (n = 3 slices, 4 animals) in the absence of CMP101. Receptor trafficking was inhibited in slices both (B, bottom) naïve (n = 6 slices, 4 animals) and (D, bottom) MTAs (n = 6 slices, 4 animals) in the presence of CMP101. Scale bar = 10 μ m.



Figure 3: PKC and JNK kinases not sufficient for acute MOR desensitization in naïve animals. Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in slices from (A) WT animals incubated in a JNK inhibitor (SP600125, 20 μ M, 1 hour, n = 9 slices, 5 animals) or (B) a PKC inhibitor (Go6976, 1 μ M, 1 hour, n = 7 slices, 5 animals). Inhibitors were also included in the bath (1 μ M, 100 nM respectively) and drug solutions (10 μ M, 1 μ M respectively). Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized

as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (C) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (D) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT controls (light blue open circles), WT incubated in SP600125 (light green open upside down triangles), WT incubated in Go6976 (light purple open triangles), and WT incubated in CMP101 (salmon open squares). Data presented as average \pm S.D., *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ****P < 0.0001.



Figure 4: GRK2/3 inhibitor blocks acute desensitization in naïve but not morphine treated animals. Experiments were in slices from morphine treated animals (MTAs). Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in slices from (A) WT MTA (n = 7 slices, 6 animals) or (B) WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour, n = 8 slices, 5 animals). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1

 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M). Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (C) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc), (D) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc), and (E) ME 0.3 μ M /30 μ M ratio (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT controls (light blue open circles), WT MTA (dark blue closed circles), WT incubated in CMP101 (salmon open squares), and WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (red closed squares). Data presented as average \pm S.D., *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001.



Figure 5: GRK2/3 inhibitor does not block acute decline in morphine treated animals after partial irreversible block of MORs. Experiments were performed in slices from both naïve and MTAs. Example trace showing the decline in the peak current during application of ME (30 μM, 10 min) followed by the current induced by UK14304 (UK, 3 μM) and reversed with idazoxan (1 μ M) in slices from (A) WT naïve incubated in the irreversible MOR antagonist, β-CNA (30-100 nM, 5 min, n = 12 slices, 4 animals), (B) WT naïve incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour) and then β-CNA (30-100 nM, 5 min, n = 9 slices, 6 animals), (C) WT MTA incubated in β-CNA (30-

100 nM, 5 min, n = 8 slices, 4 animals), and (D) WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour) and then β -CNA (30-100 nM, 5 min, n = 8 slices, 4 animals). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M). Summary graphs showing (E) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (F) the correlation between the ratio of the peak current induced by ME (30 μ M) relative to the peak current induced by UK (3 μ M) and the extent of acute decline in the presence of β -CNA (linear regression) for WT naïve incubated in β -CNA (light blue open circles, shaded box), WT naïve incubated in CMP101 and then β -CNA (salmon open squares, shaded box), WT MTA incubated in β -CNA (red closed squares, shaded box). Data presented as average ± S.D., **P < 0.01, ****P < 0.0001.



Figure 6: PKC and JNK are sufficient to cause acute desensitization in morphine treated animals. Experiments were conducted in slices from MTAs. Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in slices from (A) WT MTA incubated in CMP101 and Go6976 (30 μ M, 1 μ M, 1 hour, n = 5 slices, 3 animals), (B) WT MTA incubated in CMP101 and SP600125 (30 μ M, 20 μ M, 1 hour, n = 6 slices, 4 animals), (C) WT MTA incubated in SP600125 (20 μ M, 1 hour, n = 8 slices, 6 animals),

and (D) WT MTA incubated in all three kinase inhibitors, CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125 (30 μ M, 1 μ M, 20 μ M, 1 hour, n = 6 slices, 4 animals). Inhibitors were also included in the bath and drug solutions at lower concentrations. Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (E) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc), (F) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc), and (G) ME 0.3 μ M /30 μ M ratio (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT MTA controls (dark blue circles), WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (red squares), WT MTA incubated in SP600125 (green upside down triangles), WT MTA incubated in CMP101 and Go6976 (purple triangles), WT MTA incubated in all three inhibitors (brown asterisks). Data presented as average ± S.D., **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.



Figure 7: GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK are the three main kinases involved in acute

desensitization in morphine treated animals. Experiments were conducted in slices taken from MTAs. Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in slices from (A) WT MTA incubated in the nonspecific kinase inhibitor, staurosporine (Stp, 1 μ M, 1 hour, n = 7 slices, 4 animals) or (B) WT MTA incubated in staurosporine and CMP101 (1 μ M, 30 μ M, 1 hour, n = 6 slices, 4 animals). Grey

lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (C) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (D) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT MTA controls (dark blue circles), WT incubated in staurosporine (dark grey plusses), WT incubated in staurosporine and CMP101 (black stars), and WT incubated in the 3 inhibitors: CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125 (brown asterisks). Data presented as average \pm S.D., **P < 0.01, ****P < 0.0001.



Figure 8: Chronic treatment with morphine induces a heterologous adaptation in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization. Example trace showing the decline in current induced by Somatostatin (SST, 20 μ M, 10 min) in slices from (A) WT naïve animals (n = 11 slices, 6 animals), (B) WT naïve incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour, n = 6 slices, 5 animals), (C) WT MTA (n = 7 slices, 6 animals), (D) WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour, n = 6 slices, 5 animals), and (E) WT MTA incubated in all 3 inhibitors, CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125 (30 μ M, 1 μ M, 20 μ M, 1 hour, n = 7 slices, 5 animals). CMP101 was also included in

the bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M) as were CMP101, Go6976, and SP600125 when all 3 were used. (F) Summary graph showing acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for WT naïve (light blue open circles), WT naïve incubated in CMP101 (light pink open squares), WT MTA (dark blue circles), WT MTA incubated in CMP101 (dark pink squares), and WT MTA incubated in all 3 inhibitors (brown asterisks). Data presented as average \pm S.D., **P < 0.01, ****P < 0.0001.

Supplemental Figures:



Supplemental Figure 1: GRK2/3 inhibitor does not alter MOR sensitivity to ME. (A)

Example trace showing currents induced by different concentrations of the MOR agonist ME (0.3, 1, and 0.1 μ M) and a saturating concentration of the α 2-adrenergic receptor agonist, UK14304 (UK, 3 μ M), which was reversed by the antagonist Idazoxan (Ida, 1 μ M). (B) Concentration-response curves for WT controls (light blue open circles, n = 3-4/concentration)

and WT incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour, salmon open squares, n = 3-4/concentration). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M). ME-induced current responses were normalized as a percentage of the current induced by UK. Curves were fit using nonlinear regression (log[agonist] vs. response – variable slope (four parameters)). There was no significant difference between the curves for any of the parameters (extra sum-of-squares F test, P = 0.5207). Data presented as average \pm S.D.



Supplemental Figure 2: GRK2/3 inhibitor does not further block desensitization in slices from animals expressing TPD MORs. Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application of ME (30 μ M, 10 min) and summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in slices from (A) MOR KO animals virally expressing TPD MORs in the LC and incubated in CMP101 (30 μ M, 1 hour, n = 7 slices, 5 animals). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M). Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. Summary graphs showing (B) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (C) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for TPD controls (purple open diamonds) and TPD incubated in CMP101 (pink x's). Data presented as average ± S.D.

Chapter 5: Additional Experiments

Naïve Animals

So far, this study has shown that the 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus of MOR play varying roles in measures of acute desensitization and cellular tolerance (Chapter 3) and that chronic morphine treatment induces an adaptation in the kinase-regulation of acute desensitization such that JNK and PKC contribute to MOR desensitization (Chapter 4). Thus, mutant receptors (TSST 4A and STANT 3A) used in chapter 3 were again used to further elucidate how the different phosphorylation site clusters contribute to the adaptation observed in chapter 4. Similar to previous experiments, the acute decline, decrease in the EC₅₀-induced current, and recovery from ME-induced desensitization were measured in slices from MOR KO animals virally expressing either expressed WT (exWT), TSST 4A, or STANT 3A mutant MORs in the LC. Again, GRK2/3 activity was blocked with the GRK2/3-specific inhibitor, CMP101.

Like for endogenous wildtype MORs, these experiments showed that CMP101 blocked both measures of acute desensitization (acute decline and recovery) for each receptor (exWT, TSST 4A, and STANT 3A) in slices from naïve animals (**Figure 5.1A-E**). Although there were small significant differences in the recovery from desensitization at 5 and 10 min between the TSST 4A and STANT 3A mutants, desensitization of each respective mutant did not significantly differ from that of exWT MORs. Thus, CMP101 blocked desensitization for each receptor to similar degrees (**Figure 5.1A-E**). However, when these results are compared to the extent of desensitization in the absence of CMP101 for each respective receptor as reported in Arttamangkul et al. 2018 and Arttamangkul et al., 2019 (Chapter 3, indicated by dark grey circles in the recovery graphs of **Figure 5.1**), important differences arise.



Figure 5.1: The STANT cluster is more involved in GRK2/3-mediated desensitization than the **TSST cluster.** Example trace showing the GIRK currents induced by [Met]⁵enkephalin (ME, 0.3 µM) before and following application of ME (30 µM, 10 min) and summary of recovery from µ-opioid receptor (MOR) desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization in locus coeruleus (LC) slices from MOR KO rats virally expressing (A) wildtype (exWT) MORs in the LC incubated in the GRK2/3 inhibitor, compound 101 (CMP101, 30 μ M, 1 hr, n = 4 slices, 2 animals), (B) mutant MORs with alanine mutation of the TSST cluster (TSST 4A) in the LC incubated in CMP101 (n = 6 slices, 3 animals), and (C) mutant MORs with alanine mutation of the STANT cluster (STANT 3A) in the LC incubated in CMP101 (n = 6 slices, 4 animals). CMP101 was also included in the bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 µM). Grev lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized as a percentage of the prepulse. The extent of desensitization at 5 min for each respective receptor (exWT, TSST 4A, and STANT 3A) as reported in Arttamangkul et al. (2018, 2019) is shown with a dark gray circle in each recovery graph. Summary graphs showing (D) recovery from desensitization (2way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) and (E) acute decline (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc) for exWT incubated in CMP101 (green open circles), TSST 4A incubated in CMP101 (blue half closed cirlces), and STANT 3A incubated in CMP101 (magenta half closed circles). Data presented as average \pm S.D

In the absence of CMP101, desensitization of TSST 4A mutant MORs is similar to that

for exWT MORs. Contrastingly, acute desensitization for the STANT 3A mutant was

significantly blocked, even in the absence of CMP101, with an additional effect of CMP101

(Figure 5.1C). Thus, CMP101 had a larger effect in blocking desensitization of the TSST 4A

mutant when compared to the STANT 3A mutant. Together, these results indicate that the STANT cluster plays a larger role in GRK2/3-mediated desensitization than the TSST cluster.

Morphine Treated Animals

Although acute desensitization was not blocked for the TSST 4A mutant in slices from naïve animals, one measure of cellular tolerance was affected, indicating that TSST is involved in mechanism(s) underlying cellular tolerance. To determine whether the TSST cluster is necessary for the adaptation in kinase regulation observed in Chapter 4, both measures of acute desensitization were again measured in slices from MOR KO animals virally expressing TSST 4A MORs in the LC and chronically treated with morphine for 6-7 days (80 mg/kg/day) using osmotic mini pumps.

Similar to experiments in slices from wildtype animals from Chapter 4, although CMP101 blocked acute desensitization of TSST 4A MORs in slices from naïve animals (**Figure 5.1B, D-E**), it was not sufficient to block acute desensitization of TSST 4A MORs in slices from MTAs as measured by recovery from desensitization, but did block the acute decline (**Figure 5.2A-C**). Thus, there was an increase in desensitization for TSST 4A MORs after chronic morphine treatment that was not dependent on GRK2/3. The recovery from desensitization of TSST 4A MORs in slices from MTAs looks very similar in the absence (Chapter 3, **Figure 6**) and presence of CMP101 (**Figure 5.2B**), with only a small decrease in the extent of desensitization at 5 min by CMP101. Therefore, although the recovery from desensitization is greater for TSST 4A MORs in slices from MTAs when compared to that for wildtype MORs, this is likely due to mutation of TSST taker than CMP101. The lessened effect of CMP101 in blocking desensitization of TSST 4A MORs after chronic morphine treatment could be dependent on PKC and JNK.


Figure 5.2: Desensitization in MTAs occurs independently of the KO animals virally TSST cluster. Experiments were performed in slices from MOR KO rats that were chronically treated with morphine and virally expressing TSST 4A TSST 4A mutant MORs in the LC. Slices were incubated in CMP101 prior to recording (30 µM, 1 hr) and CMP101 was also included in the mutant MORs. bath (1 μ M) and drug solutions (10 μ M). (A) Example trace showing the currents induced by ME (0.3 μ M) before and following application Although it should be of ME (30 µM, 10 min). (B) Summary of recovery from MOR desensitization at 5, 10, and 20 minutes post desensitization (n = 6 slices, confirmed that all three 4 animals). Grey lines indicate individual n's and colored lines indicate averages. Current amplitudes following desensitization are normalized inhibitors block as a percentage of the prepulse. The extent of desensitization at 5 min as reported in Arttamangkul et al. (2019) is shown with a dark gray circle desensitization under in the recovery graph. (C) Summary graph showing acute decline. Data presented as average \pm S.D.

that JNK and PKC can still induce desensitization in morphine treated MOR these conditions.

Therefore, while it is unclear how PKC and JNK are activated to induce desensitization and how PKC and JNK cause MOR desensitization, these results indicate that phosphorylation of TSST is not necessary for either. This suggests that PKC and JNK do not phosphorylate MOR at TSST to cause desensitization, consistent with literature showing that PKC can phosphorylate MOR at Ser363 or Thr370, and not at the TSST cluster, and that JNK may not phosphorylate MOR directly (Chen et al., 2013; Doll et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2013). This is also consistent with the results from above showing that STANT contributes more to desensitization than the TSST cluster. Finally, these results also indicate that PKC and JNK are not activated during chronic morphine treatment as a result of phosphorylation of TSST. Thus, although

mutation of TSST reduces one measure of cellular tolerance (Chapter 3), it does not seem to block the adaptation by PKC and JNK observed in Chapter 4.

These experiments should be extended with use of the STANT 3A and STANT 7A mutants. Results could elucidate whether STANT is necessary for the activation of PKC and JNK to cause desensitization and/or whether PKC and JNK act on STANT to cause desensitization. However, interpreting these results may prove difficult since blocking phosphorylation at Ser375/STANT reduces phosphorylation at other sites (Williams et al., 2013).

Chapter 6: Discussion

The work presented here aimed to understand how phosphorylation by kinases and of specific residues on the C-terminus of MOR contributes to acute desensitization and cellular tolerance of MOR in order to gain a better understanding of MOR regulatory events leading to long-term tolerance to morphine. In Chapter 4, a combination of whole-cell electrophysiology and inhibition of select kinase activity was used to determine the kinases involved in acute desensitization and cellular tolerance. Results showed that chronic morphine treatment shifted the kinase regulation of acute desensitization from mainly GRK2/3-mediated to GRK2/3-, PKC-, and JNK-mediated. Further study is necessary to understand the mechanism underlying this PKC/JNK-dependent cellular tolerance and whether it contributes to clinically-relevant behavioral tolerance. In Chapter 3 and Chapter 5, whole-cell electrophysiology and viral expression of phosphorylation-deficient mutant MORs with alanine or glutamate mutation of Cterminal phosphorylation sites were used to examine the relative role of phosphorylation sites in acute desensitization and cellular tolerance. Results indicated that the different phosphorylation sites contribute to acute desensitization and cellular tolerance in varying degrees. Overall, this study showed that while the phosphorylation sites and kinases involved in acute desensitization and cellular tolerance distinguished the two processes, a chronic morphine-induced increase in desensitization by PKC and JNK contributed to cellular tolerance. This may be one adaptation underlying the increase in desensitization seen after chronic morphine treatment.

Phosphorylation, Acute Desensitization, and Tolerance

Kinase Regulation of Acute Desensitization

The canonical mechanism for acute GPCR desensitization is through phosphorylation of C-terminal Ser/Thr residues by GRKs (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019). Indeed, there is good

evidence that inhibition of GRK2/3 activity reduces or eliminates acute MOR desensitization (Lowe et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2013). This study verified these results, showing that inhibition of GRK2/3 with the high specificity inhibitor, CMP101, blocked two separate measures of acute desensitization in LC neurons in slices from naïve animals. Thus, the canonical mechanism of GPCR desensitization is supported for MOR.

It is clear that GRK2/3 can directly phosphorylate multiple Ser/Thr residues on the Cterminus of MOR (Miess et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2013). Indeed, results from this study indicate that GRK2/3-dependent desensitization is likely through direct phosphorylation of MOR. The effect of CMP101 on MOR desensitization in WT rats, as measured by both acute decline and recovery from desensitization, was indistinguishable from that of desensitization of expressed total-phosphorylation deficient mutant MORs, in which all 11 phosphorylation sites on the C-terminus of MOR are mutated to alanine. Additionally, the effect of CMP101 on desensitization was occluded in slices from rats expressing TPD MORs. These results suggest that the 11 mutated residues are the main sites involved in GRK2/3-dependent desensitization with little role of additional phosphorylation sites on the intracellular loops.

The relative role of GRK2 versus GRK3 cannot be determined from this study since CMP101 inhibits both isoforms. Previous studies have indicated roles for both GRK2 and GRK3 in acute desensitization (Williams et al., 2013). Recently, Lowe et al. (2015) indicated that GRK3 is not solely responsible, suggesting that GRK2 and GRK3 both play a role. Thus it is likely that both GRK2 and GRK3 contribute to desensitization.

Although the majority of acute desensitization was blocked for TPD MORs as well as for WT and TPD MORs in the presence of CMP101, a similarly small amount of desensitization remained unaffected for each. This is in agreement with another study showing that CMP101

was not sufficient to completely block acute desensitization (Lowe et al., 2015). This suggests GRK2/3-independent mechanisms of acute desensitization involving sites other than the 11 on the C-terminus in addition to the canonical mechanism of phosphorylation of the C-terminus of MOR by GRK2/3.

Unlike GRK2/3 inhibition, inhibition of PKC or JNK had no effect on acute desensitization in slices from naïve animals. That GRK2/3 inhibition was sufficient to block the majority of acute desensitization is in contrast to studies that have shown involvement of other kinases in acute MOR desensitization, including PKC, JNK, and ERK1/2 (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Dang et al., 2009; Levitt and Williams, 2012; Mittal et al., 2012). The reason for the disparity between these studies is unclear. Although this study did not try inhibitors for ERK1/2, Lowe et al. (2015) showed that ERK1/2 inhibition had no effect on desensitization. It cannot be ruled out that other kinase inhibitors in combination with CMP101, or for TPD MORs, could block even more acute desensitization since the present study only used one kinase inhibitor at a time in slices from naïve animals. Given that stimulated PKC activity increased acute MOR desensitization for TPD MORs (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Bailey et al., 2009a), and that acute MOR desensitization by morphine was only blocked by the combination of mutation of the 11 phosphorylation sites and PKC inhibition (Yousuf et al., 2015), it should be confirmed whether inhibition of PKC and/or JNK (as well as other kinases) further reduces acute desensitization of TPD MORs or wildtype MORs in the presence of CMP101 in slices from naïve animals.

Some differences between previous studies may also be attributed to differences between experimental conditions and design. Many of these studies were conducted in heterologous expression systems where concentrations of signaling or regulatory components may differ from

native neurons. As mentioned, overexpression of regulatory proteins such as GRKs or arrestins can greatly affect measures of MOR activity (Miess et al., 2018; Whistler and von Zastrow, 1998; Zhang et al., 1998). In addition, differences may exist between different effector systems measured and brain area or cell type examined. Further experiments should be completed to see if this canonical mechanism holds true in other cell types and brain regions. It is also possible that GRK2/3 contributes to rapid acute desensitization with other kinases being involved with more prolonged MOR activation such as with short- and long-term cellular and analgesic tolerance. Indeed, previous studies have found involvement of other kinases in short- and longterm tolerance (Birdsong and Williams, 2020).

Kinase Regulation of Cellular Tolerance

An increase in acute desensitization and a reduced recovery from desensitization are established measures of cellular tolerance (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). This study therefore also examined how kinase inhibitors affected measures of desensitization in rats treated chronically with morphine. While CMP101 blocked both measures of acute MOR desensitization in slices from naïve animals, it had mixed results in slices from animals treated chronically with morphine. CMP101 blocked the acute decline but had no effect on the more sensitive measure of desensitization, recovery from desensitization measured using EC₅₀ concentrations. It is unclear why CMP101 had opposing effects on the two different measures of desensitization. There is some evidence that these two different measures of desensitization actually measure two separate processes (Arttamangkul et al., 2015; Birdsong et al., 2015). However, it is also possible that the reason for this difference is because of the difference in sensitivities between the measures. LC neurons contain significant MOR reserve, which needs to be removed before any decrease in the current induced by a saturating concentration of ME can be detected (Connor et al., 2004).

The present study showed that the acute decline was no longer blocked by CMP101 in slices from morphine treated animals after partial irreversible block of receptors with the irreversible antagonist, β -CNA. These results suggest that the observed dichotomy between the two measures of desensitization can be accounted for by the differences in sensitivity between the measures. However, results are difficult to interpret given that receptor reserve is decreased in LC neurons following chronic morphine treatment (Christie et al., 1987) and that acute decline is clearly evident in slices from naïve animals even without pretreatment with β -CNA. Therefore it seems unlikely that reduced receptor reserve is solely responsible for the change in sensitivity to CMP101 in slices from morphine treated animals after pretreatment with β -CNA. Regardless, the results suggest that while inhibiting GRK2/3 activity blocked desensitization in naïve animals, it was not sufficient to block either the slowed recovery from desensitization or the acute decline in the current induced by ME (30 μ M, following treatment with β -CNA) following chronic morphine treatment.

The inability of GRK2/3 inhibitors to block measures of cellular tolerance might suggest that GRK2/3 activity is reduced or eliminated in tissue from animals treated chronically with morphine. However, given that CMP101 blocked internalization (discussed further in the next section) and the acute decline (without preincubation with β -CNA) in slices from morphine treated animals, this suggests GRK2/3 remained active following chronic morphine treatment. However, even though GRK2/3 activity is clearly present in cells after chronic treatment, it is possible that GRK2/3 activity is reduced after chronic morphine treatment. There is opposing evidence in the literature for whether GRK2/3 expression is increased or reduced following chronic morphine (Williams et al., 2013).

Previous studies have supported the idea that following chronic morphine treatment, additional kinases contribute to desensitization and tolerance (Bailey et al, 2009a; Kuhar et al., 2015; Levitt and Williams, 2012; Melief et al., 2010; Mittal et al., 2012). Results from this study showed directly using select kinase inhibitors that GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK all contribute to desensitization following chronic treatment with morphine. Inhibitors for all 3 of these kinases were necessary in order to achieve a near complete block of desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals. Staurosporine or the JNK inhibitor alone had no effect on acute desensitization in slices from MTAs, further supporting the idea that GRK2/3 activity is present following chronic morphine treatment. In addition, desensitization experiments using staurosporine and CMP101 were indistinguishable from those using the three specific inhibitors, indicating that GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK are the main kinases involved in phosphorylationdependent acute desensitization following chronic morphine treatment.

Results from this study are in contrast to previous studies showing that inhibition of GRK, PKC, and JNK did not block measures of acute desensitization or cellular tolerance (Arttamangkul et al., 2012; Dang et al., 2009; Levitt and Williams, 2012; Williams et al., 2013). However, unlike previous studies, this study pretreated slices with inhibitors for at least an hour prior to recording to ensure sufficient block by inhibitors. In addition, this study found that blocking multiple kinases at the same time was necessary in order to observe the effect. Thus, previous studies could have missed a role for PKC or JNK if GRK2/3 was still active.

The results from this study suggest that chronic morphine treatment induces adaptations in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization that may contribute to long-term tolerance. However, it is unclear how PKC and JNK induce desensitization in animals treated chronically with morphine. Although GRK2/3 can directly phosphorylate residues on the C-terminus of

MOR, there is no evidence for direct phosphorylation of MOR by JNK (Williams et al., 2013). It is known that PKC can directly phosphorylate a couple Ser/Thr residues on the C-terminus of MOR (Ser363 and Thr370; Doll et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2013). In addition, PKC inhibition was shown to decrease basal levels of MOR phosphorylation in HEK293 cells, suggesting that PKC pre-phosphorylates MOR (Johnson et al., 2006). However, it is still unclear whether agonist-induced activation of MOR induces PKC phosphorylation of MOR.

There is mixed evidence for whether PKC desensitizes MOR through direct phosphorylation of C-terminal residues. Some studies support this idea (Johnson et al., 2006; Feng et al., 2011; Doll et al., 2011), while others indicate that PKC can induce MOR desensitization independent of C-terminal phosphorylation. For example, morphine-induced desensitization was only blocked by the combination of PKC inhibition and mutation of Cterminal phosphorylation sites in AtT20 cells (Yousuf et al., 2015). In addition, Arttamangkul et al. (2018) showed that induced PKC activity could enhance desensitization even for phosphorylation-deficient TPD MORs, indicating that PKC could desensitize MOR without direct phosphorylation of the C-terminus. Therefore, it is also likely that PKC and JNK contribute to MOR desensitization indirectly through phosphorylation of components of MOR signaling downstream of the receptor, preventing G-protein activation through an alternative process to GRK2/3-mediated desensitization. A study by Chu et al. (2010) showed that PKC caused heterologous desensitization in HEK293 cells through phosphorylation of $G\alpha_{i2}$. An alternative possibility is that PKC and/or JNK may act to mediate desensitization through phosphorylation of RGS proteins to turn off signaling, as has been reported in some cell types (Garzon et al., 2005; Ogier-Denis et al., 2000). Lastly, JNK-dependent desensitization resulted from JNK-dependent activation of peroxiredoxin 6 (PRDX6) to generate reactive oxygen species

via NADPH oxidase that reduced the palmitoylation of receptor $G\alpha$ i subunits in order to reduce MOR signaling (Schattauer et al., 2017).

It is also unknown how PKC and JNK are activated to induce desensitization. It has been shown that arrestin can act as a scaffold for JNK (**Figure 1.2**; Kook et al., 2013; Zahn et al., 2013). However, arrestin-independent mechanisms of opioid-induced JNK activation have also been proposed. Both G α i/o and G $\beta\gamma$ G-protein subunits have been shown to lead to activation of MAPK signaling including JNK (**Figure 6.1**; Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019). In addition, morphine-induced JNK activation was arrestin-independent and PKC- and Src-dependent, suggesting that JNK activation is downstream of PKC (**Figure 6.1**; Kuhar et al., 2015). Yet, in this study, inhibitors for both PKC and JNK were necessary for a more complete block of desensitization, suggesting that they are activated independently. It has also been shown that DAMGO-induced JNK activation is through Src- or PI3K-dependent mechanisms (**Figure 6.1**; Kam et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2009).

There is evidence for MOR-dependent agonist-induced activation of PKC, but the mechanism that underlies this activation remains unclear (Johnson et al., 2006; Pena et al., 2018). There is some evidence that MOR-induced activation of PI3K leads to PKC activation (**Figure 6.1**; Goldsmith et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2006). MOR-induced activation of PLC may also lead to PKC activation (**Figure 6.1**; Gresset et al., 2012; Pena et al., 2018; Zhu and Birnbaumer, 1996). It could also be the case that PKC is activated heterologously, such as through ongoing neuronal activity and consequent increases in intracellular free Ca²⁺ or activity of Gq-coupled receptors (Pena et al., 2018). Indeed, PKC activation through activation of Gq-coupled muscarinic receptors facilitated desensitization of MORs in LC neurons (Arttamangkul et al., 2018; Bailey et al., 2004).



Figure 6.1: Potential MOR-induced activation of JNK and PKC. Expanding on Figure 1.1, this figure shows the possible ways that JNK and PKC could be activated by agonist-induced MOR-activation. Solid arrows indicate direct actions with dashed arrows representing indirect actions.

The PKC and JNK isoform(s) responsible for the effects observed in this study are unclear. However, the PKC inhibitor used only blocks the PKC α and PKC β 1 isoforms, indicating that one or both of these are responsible. While the specific JNK isoform(s) involved is less clear, a previous study indicated that JNK2 (and not other isoforms) is involved in analgesic tolerance (Melief et al., 2010).

While inhibitors for GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK, or the nonselective kinase inhibitor, staurosporine, in addition to CMP101, blocked the majority of acute desensitization (~80% of initial), a small amount of desensitization remained unaffected. This incomplete block of desensitization could be either incomplete inhibition of kinases due to incomplete penetration or a yet unknown phosphorylation-independent mechanism of acute desensitization. However, it is also possible that phosphorylation by other kinases not blocked by inhibitors at sites other than the 11 main ones could be responsible (i.e. sites on the intracellular loops). There is previous evidence for the involvement of kinases besides GRK, PKC, and JNK, including ERK1/2 (Dang

et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2013). Although this study found GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK to be the main kinases involved in this adaptation, additional kinases, such as ERK1/2, could also be involved that are either up or downstream of GRK, PKC, and JNK. For example, since kinases phosphorylate numerous targets, including other kinases, it has been hard to decipher whether kinases directly phosphorylate MOR or whether they act sequentially (Williams et al., 2013).

As mentioned, the leftover desensitization after inhibition of GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK, could be a phosphorylation-independent mechanism of acute desensitization. One mechanism proposed in the literature involves GRK sequestration of G $\beta\gamma$ G-proteins in order to turn off signaling (Raveh et al., 2010). While this mechanism could be involved in desensitization, it is likely not responsible for the leftover desensitization observed. CMP101 inhibits GRK2/3 activity by binding to its ATP binding pocket, which overlaps with the G $\beta\gamma$ binding site, and thus CMP101 should also block GRK-sequestration of G-proteins (Thal et al., 2011; Whorton and MacKinnon, 2013). Indeed, CMP101 blocked recruitment of GRK2 to the plasma membrane (Miess et al., 2018). Therefore, other phosphorylation-independent mechanisms of acute desensitization should be investigated. There was also no indication that CMP101 changed the sensitivity to ME given that there was no change in the ratio of the current induced by ME (0.3/30 μ M) in slices taken from both naïve and morphine treated animals.

Involvement of Phosphorylation Sites in Acute Desensitization and Tolerance

Mutation of MOR C-terminal phosphorylation sites affects measures of acute desensitization, cellular tolerance, and analgesic tolerance (Arttamangkul et al., 2018, Kliewer et al., 2019). In addition to investigating the kinases involved in acute desensitization and cellular tolerance, this study used expression of phosphorylation-deficient mutant MORs in the LC of MOR KO rats to examine the relative roles of MOR C-terminal phosphorylation sites in acute

desensitization and two measures of cellular tolerance. Four mutant MORs with either alanine or glutamate mutations were examined: TSST 4A (T354-T357 to AAAA); TSST 4E (T354-T357 to EEEE); STANT 3A (S375-T379 to AAANA); and STANT 7A (S363A, T370A, S375-T379 to AAANA, T383A, T394A). For the TSST 4A mutant, acute desensitization and one measure of cellular tolerance (decreased sensitivity to morphine) was unaffected, while another measure of cellular tolerance was blocked (increased acute desensitization and reduced recovery from desensitization). For the TSST 4E mutant, acute desensitization persisted with an increase after chronic morphine treatment (one measure of cellular tolerance), while the sensitivity to morphine was not changed (another measure of cellular tolerance). Acute desensitization was reduced for the STANT 3A mutant and nearly abolished for the STANT 7A mutant. The remaining amount of acute desensitization seen for the STANT 7A mutant was similar to that of the TPD mutant in Chapter 4, indicating that TSST may play little role in acute desensitization, consistent with the finding that acute desensitization was unaffected for the TSST 4A mutant. This is also consistent with results from Chapter 5 indicating that phosphorylation of the STANT cluster plays a larger role in GRK2/3-mediated desensitization than that of the TSST cluster. While CMP101 blocked acute desensitization for both the TSST 4A and STANT 3A mutants to similar degrees, it had a larger relative effect in blocking desensitization of the TSST 4A when compared to experiments in the absence of CMP101.

Both measures of cellular tolerance were blocked for the STANT 3A mutant. However, there was a transient increase in acute desensitization for the STANT 7A mutant in slices from morphine treated animals that matched the extent of desensitization for the STANT 3A mutant under chronic conditions. This, together with the finding that mutation of TSST reduced cellular tolerance indicates that phosphorylation of both TSST and STANT contribute to adaptations

resulting in cellular tolerance. Thus, either overall amount of phosphorylation or phosphorylation of specific residues may affect the degree of both acute desensitization and cellular tolerance.

How phosphorylation of specific residues contributes to acute desensitization and tolerance is still unclear. It is possible that signaling proteins such as kinases or arrestins block G-protein coupling by steric hinderance. However, it is also possible that phosphorylation itself of residues on the C-terminus prevents signaling by inducing a conformation of the receptor that is inaccessible to G-proteins. For cellular tolerance the picture is more complicated because phosphorylation of these sites may also induce signaling (i.e. arrestin signaling) that results in long-term adaptations in order to reduce coupling (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013). That the same measure of cellular tolerance used in Chapter 4 (reduced recovery from desensitization) was reduced or blocked for TSST 4A, STANT 3A, and TPD MORs (Chapter 3; Arttamangkul et al., 2018), indicates that phosphorylation of some or all of these residues either directly or indirectly contributes to the increase in desensitization by PKC and JNK seen in slices from morphine treated animals. Results from Chapter 5 showing that acute desensitization persisted for TSST 4A MORs in the presence of CMP101 in slices from morphine treated animals suggests that while phosphorylation of TSST may contribute to some forms of cellular tolerance, it is likely not required for the adaptation by PKC/JNK observed in this study.

While this study has indicated that chronic morphine induces increased acute desensitization by additional kinases that contributes to measures of cellular tolerance, this study has also distinguished acute desensitization and cellular tolerance. Results mentioned above from Chapter 3 indicated that there might be some specificity for which phosphorylation sites regulate acute desensitization versus cellular tolerance. In addition, results from Chapter 4 indicated that different kinases are involved in cellular tolerance compared to acute desensitization. While

phosphorylation-dependent acute desensitization was regulated by GRK2/3, chronic morphine treatment induced an adaptation whereby additional kinases, PKC and JNK, contributed to desensitization. Therefore, acute desensitization and cellular tolerance are not equivalent, but it is likely that increased desensitization after chronic morphine by PKC and JNK contributes to cellular tolerance. This is one of many possible mechanisms by which neurons may adapt in order to reverse long-term activation of MOR by morphine.

Conclusions and Future Directions

Phosphorylation of residues on the C-terminus of MOR is critical for acute desensitization and cellular tolerance (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Arttamangkul et al., 2018). The different phosphorylation sites/clusters (i.e. STANT, TSST, and the 4 additional sites) contributed to acute desensitization and cellular tolerance in varying degrees. In addition, acute desensitization was regulated by GRK2/3, while the involvement of additional kinases, PKC and JNK, contributed to cellular tolerance. Thus, while acute desensitization and cellular tolerance can be distinguished from each other, an increase in MOR desensitization by JNK and PKC after chronic morphine may be one adaptation that contributes to long-term tolerance. While the link between cellular tolerance and analgesic tolerance is unclear, studies showing that analgesic tolerance can be reduced by PKC or JNK inhibitors indicate that this mechanism may contribute to analgesic tolerance (Granados-Soto et al., 2000; Hua et al., 2002; Inoue and Ueda, 2000; Melief et al., 2010; Newton et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2003; Smith et al., 1999). Results from this study are also corroborated by studies showing that tolerance is maintained by kinase activity, such as PKC (Bailey et al., 2009a; Granados-Soto et al., 2000; Smith et al., 1999). Further study should investigate the mechanism underlying the development of PKC/JNK-dependent tolerance as well as how long this adaptation persists following chronic morphine treatment.

The work presented here shows one adaptation induced by chronic morphine measured via GIRK conductance in postsynaptic LC neurons. It is unknown if this same adaptation occurs for other effector systems or in other brain regions/cell types. GIRK conductance, and thus likely G-protein signaling, was affected by the adaptation observed in this study, indicating that this adaptation may affect other types of G-protein signaling as well (e.g. $G\alpha$ -mediated inhibition of adenylyl cyclase). However, regulatory processes, such as desensitization, that may contribute to tolerance may differ between effector systems (i.e. no observed desensitization to presynaptic inhibition of transmitter release; Fox and Hentges, 2017; Fyfe et al., 2010; Pennock et al., 2012; Pennock and Hentges, 2011). These regulatory processes are also known to vary across brain regions and cell types (i.e. lack of desensitization in KF neurons; Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Levitt and Williams, 2018). Therefore, further study should investigate whether the adaptation observed in this study affects other types of MOR signaling and if it holds true in brain regions involved in analgesia. For example, in the periaqueductal gray (PAG), a brain region known to contribute to analgesia and tolerance and where an increase in desensitization is observed in slices from animals treated chronically with morphine (Ingram et al., 2008). Cellular tolerance occurs in multiple cell types and brain regions (e.g. LC, PAG, trigeminal ganglion neurons, AtT20, HEK293 cells) and for a range of effectors (e.g. activation of GIRKs and GTPyS, inhibition of VGCCs, adenylyl cyclase, and transmitter release), but the mechanisms underlying the observed tolerance is unclear (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013). While it is likely that many mechanisms/adaptations contribute to tolerance, the adaptation observed in this study may contribute to cellular tolerance more broadly than just the LC. If this adaptation holds true in cell culture, this would provide an easy system to further probe this mechanism and suggest that this adaptation is more broadly conserved. Electrophysiology experiments to test for

this adaptation could be completed in AtT20 cells expressing exogenous MORs or cultured and differentiated SH-SY5Y cells with endogenous MORs. Proteomics could also be done if this approach indeed works.

There is also a lot of evidence that mechanisms underlying MOR regulatory processes differ depending on agonist used (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013). For example, full agonists such as DAMGO induce more phosphorylation than partial agonists such as morphine. The reason for this difference is unknown but overexpression of GRKs increases morphine-induced phosphorylation of MOR (Doll et al., 2011; Miess et al., 2018). It may be that agonist efficacy determines efficiency of phosphorylation. It is also possible that different agonists induce different patterns of phosphorylation. It would be interesting to determine whether chronic morphine treatment induces more phosphorylation of the intracellular region of MOR or signaling proteins, such as phospho-JNK. In a previous study, chronic morphine treatment induced increases in phosphorylation of MAPKs, including JNK, in L4 DRG neurons (Chen et al., 2008). This should be repeated to determine if similar increases occur in other brain regions including the LC. Results from this study suggest increased phosphorylation, either of MOR directly or of MOR signaling components. It is possible that while morphine does not induce robust phosphorylation acutely, morphine-induced phosphorylation, possibly by PKC and/or JNK, increases with chronic receptor stimulation, increasing desensitization and contributing to long-term tolerance.

In addition, mechanisms of acute desensitization and tolerance may differ between agonists (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013). For example, while analgesic tolerance to morphine persisted for knockin mice with the S375A mutation, analgesic tolerance to high efficacy agonists, including fentanyl, was diminished (Grecksch et al., 2011; Kliewer et

al., 2019), indicating that distinct phosphorylation sites may play a role in tolerance to different MOR agonists. Multiple studies have also shown that PKC-dependent processes are more associated with morphine-induced MOR desensitization, rather than desensitization induced by full agonists such as DAMGO (Bailey et al., 2009a; Chu et al., 2010; Hull et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2006; Yousuf et al., 2015). In addition, morphine-induced analgesic tolerance involved JNK while fentanyl-induced analgesic tolerance was mediated by a GRK/arrestin-dependent mechanism (Melief et al., 2010). Therefore, further study should investigate whether the adaptation observed in this study differs or holds true for other agonists with varying efficacy, such as buprenorphine and fentanyl.

Acute Desensitization, Internalization, and Tolerance

It is well established that phosphorylation of the STANT cluster on the C-terminus of MOR is required for efficient arrestin binding and internalization (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). These results were validated in this study, with internalization persisting for the TSST 4A and TSST 4E mutants but being blocked for the STANT 3A mutant. Previous studies have also found that GRK2/3 inhibition reduces arrestin binding and internalization in HEK293 cells, consistent with evidence that MOR activation induces phosphorylation of STANT by GRKs (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Lowe et al., 2015; Miess et al., 2018). However, since additional kinases were found to contribute to acute desensitization in slices from morphine treated animals, and since internalization is another process that is dependent on phosphorylation of MOR, this study also sought to determine the kinases involved in internalization under both naïve and chronic morphine treated conditions. While the GRK2/3 inhibitor, CMP101, was only sufficient to block acute desensitization in slices from naïve animals, CMP101 blocked internalization of MOR in slices from both naïve and morphine treated animals. These results suggest that internalization is

mediated by GRK2/3 under naïve and chronic morphine conditions and that although kinases, such as PKC and JNK, contribute to acute desensitization under chronic conditions, they do not largely contribute to internalization. This further establishes internalization and desensitization as separate processes, as has been shown by previous studies (Arttamangkul et al., 2006; Dang et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2005). This is also consistent with studies showing that the extent of internalization is not increased by chronic morphine treatment (Williams et al., 2013).

While these studies distinguish acute desensitization and internalization, the role of arrestin in acute desensitization and tolerance of MOR is still unclear. CMP101 blocked desensitization under naïve conditions, but would also block arrestin binding, since efficient arrestin binding relies on phosphorylation of STANT by GRKs (Birdsong and Williams, 2020). Indeed, CMP101 blocked arrestin recruitment in HEK293 cells (Lowe et al., 2015; Miess et al., 2018). Therefore arrestin may or may not be involved in GRK2/3-mediated mechanisms of acute desensitization. However, results from this study suggest that MOR was desensitized by PKC and JNK in the presence of CMP101, indicating that MOR can be desensitized by phosphorylation-dependent arrestin-independent mechanisms. It is unknown if GRK2/3 and PKC/JNK induce desensitization by similar or distinct mechanisms.

Unlike previous studies with expressed phosphorylation-deficient mutant MORs, this study also examined endogenous receptors that are not inherently G-protein biased. Arrestin binding was therefore not blocked during the chronic morphine treatment, and could contribute to cellular tolerance. While PKC and JNK likely do not rely on *acute* agonist-induced arrestin binding to desensitize MOR, arrestin signaling and internalization could contribute to the observed adaptation by inducing increased activation of PKC and JNK during chronic morphine treatment. Indeed, arrestin binding initiates other signaling events, such as MAPK signaling including JNK (Gurevich and Gurevich, 2019). In addition, there is evidence that mechanisms of tolerance are maintained by kinase activity, such as PKC activity (Bailey et al., 2009a; Granados-Soto et al., 2000; Smith et al., 1999).

Conclusions and Future Directions

While phosphorylation of the C-terminus of MOR contributes to both acute desensitization and internalization (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013), the kinases involved distinguish the processes. Although GRK2/3 inhibition blocked both processes under naïve conditions, PKC and JNK activity contributed to acute desensitization, but likely not internalization, in slices from animals treated chronically with morphine. This is in agreement with previous studies showing that acute desensitization can occur in the absence of internalization (Arttamangkul et al., 2006; Dang et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2005).

However, while arrestin binding is known to be critical for internalization, it is still unclear how arrestin contributes to mechanisms of acute desensitization and cellular tolerance of MOR (Birdsong and Williams, 2020; Williams et al., 2013). Further experiments in the arrestin KO might tell us if arrestin signaling contributes to the adaptation observed in this study. However, the β -arrestin1/ β -arrestin2 double knockout is lethal (Williams et al., 2013) and compensation between the two arrestins in single knockouts may confound results. Viral expression of mutant MORs with mutation of phosphorylation sites in the STANT cluster could also be used to determine the role of arrestin in this adaptation since arrestin recruitment and internalization is blocked for the STANT 3A mutant (Chapter 3; Miess et al., 2018). However, results from this study also showed that desensitization is reduced and cellular tolerance is blocked for the STANT 3A mutant, possibly complicating measurements. While this may indicate that arrestin is involved in mechanisms of acute desensitization and tolerance, including the adaptation found in this study, this relationship should be investigated under conditions where arrestin is blocked without affecting phosphorylation, possibly with a conditional knockout. Transient cellular tolerance was observed for the STANT 7A mutant, indicating arrestin-independent mechanisms of cellular tolerance as well.

Heterologous Effects

Desensitization of the somatostatin receptor (SSTR) was also examined to determine the selectivity of the adaptation observed for MOR. Desensitization of SSTRs was augmented in slices from morphine treated animals compared to naïve animals. In addition, although CMP101 blocked acute homologous SSTR desensitization in slices from naïve animals, it was much less effective after chronic morphine treatment. Preincubation with the three specific kinase inhibitors for GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK were required to block somatostatin-induced desensitization in slices taken from morphine treated animals. These results indicate that chronic morphine induced a heterologous modulation of GRK2/3-mediated desensitization of SSTR such that after chronic morphine treatment, PKC and JNK contributed to SSTR desensitization. This is in agreement with previous studies showing that acute desensitization of MOR leads to heterologous desensitization of SSTR (Fiorillo and Williams, 1996; Yousuf et al., 2015).

Although it is clear that morphine treatment induced heterologous effects on the somatostatin receptor, results conflicted for measures of acute decline for MOR versus SSTR. While CMP101 blocked the acute decline in the current induced by ME (30 μ M) in slices from both naïve and morphine treated animals, the same measure of SSTR desensitization (acute decline) was no longer sensitive to CMP101 following chronic morphine treatment. However, following partial irreversible block of MORs with β -CNA, the acute decline in the current induced by ME was also no longer sensitive to CMP101. Therefore, this difference may be due

to differences in receptor reserve for MOR and SSTR in LC neurons. LC neurons contain significant MOR reserve, which needs to be removed before any decrease in the current induced by a saturating concentration of ME can be detected (Connor et al., 2004). If SSTRs have less receptor reserve in LC neurons then acute desensitization would be detected more easily with a saturating concentration of SST. However, given the confusing nature of the results with β -CNA, another possibility may be that acute decline for MOR is a separate mechanism from that of SSTR and slowed recovery from desensitization.

The present results showed that the adaptation in altered kinase regulation of desensitization following chronic morphine treatment was heterologous, affecting desensitization of both MOR and SSTR. The mechanism for this chronic morphine-induced heterologous desensitization of SSTR is unclear. There is evidence that PKC contributes to heterologous desensitization, but that mechanism is unclear (Chu et al., 2010; Yousuf et al., 2015). The somatostatin receptor, like MOR, contains phosphorylation sites that can be phosphorylated by GRK2/3 and PKC, but not JNK. It is thought that phosphorylation of these sites contributes to homologous desensitization of SSTR (Gunther et al., 2018). Therefore, it is possible that GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK phosphorylate SSTR directly to induce desensitization. However, it is also possible that GRK2/3, PKC, and JNK act indirectly on SSTR, inhibiting signaling components that affect both MOR and SSTR signaling (i.e. Gα subunits, RGS proteins, etc.).

Conclusions and Future Directions

The present study indicated that chronic morphine treatment induced a heterologous adaptation of the kinase regulation of desensitization, such that additional kinases, including PKC and JNK, contribute to the desensitization of two GPCRs. Further experiments should investigate the mechanism underlying this heterologous adaptation in kinase regulation.

Chronically treating MOR KO rats virally expressing TPD MORs with morphine and then measuring somatostatin-induced desensitization in the presence and absence of kinase inhibitors like in Chapter 4 would shed some light. This would tell us whether phosphorylation/ internalization/tolerance of MOR is required in order to get the same heterologous effect that is seen in the morphine treated wildtype animals (increased somatostatin desensitization and altered kinase regulation of somatostatin desensitization).

It is also unknown if the adaptation in kinase regulation observed in this study affects other GPCRs in the same neurons. There is mixed evidence for MOR-induced heterologous desensitization of other GPCRs such as α 2-adrenergic receptors (Doll et al., 2012; Llorente et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2013). It is also unknown if this heterologous modulation of SSTR desensitization occurs in other cell types and brain regions and for other types of signaling. Further study should investigate whether the adaptation in kinase regulation after chronic morphine is more broadly conserved across cell types, brain regions, and effector systems. That chronic morphine treatment altered the signaling of another GPCR in the same cell has huge implications for how morphine treatment affects the brain. Chronic morphine treatment may have profound functional consequences for non-opioid receptors, including for subsequent signaling pathways and the circuits they occupy.

Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that chronic morphine treatment induced heterologous adaptations in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization of both MOR and SSTR (**Figure 6.2**). MOR desensitization appears to be mediated acutely by phosphorylation of the C-terminus of MOR by GRK2/3, and following chronic morphine treatment by additional kinases, including PKC and JNK. This may be one adaptation responsible for the augmentation of desensitization

seen in animals chronically treated with morphine (Williams et al., 2013) and therefore may also contribute to behavioral tolerance. Additional studies are required to fully understand this mechanism. Understanding these specific adaptations may facilitate the development of drugs that can reduce tolerance. In addition, that this adaptation was heterologous, affecting the signaling of SSTR, may have profound functional consequences for how chronic morphine treatment affects the brain.



Figure 6.2: Chronic morphine treatment induces a heterologous adaptation in the kinase regulation of acute desensitization. (A) In acute brain slices from naïve animals, acute homologous desensitization of MOR and SSTR was mediated by GRK2/3. (B) Following chronic treatment with morphine, the kinase regulation of acute desensitization was altered such that additional kinases, including PKC and JNK, contributed to acute desensitization of MOR and SSTR. Solid arrows indicate direct actions and dashed arrows indicate indirect or unknown mechanisms.

References

- Arttamangkul S, Birdsong W and Williams JT (2015) Does PKC activation increase the homologous desensitization of mu opioid receptors? *Br J Pharmacol* **172**(2): 583-592.
- Arttamangkul S, Heinz DA, Bunzow JR, Song X and Williams JT (2018) Cellular tolerance at the mu-opioid receptor is phosphorylation dependent. *Elife* **7**.
- Arttamangkul S, Lau EK, Lu HW and Williams JT (2012) Desensitization and trafficking of muopioid receptors in locus ceruleus neurons: modulation by kinases. *Mol Pharmacol* 81(3): 348-355.
- Arttamangkul S, Leff ER, Koita O, Birdsong WT and Williams JT (2019) Separation of Acute Desensitization and Long-Term Tolerance of mu-Opioid Receptors Is Determined by the Degree of C-Terminal Phosphorylation. *Mol Pharmacol* **96**(4): 505-514.
- Arttamangkul S, Quillinan N, Low MJ, von Zastrow M, Pintar J and Williams JT (2008) Differential activation and trafficking of micro-opioid receptors in brain slices. *Mol Pharmacol* **74**(4): 972-979.
- Arttamangkul S, Torrecilla M, Kobayashi K, Okano H and Williams JT (2006) Separation of muopioid receptor desensitization and internalization: endogenous receptors in primary neuronal cultures. *J Neurosci* **26**(15): 4118-4125.
- Bailey CP and Connor M (2005) Opioids: cellular mechanisms of tolerance and physical dependence. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **5**(1): 60-68.
- Bailey CP, Kelly E and Henderson G (2004) Protein kinase C activation enhances morphineinduced rapid desensitization of mu-opioid receptors in mature rat locus ceruleus neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* **66**(6): 1592-1598.
- Bailey CP, Llorente J, Gabra BH, Smith FL, Dewey WL, Kelly E and Henderson G (2009a) Role of protein kinase C and mu-opioid receptor (MOPr) desensitization in tolerance to morphine in rat locus coeruleus neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* 29(2): 307-318.

- Bailey CP, Oldfield S, Llorente J, Caunt CJ, Teschemacher AG, Roberts L, McArdle CA, Smith FL, Dewey WL, Kelly E and Henderson G (2009b) Involvement of PKC alpha and Gprotein-coupled receptor kinase 2 in agonist-selective desensitization of mu-opioid receptors in mature brain neurons. *Br J Pharmacol* **158**(1): 157-164.
- Bailey CP, Smith FL, Kelly E, Dewey WL and Henderson G (2006) How important is protein kinase C in mu-opioid receptor desensitization and morphine tolerance? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 27(11): 558-565.
- Birdsong WT, Arttamangkul S, Bunzow JR and Williams JT (2015) Agonist Binding and Desensitization of the mu-Opioid Receptor Is Modulated by Phosphorylation of the C-Terminal Tail Domain. *Mol Pharmacol* **88**(4): 816-824.
- Birdsong WT, Arttamangkul S, Clark MJ, Cheng K, Rice KC, Traynor JR and Williams JT (2013) Increased agonist affinity at the mu-opioid receptor induced by prolonged agonist exposure. *J Neurosci* **33**(9): 4118-4127.
- Birdsong WT and Williams JT (2020) Recent progress in opioid research from an electrophysiological perspective. *Mol Pharmacol.*
- Blanchet C and Luscher C (2002) Desensitization of mu-opioid receptor-evoked potassium currents: initiation at the receptor, expression at the effector. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(7): 4674-4679.
- Blanchet C, Sollini M and Luscher C (2003) Two distinct forms of desensitization of G-protein coupled inwardly rectifying potassium currents evoked by alkaloid and peptide mu-opioid receptor agonists. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 24(2): 517-523.
- Bohn LM, Gainetdinov RR, Lin FT, Lefkowitz RJ and Caron MG (2000) Mu-opioid receptor desensitization by beta-arrestin-2 determines morphine tolerance but not dependence. *Nature* **408**(6813): 720-723.

- Bohn LM, Lefkowitz RJ and Caron MG (2002) Differential mechanisms of morphine antinociceptive tolerance revealed in (beta)arrestin-2 knock-out mice. *J Neurosci* **22**(23): 10494-10500.
- Borgland SL, Connor M, Osborne PB, Furness JB and Christie MJ (2003) Opioid agonists have different efficacy profiles for G protein activation, rapid desensitization, and endocytosis of mu-opioid receptors. *J Biol Chem* **278**(21): 18776-18784.
- Chen Y, Geis C and Sommer C (2008) Activation of TRPV1 contributes to morphine tolerance: involvement of the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *J Neurosci* 28(22): 5836-5845.
- Chen YJ, Oldfield S, Butcher AJ, Tobin AB, Saxena K, Gurevich VV, Benovic JL, Henderson G and Kelly E (2013) Identification of phosphorylation sites in the COOH-terminal tail of the mu-opioid receptor. *J Neurochem* **124**(2): 189-199.
- Christie MJ (2008) Cellular neuroadaptations to chronic opioids: tolerance, withdrawal and addiction. *Br J Pharmacol* **154**(2): 384-396.
- Christie MJ, Williams JT and North RA (1987) Cellular mechanisms of opioid tolerance: studies in single brain neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* **32**(5): 633-638.
- Chu J, Zheng H, Loh HH and Law PY (2008) Morphine-induced mu-opioid receptor rapid desensitization is independent of receptor phosphorylation and beta-arrestins. *Cell Signal* **20**(9): 1616-1624.
- Chu J, Zheng H, Zhang Y, Loh HH and Law PY (2010) Agonist-dependent mu-opioid receptor signaling can lead to heterologous desensitization. *Cell Signal* **22**(4): 684-696.
- Cole SL and Schindler M (2000) Characterisation of somatostatin sst2 receptor splice variants. *J Physiol Paris* **94**(3-4): 217-237.

- Connor M, Bagley EE, Chieng BC and Christie MJ (2015) beta-Arrestin-2 knockout prevents development of cellular mu-opioid receptor tolerance but does not affect opioidwithdrawal-related adaptations in single PAG neurons. *Br J Pharmacol* **172**(2): 492-500.
- Connor M, Borgland SL and Christie MJ (1999) Continued morphine modulation of calcium channel currents in acutely isolated locus coeruleus neurons from morphine-dependent rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **128**(7): 1561-1569.
- Connor M, Osborne PB and Christie MJ (2004) Mu-opioid receptor desensitization: is morphine different? *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(6): 685-696.
- Dang VC, Chieng B, Azriel Y and Christie MJ (2011) Cellular morphine tolerance produced by betaarrestin-2-dependent impairment of mu-opioid receptor resensitization. *J Neurosci* **31**(19): 7122-7130.
- Dang VC, Chieng BC and Christie MJ (2012) Prolonged stimulation of mu-opioid receptors produces beta-arrestin-2-mediated heterologous desensitization of alpha(2)adrenoceptor function in locus ceruleus neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* **82**(3): 473-480.
- Dang VC and Christie MJ (2012) Mechanisms of rapid opioid receptor desensitization, resensitization and tolerance in brain neurons. *Br J Pharmacol* **165**(6): 1704-1716.
- Dang VC, Napier IA and Christie MJ (2009) Two distinct mechanisms mediate acute mu-opioid receptor desensitization in native neurons. *J Neurosci* **29**(10): 3322-3327.
- Dang VC and Williams JT (2004) Chronic morphine treatment reduces recovery from opioid desensitization. *J Neurosci* **24**(35): 7699-7706.
- Dang VC and Williams JT (2005) Morphine-Induced mu-opioid receptor desensitization. *Mol Pharmacol* **68**(4): 1127-1132.

- Deng HB, Yu Y, Pak Y, O'Dowd BF, George SR, Surratt CK, Uhl GR and Wang JB (2000) Role for the C-terminus in agonist-induced mu opioid receptor phosphorylation and desensitization. *Biochemistry* **39**(18): 5492-5499.
- Doll C, Konietzko J, Poll F, Koch T, Hollt V and Schulz S (2011) Agonist-selective patterns of micro-opioid receptor phosphorylation revealed by phosphosite-specific antibodies. *Br J Pharmacol* **164**(2): 298-307.
- Doll C, Poll F, Peuker K, Loktev A, Gluck L and Schulz S (2012) Deciphering micro-opioid receptor phosphorylation and dephosphorylation in HEK293 cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 167(6): 1259-1270.
- Duttaroy A and Yoburn BC (1995) The effect of intrinsic efficacy on opioid tolerance. Anesthesiology 82(5): 1226-1236.
- El Kouhen R, Burd AL, Erickson-Herbrandson LJ, Chang CY, Law PY and Loh HH (2001) Phosphorylation of Ser363, Thr370, and Ser375 residues within the carboxyl tail differentially regulates mu-opioid receptor internalization. *J Biol Chem* **276**(16): 12774-12780.
- Feng B, Li Z and Wang JB (2011) Protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation of the mu-opioid receptor and its effects on receptor signaling. *Mol Pharmacol* **79**(4): 768-775.
- Fernandez TJ, De Maria M and Lobingier BT (2020) A cellular perspective of bias at G proteincoupled receptors. *Protein Sci* **29**(6): 1345-1354.
- Fiorillo CD and Williams JT (1996) Opioid desensitization: interactions with G-protein-coupled receptors in the locus coeruleus. *J Neurosci* **16**(4): 1479-1485.
- Fox PD and Hentges ST (2017) Differential Desensitization Observed at Multiple Effectors of Somatic mu-Opioid Receptors Underlies Sustained Agonist-Mediated Inhibition of Proopiomelanocortin Neuron Activity. *J Neurosci* **37**(36): 8667-8677.

- Fyfe LW, Cleary DR, Macey TA, Morgan MM and Ingram SL (2010) Tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine in the absence of short-term presynaptic desensitization in rat periaqueductal gray neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **335**(3): 674-680.
- Garzon J, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Lopez-Fando A and Sanchez-Blazquez P (2005) Activation of mu-opioid receptors transfers control of Galpha subunits to the regulator of G-protein signaling RGS9-2: role in receptor desensitization. *J Biol Chem* **280**(10): 8951-8960.
- Gillis A, Gondin AB, Kliewer A, Sanchez J, Lim HD, Alamein C, Manandhar P, Santiago M,
 Fritzwanker S, Schmiedel F, Katte TA, Reekie T, Grimsey NL, Kassiou M, Kellam B,
 Krasel C, Halls ML, Connor M, Lane JR, Schulz S, Christie MJ and Canals M (2020)
 Low intrinsic efficacy for G protein activation can explain the improved side effect profiles
 of new opioid agonists. *Sci Signal* 13(625).
- Goldsmith JR, Perez-Chanona E, Yadav PN, Whistler J, Roth B and Jobin C (2013) Intestinal epithelial cell-derived mu-opioid signaling protects against ischemia reperfusion injury through PI3K signaling. *Am J Pathol* **182**(3): 776-785.
- Granados-Soto V, Kalcheva I, Hua X, Newton A and Yaksh TL (2000) Spinal PKC activity and expression: role in tolerance produced by continuous spinal morphine infusion. *Pain* **85**(3): 395-404.
- Grecksch G, Bartzsch K, Widera A, Becker A, Hollt V and Koch T (2006) Development of tolerance and sensitization to different opioid agonists in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **186**(2): 177-184.
- Grecksch G, Just S, Pierstorff C, Imhof AK, Gluck L, Doll C, Lupp A, Becker A, Koch T, Stumm R, Hollt V and Schulz S (2011) Analgesic tolerance to high-efficacy agonists but not to morphine is diminished in phosphorylation-deficient S375A mu-opioid receptor knock-in mice. *J Neurosci* **31**(39): 13890-13896.

- Gresset A, Sondek J and Harden TK (2012) The phospholipase C isozymes and their regulation. *Subcell Biochem* **58**: 61-94.
- Gunther T, Tulipano G, Dournaud P, Bousquet C, Csaba Z, Kreienkamp HJ, Lupp A, Korbonits M, Castano JP, Wester HJ, Culler M, Melmed S and Schulz S (2018) International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. CV. Somatostatin Receptors: Structure, Function, Ligands, and New Nomenclature. *Pharmacol Rev* 70(4): 763-835.
- Gurevich EV, Tesmer JJ, Mushegian A and Gurevich VV (2012) G protein-coupled receptor kinases: more than just kinases and not only for GPCRs. *Pharmacol Ther* **133**(1): 40-69.
- Gurevich VV and Gurevich EV (2019) GPCR Signaling Regulation: The Role of GRKs and Arrestins. *Front Pharmacol* **10**: 125.
- Hack SP, Vaughan CW and Christie MJ (2003) Modulation of GABA release during morphine withdrawal in midbrain neurons in vitro. *Neuropharmacology* **45**(5): 575-584.
- Hagemeier NE (2018) Introduction to the opioid epidemic: the economic burden on the healthcare system and impact on quality of life. *Am J Manag Care* **24**(10 Suppl): S200-S206.
- Harris GC and Williams JT (1991) Transient homologous mu-opioid receptor desensitization in rat locus coeruleus neurons. *J Neurosci* **11**(8): 2574-2581.
- Heinricher MM and Ingram SL (2008) The brainstem and nociceptive modulation. In: Bushnell MC, Basbaum AI, editors. The Senses, A Comprehensive Reference, Vol. 5, Pain. . San Diego: Academic Press: 593-626.
- Hua XY, Moore A, Malkmus S, Murray SF, Dean N, Yaksh TL and Butler M (2002) Inhibition of spinal protein kinase Calpha expression by an antisense oligonucleotide attenuates morphine infusion-induced tolerance. *Neuroscience* **113**(1): 99-107.

- Hull LC, Llorente J, Gabra BH, Smith FL, Kelly E, Bailey C, Henderson G and Dewey WL (2010)
 The effect of protein kinase C and G protein-coupled receptor kinase inhibition on
 tolerance induced by mu-opioid agonists of different efficacy. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 332(3): 1127-1135.
- Ikeda S, Keneko M and Fujiwara S (2007) inventors, Takeda Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Ikeda S, Keneko M, Fujiwara S, assignees. Cardiotonic agent comprising GRK inhibitor. *International patent WO2007034846.*
- Illing S, Mann A and Schulz S (2014) Heterologous regulation of agonist-independent mu-opioid receptor phosphorylation by protein kinase C. *Br J Pharmacol* **171**(5): 1330-1340.
- Ingram SL, Macey TA, Fossum EN and Morgan MM (2008) Tolerance to repeated morphine administration is associated with increased potency of opioid agonists. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **33**(10): 2494-2504.
- Ingram SL, Vaughan CW, Bagley EE, Connor M and Christie MJ (1998) Enhanced opioid efficacy in opioid dependence is caused by an altered signal transduction pathway. *J Neurosci* **18**(24): 10269-10276.
- Inoue M and Ueda H (2000) Protein kinase C-mediated acute tolerance to peripheral mu-opioid analgesia in the bradykinin-nociception test in mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **293**(2): 662-669.
- Jalal H, Buchanich JM, Roberts MS, Balmert LC, Zhang K and Burke DS (2018) Changing dynamics of the drug overdose epidemic in the United States from 1979 through 2016. *Science* **361**(6408).
- Johnson EA, Oldfield S, Braksator E, Gonzalez-Cuello A, Couch D, Hall KJ, Mundell SJ, Bailey CP, Kelly E and Henderson G (2006) Agonist-selective mechanisms of mu-opioid receptor desensitization in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. *Mol Pharmacol* **70**(2): 676-685.

- Johnson EE, Christie MJ and Connor M (2005) The role of opioid receptor phosphorylation and trafficking in adaptations to persistent opioid treatment. *Neurosignals* **14**(6): 290-302.
- Jullie D, Stoeber M, Sibarita JB, Zieger HL, Bartol TM, Arttamangkul S, Sejnowski TJ, Hosy E and von Zastrow M (2020) A Discrete Presynaptic Vesicle Cycle for Neuromodulator Receptors. *Neuron* **105**(4): 663-677 e668.
- Just S, Illing S, Trester-Zedlitz M, Lau EK, Kotowski SJ, Miess E, Mann A, Doll C, Trinidad JC, Burlingame AL, von Zastrow M and Schulz S (2013) Differentiation of opioid drug effects by hierarchical multi-site phosphorylation. *Mol Pharmacol* **83**(3): 633-639.
- Kam AY, Chan AS and Wong YH (2004) Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase is distinctively required for mu-, but not kappa-opioid receptor-induced activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase. J Neurochem 89(2): 391-402.
- Kim JA, Bartlett S, He L, Nielsen CK, Chang AM, Kharazia V, Waldhoer M, Ou CJ, Taylor S,
 Ferwerda M, Cado D and Whistler JL (2008) Morphine-induced receptor endocytosis in
 a novel knockin mouse reduces tolerance and dependence. *Curr Biol* 18(2): 129-135.
- Kliewer A, Schmiedel F, Sianati S, Bailey A, Bateman JT, Levitt ES, Williams JT, Christie MJ and Schulz S (2019) Phosphorylation-deficient G-protein-biased mu-opioid receptors improve analgesia and diminish tolerance but worsen opioid side effects. *Nat Commun* **10**(1): 367.
- Koch T and Hollt V (2008) Role of receptor internalization in opioid tolerance and dependence. *Pharmacol Ther* **117**(2): 199-206.
- Koch T, Kroslak T, Mayer P, Raulf E and Hollt V (1997) Site mutation in the rat mu-opioid receptor demonstrates the involvement of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
 II in agonist-mediated desensitization. *J Neurochem* 69(4): 1767-1770.

- Kook S, Zhan X, Kaoud TS, Dalby KN, Gurevich VV and Gurevich EV (2013) Arrestin-3 binds c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 (JNK1) and JNK2 and facilitates the activation of these ubiquitous JNK isoforms in cells via scaffolding. *J Biol Chem* 288(52): 37332-37342.
- Kovoor A, Celver JP, Wu A and Chavkin C (1998) Agonist induced homologous desensitization of mu-opioid receptors mediated by G protein-coupled receptor kinases is dependent on agonist efficacy. *Mol Pharmacol* **54**(4): 704-711.
- Kovoor A, Nappey V, Kieffer BL and Chavkin C (1997) Mu and delta opioid receptors are differentially desensitized by the coexpression of beta-adrenergic receptor kinase 2 and beta-arrestin 2 in xenopus oocytes. *J Biol Chem* **272**(44): 27605-27611.
- Kuhar JR, Bedini A, Melief EJ, Chiu YC, Striegel HN and Chavkin C (2015) Mu opioid receptor stimulation activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase 2 by distinct arrestin-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Cell Signal* 27(9): 1799-1806.
- Lau EK, Trester-Zedlitz M, Trinidad JC, Kotowski SJ, Krutchinsky AN, Burlingame AL and von Zastrow M (2011) Quantitative encoding of the effect of a partial agonist on individual opioid receptors by multisite phosphorylation and threshold detection. *Sci Signal* **4**(185): ra52.
- Law PY, Wong YH and Loh HH (2000) Molecular mechanisms and regulation of opioid receptor signaling. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**: 389-430.
- Le Merrer J, Becker JA, Befort K and Kieffer BL (2009) Reward processing by the opioid system in the brain. *Physiol Rev* **89**(4): 1379-1412.
- Levitt ES and Williams JT (2012) Morphine desensitization and cellular tolerance are distinguished in rat locus ceruleus neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* **82**(5): 983-992.
- Levitt ES and Williams JT (2018) Desensitization and Tolerance of Mu Opioid Receptors on Pontine Kolliker-Fuse Neurons. *Mol Pharmacol* **93**(1): 8-13.

- Li AH and Wang HL (2001) G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 mediates mu-opioid receptor desensitization in GABAergic neurons of the nucleus raphe magnus. *J Neurochem* **77**(2): 435-444.
- Ling GS, Paul D, Simantov R and Pasternak GW (1989) Differential development of acute tolerance to analgesia, respiratory depression, gastrointestinal transit and hormone release in a morphine infusion model. *Life Sci* **45**(18): 1627-1636.
- Liu JG and Anand KJ (2001) Protein kinases modulate the cellular adaptations associated with opioid tolerance and dependence. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **38**(1-2): 1-19.
- Llorente J, Lowe JD, Sanderson HS, Tsisanova E, Kelly E, Henderson G and Bailey CP (2012) mu-Opioid receptor desensitization: homologous or heterologous? *Eur J Neurosci* **36**(12): 3636-3642.
- Lobingier BT and von Zastrow M (2019) When trafficking and signaling mix: How subcellular location shapes G protein-coupled receptor activation of heterotrimeric G proteins. *Traffic* **20**(2): 130-136.
- Lowe JD, Sanderson HS, Cooke AE, Ostovar M, Tsisanova E, Withey SL, Chavkin C, Husbands SM, Kelly E, Henderson G and Bailey CP (2015) Role of G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinases 2 and 3 in mu-Opioid Receptor Desensitization and Internalization. *Mol Pharmacol* **88**(2): 347-356.
- Macey TA, Bobeck EN, Hegarty DM, Aicher SA, Ingram SL and Morgan MM (2009) Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 activation counteracts morphine tolerance in the periaqueductal gray of the rat. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **331**(2): 412-418.
- Matthes HW, Maldonado R, Simonin F, Valverde O, Slowe S, Kitchen I, Befort K, Dierich A, Le Meur M, Dolle P, Tzavara E, Hanoune J, Roques BP and Kieffer BL (1996) Loss of morphine-induced analgesia, reward effect and withdrawal symptoms in mice lacking the mu-opioid-receptor gene. *Nature* **383**(6603): 819-823.

- McPherson J, Rivero G, Baptist M, Llorente J, Al-Sabah S, Krasel C, Dewey WL, Bailey CP, Rosethorne EM, Charlton SJ, Henderson G and Kelly E (2010) mu-opioid receptors: correlation of agonist efficacy for signalling with ability to activate internalization. *Mol Pharmacol* **78**(4): 756-766.
- McPherson KB, Leff ER, Li MH, Meurice C, Tai S, Traynor JR and Ingram SL (2018) Regulators of G-Protein Signaling (RGS) Proteins Promote Receptor Coupling to G-Protein-Coupled Inwardly Rectifying Potassium (GIRK) Channels. *J Neurosci* **38**(41): 8737-8744.
- Melief EJ, Miyatake M, Bruchas MR and Chavkin C (2010) Ligand-directed c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation disrupts opioid receptor signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**(25): 11608-11613.
- Miess E, Gondin AB, Yousuf A, Steinborn R, Mosslein N, Yang Y, Goldner M, Ruland JG, Bunemann M, Krasel C, Christie MJ, Halls ML, Schulz S and Canals M (2018) Multisite phosphorylation is required for sustained interaction with GRKs and arrestins during rapid mu-opioid receptor desensitization. *Sci Signal* **11**(539).
- Mittal N, Tan M, Egbuta O, Desai N, Crawford C, Xie CW, Evans C and Walwyn W (2012) Evidence that behavioral phenotypes of morphine in beta-arr2-/- mice are due to the unmasking of JNK signaling. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **37**(8): 1953-1962.
- Molinari P, Vezzi V, Sbraccia M, Gro C, Riitano D, Ambrosio C, Casella I and Costa T (2010) Morphine-like opiates selectively antagonize receptor-arrestin interactions. *J Biol Chem* **285**(17): 12522-12535.
- Mouledous L, Froment C, Burlet-Schiltz O, Schulz S and Mollereau C (2015) Phosphoproteomic analysis of the mouse brain mu-opioid (MOP) receptor. *FEBS Lett* **589**(18): 2401-2408.
- Narita M, Imai S, Narita M, Kasukawa A, Yajima Y and Suzuki T (2004) Increased level of neuronal phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma by the activation of mu-opioid receptor in the mouse periaqueductal gray matter: further evidence for the implication in morphineinduced antinociception. *Neuroscience* **124**(3): 515-521.
- Newton PM, Kim JA, McGeehan AJ, Paredes JP, Chu K, Wallace MJ, Roberts AJ, Hodge CW and Messing RO (2007) Increased response to morphine in mice lacking protein kinase C epsilon. *Genes Brain Behav* **6**(4): 329-338.
- North RA and Vitek LV (1980) The effect of chronic morphine treatment of excitatory junction potentials in the mouse vas deferens. *Br J Pharmacol* **68**(3): 399-405.
- Oakley RH, Laporte SA, Holt JA, Caron MG and Barak LS (2000) Differential affinities of visual arrestin, beta arrestin1, and beta arrestin2 for G protein-coupled receptors delineate two major classes of receptors. *J Biol Chem* **275**(22): 17201-17210.
- Ogier-Denis E, Pattingre S, El Benna J and Codogno P (2000) Erk1/2-dependent phosphorylation of Galpha-interacting protein stimulates its GTPase accelerating activity and autophagy in human colon cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* **275**(50): 39090-39095.
- Paronis CA and Woods JH (1997) Ventilation in morphine-maintained rhesus monkeys. I: Effects of naltrexone and abstinence-associated withdrawal. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **282**(1): 348-354.
- Pena DA, Duarte ML, Pramio DT, Devi LA and Schechtman D (2018) Exploring Morphine-Triggered PKC-Targets and Their Interaction with Signaling Pathways Leading to Pain via TrkA. *Proteomes* **6**(4).
- Pennock RL, Dicken MS and Hentges ST (2012) Multiple inhibitory G-protein-coupled receptors resist acute desensitization in the presynaptic but not postsynaptic compartments of neurons. *J Neurosci* **32**(30): 10192-10200.
- Pennock RL and Hentges ST (2011) Differential expression and sensitivity of presynaptic and postsynaptic opioid receptors regulating hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin neurons. *J Neurosci* **31**(1): 281-288.

- Pennock RL and Hentges ST (2016) Desensitization-resistant and -sensitive GPCR-mediated inhibition of GABA release occurs by Ca2+-dependent and -independent mechanisms at a hypothalamic synapse. *J Neurophysiol* **115**(5): 2376-2388.
- Peppel K, Boekhoff I, McDonald P, Breer H, Caron MG and Lefkowitz RJ (1997) G proteincoupled receptor kinase 3 (GRK3) gene disruption leads to loss of odorant receptor desensitization. J Biol Chem 272(41): 25425-25428.
- Polakiewicz RD, Schieferl SM, Dorner LF, Kansra V and Comb MJ (1998) A mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway is required for mu-opioid receptor desensitization. *J Biol Chem* **273**(20): 12402-12406.
- Pologruto TA, Sabatini BL and Svoboda K (2003) ScanImage: flexible software for operating laser scanning microscopes. *Biomed Eng Online* **2**: 13.
- Quillinan N, Lau EK, Virk M, von Zastrow M and Williams JT (2011) Recovery from mu-opioid receptor desensitization after chronic treatment with morphine and methadone. *J Neurosci* **31**(12): 4434-4443.
- Raveh A, Cooper A, Guy-David L and Reuveny E (2010) Nonenzymatic rapid control of GIRK channel function by a G protein-coupled receptor kinase. *Cell* **143**(5): 750-760.
- Schattauer SS, Land BB, Reichard KL, Abraham AD, Burgeno LM, Kuhar JR, Phillips PEM, Ong SE and Chavkin C (2017) Peroxiredoxin 6 mediates Galphai protein-coupled receptor inactivation by cJun kinase. *Nat Commun* **8**(1): 743.
- Schmidt H, Schulz S, Klutzny M, Koch T, Handel M and Hollt V (2000) Involvement of mitogenactivated protein kinase in agonist-induced phosphorylation of the mu-opioid receptor in HEK 293 cells. *J Neurochem* **74**(1): 414-422.
- Schulz R, Wuster M, Krenss H and Herz A (1980) Lack of cross-tolerance on multiple opiate receptors in the mouse vas deferens. *Mol Pharmacol* **18**(3): 395-401.

- Schulz S, Mayer D, Pfeiffer M, Stumm R, Koch T and Hollt V (2004) Morphine induces terminal micro-opioid receptor desensitization by sustained phosphorylation of serine-375. *EMBO J* **23**(16): 3282-3289.
- Smith FL, Javed RR, Elzey MJ and Dewey WL (2003) The expression of a high level of morphine antinociceptive tolerance in mice involves both PKC and PKA. *Brain Res* 985(1): 78-88.
- Smith FL, Lohmann AB and Dewey WL (1999) Involvement of phospholipid signal transduction pathways in morphine tolerance in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* **128**(1): 220-226.
- Sosnowski M and Yaksh TL (1990) Differential cross-tolerance between intrathecal morphine and sufertanil in the rat. *Anesthesiology* **73**(6): 1141-1147.
- Stoeber M, Jullie D, Li J, Chakraborty S, Majumdar S, Lambert NA, Manglik A and von Zastrow M (2020) Agonist-selective recruitment of engineered protein probes and of GRK2 by opioid receptors in living cells. *Elife* **9**.
- Takeda H, Matozaki T, Takada T, Noguchi T, Yamao T, Tsuda M, Ochi F, Fukunaga K, Inagaki K and Kasuga M (1999) PI 3-kinase gamma and protein kinase C-zeta mediate RASindependent activation of MAP kinase by a Gi protein-coupled receptor. *EMBO J* 18(2): 386-395.
- Tan M, Groszer M, Tan AM, Pandya A, Liu X and Xie CW (2003) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase cascade facilitates mu-opioid desensitization in sensory neurons by altering G-proteineffector interactions. *J Neurosci* **23**(32): 10292-10301.
- Tan M, Walwyn WM, Evans CJ and Xie CW (2009) p38 MAPK and beta-arrestin 2 mediate functional interactions between endogenous micro-opioid and alpha2A-adrenergic receptors in neurons. J Biol Chem 284(10): 6270-6281.

- Tanowitz M, Hislop JN and von Zastrow M (2008) Alternative splicing determines the postendocytic sorting fate of G-protein-coupled receptors. *J Biol Chem* **283**(51): 35614-35621.
- Tanowitz M and von Zastrow M (2003) A novel endocytic recycling signal that distinguishes the membrane trafficking of naturally occurring opioid receptors. *J Biol Chem* **278**(46): 45978-45986.
- Terman GW, Jin W, Cheong YP, Lowe J, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ and Chavkin C (2004) Gprotein receptor kinase 3 (GRK3) influences opioid analgesic tolerance but not opioid withdrawal. *Br J Pharmacol* **141**(1): 55-64.
- Thal DM, Yeow RY, Schoenau C, Huber J and Tesmer JJ (2011) Molecular mechanism of selectivity among G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 inhibitors. *Mol Pharmacol* 80(2): 294-303.
- Trafton JA and Basbaum AI (2004) [d-Ala2,N-MePhe4,Gly-ol5]enkephalin-induced internalization of the micro opioid receptor in the spinal cord of morphine tolerant rats. *Neuroscience* **125**(3): 541-543.
- Virk MS and Williams JT (2008) Agonist-specific regulation of mu-opioid receptor desensitization and recovery from desensitization. *Mol Pharmacol* **73**(4): 1301-1308.
- Vowles KE, McEntee ML, Julnes PS, Frohe T, Ney JP and van der Goes DN (2015) Rates of opioid misuse, abuse, and addiction in chronic pain: a systematic review and data synthesis. *Pain* **156**(4): 569-576.
- Walker EA and Young AM (2001) Differential tolerance to antinociceptive effects of mu opioids during repeated treatment with etonitazene, morphine, or buprenorphine in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **154**(2): 131-142.

- Walwyn W, Evans CJ and Hales TG (2007) Beta-arrestin2 and c-Src regulate the constitutive activity and recycling of mu opioid receptors in dorsal root ganglion neurons. *J Neurosci* 27(19): 5092-5104.
- Walwyn WM, Wei W, Xie CW, Chiu K, Kieffer BL, Evans CJ and Maidment NT (2006) Mu opioid receptor-effector coupling and trafficking in dorsal root ganglia neurons. *Neuroscience* 142(2): 493-503.
- Wang HL (2000) A cluster of Ser/Thr residues at the C-terminus of mu-opioid receptor is required for G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2-mediated desensitization. *Neuropharmacology* **39**(3): 353-363.
- Wang HL, Chang WT, Hsu CY, Huang PC, Chow YW and Li AH (2002) Identification of two Cterminal amino acids, Ser(355) and Thr(357), required for short-term homologous desensitization of mu-opioid receptors. *Biochem Pharmacol* **64**(2): 257-266.
- Whistler JL and von Zastrow M (1998) Morphine-activated opioid receptors elude desensitization by beta-arrestin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**(17): 9914-9919.
- Whorton MR and MacKinnon R (2013) X-ray structure of the mammalian GIRK2-betagamma Gprotein complex. *Nature* **498**(7453): 190-197.
- Williams JT (2014) Desensitization of functional micro-opioid receptors increases agonist offrate. *Mol Pharmacol* **86**(1): 52-61.
- Williams JT, Christie MJ and Manzoni O (2001) Cellular and synaptic adaptations mediating opioid dependence. *Physiol Rev* **81**(1): 299-343.
- Williams JT, Ingram SL, Henderson G, Chavkin C, von Zastrow M, Schulz S, Koch T, Evans CJ and Christie MJ (2013) Regulation of mu-opioid receptors: desensitization, phosphorylation, internalization, and tolerance. *Pharmacol Rev* 65(1): 223-254.

- Williams JT and North RA (1984) Opiate-receptor interactions on single locus coeruleus neurones. *Mol Pharmacol* **26**(3): 489-497.
- Wolf R, Koch T, Schulz S, Klutzny M, Schroder H, Raulf E, Buhling F and Hollt V (1999)
 Replacement of threonine 394 by alanine facilitates internalization and resensitization of the rat mu opioid receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* 55(2): 263-268.
- Yousuf A, Miess E, Sianati S, Du YP, Schulz S and Christie MJ (2015) Role of Phosphorylation Sites in Desensitization of micro-Opioid Receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* **88**(4): 825-835.
- Zhan X, Kaoud TS, Kook S, Dalby KN and Gurevich VV (2013) JNK3 enzyme binding to arrestin-3 differentially affects the recruitment of upstream mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase kinases. *J Biol Chem* **288**(40): 28535-28547.
- Zhang J, Ferguson SS, Barak LS, Bodduluri SR, Laporte SA, Law PY and Caron MG (1998) Role for G protein-coupled receptor kinase in agonist-specific regulation of mu-opioid receptor responsiveness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**(12): 7157-7162.
- Zhang L, Zhao H, Qiu Y, Loh HH and Law PY (2009) Src phosphorylation of micro-receptor is responsible for the receptor switching from an inhibitory to a stimulatory signal. *J Biol Chem* **284**(4): 1990-2000.
- Zhu X and Birnbaumer L (1996) G protein subunits and the stimulation of phospholipase C by Gs-and Gi-coupled receptors: Lack of receptor selectivity of Galpha(16) and evidence for a synergic interaction between Gbeta gamma and the alpha subunit of a receptor activated G protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(7): 2827-2831.